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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
The information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements as defined in the Private
Securities Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are often identified by words such as “may,” “will,”
“expect,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “continue,” “plan” and similar expressions. These statements involve
estimates, assumptions and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed for the reasons
described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.
You should be aware that our actual results could differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements due
to a number of factors, including:

•

general economic conditions;

•

our ability to obtain future financing or funds when needed;

•

our ability to maintain sufficient regulatory net capital;

•

the ability of our broker-dealer operations to operate profitably in the face of intense competition
from larger full-service and discount brokers;

•

a general decrease in financing and merger and acquisition activities and our potential inability to
receive success fees as a result of transactions not being completed;

•

increased competition from online and business development portals;

•

technological changes;

•

our potential inability to implement our growth strategy through recruiting, acquisitions or joint
ventures;

•

acquisitions, business combinations, strategic partnerships, divestures, and other significant
transactions may involve additional uncertainties; and

•

our continued ability to maintain and execute our business strategy.

You should also consider carefully the statements under “Risk Factors” and other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
which address additional factors that could cause our actual results to differ from those set forth in the forward-looking
statements and could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. All subsequent
written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their
entirety by the applicable cautionary statements.
The forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made, and, except to the extent required by federal
securities laws, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the
date on which the statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. In addition, we cannot assess the
impact of each factor on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, or factors we are unaware of,
may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.

PART I
Item 1. BUSINESS
National Holdings Corporation (“National,” “we,” “us,” “our,” or the “Company”) is a full-service investment banking and
asset management firm that operates through its wholly-owned subsidiaries which principally provide financial services.
Through our broker-dealer and investment advisory subsidiaries, we (1) offer full service retail brokerage services to
individual, corporate and institutional clients, (2) provide investment banking, merger and acquisition and advisory services to
high-growth micro-, small- and mid-cap companies and (3) trade securities, including making markets in micro- and small-cap
stocks listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market (“Nasdaq”) and other exchanges.
National is a Delaware corporation organized in 1996. Our broker-dealer subsidiary is National Securities Corporation, a
Washington corporation (“NSC”). NSC conducts a national securities brokerage business through its main offices in New York
City, New York and Boca Raton, Florida. NSC is an introducing broker and clears all transactions through clearing
organizations on a fully disclosed basis. NSC is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and is a
member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) and Securities Investor Protection Corporation (the
“SIPC”).
Our brokers, who we also refer to as our registered representatives, operate either as independent contractors or employees. An
independent contractor registered representative typically establishes such representative’s own office and is responsible for the
payment of expenses associated with the operation of such office, including rent, utilities, furniture, computer and other
equipment, market data, software and general office supplies. As a result, such independent contractor registered representative
is entitled to retain a higher percentage of the commissions generated by such representative’s sales than a registered
representative employee at a traditional employee-based brokerage firm. This arrangement allows us to operate with a reduced
amount of fixed costs and lowers the risk of operational losses for less productive independent contractor registered
representatives. A registered representative employee is provided with office space, technology, regulatory support and
administrative support in exchange for a lower retention percentage of such employee’s production.
Our wholly-owned subsidiary, National Asset Management, Inc., a Washington corporation (“NAM”), is a federally-registered
investment advisor providing asset management advisory services to retail clients for a fee based upon a percentage of assets
managed.
Our wholly-owned subsidiaries, National Insurance Corporation, a Washington corporation (“National Insurance”), and Prime
Financial Services, a Delaware corporation (“Prime Financial”), provide fixed insurance products to their clients, including life
insurance, disability insurance, long-term care insurance and fixed annuities.
Our wholly-owned subsidiary, National Tax and Financial Services, Inc. (“National Tax”) formerly Gilman Ciocia, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, provides tax preparation services to individuals, predominantly in the middle- and upper-income tax
brackets and accounting services to small and midsize companies.
Our wholly-owned subsidiary, GC Capital Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“GC”), provides licensed mortgage brokerage
services in New York and Florida.
B. Riley Transaction
On November 14, 2018, B. Riley Financial, Inc. (“B. Riley”) and FBIO Acquisition, Inc. (“FBIO Acquisition”), a subsidiary of
Fortress Biotech, Inc. (“Fortress”), entered into a stock purchase agreement whereby FBIO Acquisition agreed to sell FBIO
Acquisition’s majority stake in the Company to a wholly-owned subsidiary of B. Riley (the “FBIO Sale”). Under the terms of
the agreement, B. Riley agreed to purchase 7,037,482 shares of our common stock from FBIO Acquisition, representing
approximately 56.1% of our outstanding common stock and Fortress’s entire economic interest in the Company. An aggregate
of 3,010,054 shares were purchased immediately at $3.25 per share. After approval from FINRA was received on February 4,
2019, B. Riley purchased an additional 3,149,496 shares of our common stock on February 11, 2019 and assigned its right to
purchase the remaining 877,932 shares to a third party.
Further, in connection with the FBIO Sale, we entered into an agreement with B. Riley (the “B. Riley Agreement”), pursuant to
which B. Riley agreed to certain customary standstill provisions, effective as of the date of the B. Riley Agreement through
December 31, 2021 (the “Standstill Period”), prohibiting B. Riley and any of its affiliates or associates, directly or indirectly,
from, among other things: (i) acquiring, agreeing to acquire or otherwise seeking to acquire any beneficial interest in the
Company’s share capital or any of its material assets other than (x) the FBIO Sale and (y) pursuant to B. Riley’s pro rata
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participation rights described in the B. Riley Agreement; (ii) making a take-over bid, tender offer or exchange offer for all or
any part of the Company’s share capital; (iii) announcing, or taking any action which would require the announcement of, any
proposals by B. Riley for any business combination or any other similar transaction involving the securities of the Company or
its material assets or businesses; (iv) soliciting proxies with respect to any securities of the Company or otherwise influencing
any shareholders of the Company for any action or transaction; (v) requesting that the Board expand or reduce the number of
directors or the number of Board designees nominated by otherwise designated by B. Riley; (vi) take any other action that
would constitute a “business combination” for purposes of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (including
any successor statute thereto) (“Section 203”) (other than any transactions covered by Section 203(c)(3)(v) of the Delaware
General Corporation Law that are in the ordinary course of our business operations); (vii) make any public announcement with
respect to any of the foregoing, except as, and solely to the extent, legally required or compelled (and provided that the reason
for any such required announcement is not the result of any action taken by B. Riley) or (viii) contest the validity of the
standstill terms of the B. Riley Agreement or initiate or participate in any judicial proceeding to amend, waive, terminate or
seek a release of the restrictions of such standstill terms.
Pursuant to the B. Riley Agreement, we granted to B. Riley the right to appoint two B. Riley representatives to attend meetings
of the Board and any committee thereof in a non-voting observer capacity. If B. Riley’s beneficial ownership of the Company’s
common stock is reduced to below 24%, B. Riley’s rights to designate board observers will be reduced to one board observer,
and if B. Riley’s beneficial ownership of the Company’s common stock is reduced to below 5%, B. Riley’s rights to designate
board observers will cease.
The B. Riley Agreement further permits B. Riley to participate pro rata in any bona fide common stock equity offering by us
(including the offering of any securities convertible into common stock) if the offering price of the Company’s common stock
in such offering is equal to or less than $3.25 per share, as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, stock combinations and
similar events, subject to certain exceptions. This participation right will end upon the earlier of (x) the end of the Standstill
Period and (y) a change in control of the Company, as defined in the B. Riley Agreement.
The B. Riley Agreement also contains non-solicitation terms that prohibit either the Company or B. Riley, or any of their
respective affiliates, associates and related parties, from hiring any executive officer or member of senior management of the
other party during the Standstill Period, subject to certain exceptions.
In connection with the B. Riley Agreement, the Board waived the applicability of Section 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law to B. Riley in connection with the FBIO Sale.
Upon final closing of the FBIO Sale, the Company's warrants held by FBIO Acquisition ceased to be outstanding.
Winslow, Evans & Crocker, Inc. Acquisition
On August 26, 2019, we entered into a stock purchase agreement (as amended, the “Winslow Agreement” and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, the “Winslow Acquisition”) whereby we agreed to acquire all of the outstanding equity interests (the
“Purchased Shares”) of Winslow Evans & Crocker, Inc. (“WEC”), Winslow, Evans & Crocker Insurance Agency, Inc.
(“WIA”), and Winslow Financial, Inc. (“WF” and collectively with WEC and WIA, the “Winslow Targets”). The Company
entered into an amendment to the Winslow Agreement on October 11, 2019, to reflect certain clarifications to the terms of the
Winslow Agreement as agreed to by the parties. The Winslow Acquisition is expected to close in the first fiscal quarter of
2020, subject to customary conditions and regulatory approvals.
Under the terms of the Winslow Agreement, at the closing of the Winslow Acquisition, the Company will acquire the Purchased
Shares for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $3.2 million paid at closing in cash, subject to certain adjustments,
plus additional consideration to be based on (i) the amount of net operating capital of WEC and WF as of the closing, payable
in three annual installments and not to exceed $1.0 million in the aggregate, (ii) the aggregate pre-tax net income (loss) of the
Winslow Targets through September 22, 2022, provided that such additional consideration shall not be less than $1.5 million
and shall not exceed $3.0 million in the aggregate, and (iii) a portion of the synergies achieved through September 20, 2022. At
the signing of the Winslow Agreement, the Company deposited $500,000 into escrow, which will be applied to the amount
payable at closing or which would be forfeited if the Winslow Acquisition is approved by FINRA but are not consummated due
to certain breaches of the Winslow Agreement by the Company.
WEC is a Boston-based, full-service investment firm established in 1991. WEC is an SEC Registered Investment Advisor and
a FINRA registered broker-dealer. More than 50 financial professionals including Certified Financial Planners, Investment
Advisor Representatives, Financial Consultants, brokers and other specialists are part of the Winslow team with over $2.5B in
assets under management. Located in the heart of the financial district in Boston, MA, we believe that WEC is a strategic
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location for the Company to build out its banking platform. We expect that the Winslow Acquisition will be accretive to gross
margin and adjusted EBITDA margin.
Clearing Relationships
NSC has clearing arrangements with National Financial Services LLC (“NFS”), Axos Clearing (“Axos”) formerly COR
Clearing LLC and Raymond James (“RJ”).
Financial Information about Industry Segments
The Company has two reportable segments: (i) the brokerage and advisory services segment, and (ii) the tax and accounting
services segment. The brokerage and advisory services segment includes broker-dealer and investment advisory services, sale
of insurance products and licensed mortgage brokerage services provided by NSC, NAM, National Insurance, Prime Financial,
and GC. The tax and accounting services segment includes tax preparation and accounting services provided by National Tax.
During the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we recognized approximately 73%, 81% and 82%,
respectively, of our total revenues from brokerage services, principal and agency transactions, and investment banking. During
the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017, (i) brokerage services consisting of retail brokerage commissions
represented 41%, 52% and 51%, respectively, of total revenues, (ii) principal and agency transactions consisting of net dealer
inventory (losses) gains represented (1)%, 2% and 8%, respectively, of total revenues, and (iii) investment banking consisting
of corporate finance commissions and fees, represented 33%, 27% and 23%, respectively, of total revenues. For a more detailed
analysis of our results by segment, see Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.”
Business Lines
Brokerage Services
NSC is registered as a broker-dealer with the SEC and licensed to conduct activities as a broker-dealer in all 50 states, the
District of Columbia, Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. NSC is also a member of FINRA and SIPC.
Registered representatives are given broad discretion to structure their own practices and specialize in different areas of the
securities markets subject to supervisory procedures and applicable rules and regulations. In addition, registered representatives
have direct access to research materials, our management, our traders, and all levels of our support personnel.
The brokerage services provided by our registered representatives and investment advisors include execution of purchases and
sales of stocks, options, bonds, mutual funds, annuities and various other securities for individual and institutional customers.
In the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, trades of stocks and options represented approximately 58% of our brokerage
revenues, trade of bonds represented approximately 8% of our brokerage revenues, and trade of mutual funds, annuities and
various other securities made up approximately 32% of our brokerage revenues. The percentage of each type of business varies
over time as the investment preferences of our customers change based on market conditions.
Typically, NSC does not recommend particular securities to customers. Rather, recommendations to customers are determined
by individual registered representatives based upon NSC’s research and analysis or their own research and analysis, subject to
applicable FINRA customer suitability standards. Most registered representatives perform fundamental (as opposed to
technical) analysis. Solicitations are made by telephone, email, seminars or newsletters.
NSC generally acts as an agent in executing customer orders to buy or sell listed and over-the-counter securities in which we do
not make a market and charge commissions based on the services we provide to our customers. In executing customer orders to
buy or sell a security in which we make a market, we may sell to, or purchase from, customers at a price that is substantially
equal to the current inter-dealer market price plus or minus a mark-up or mark-down. We may also act as agent and execute a
customer’s purchase or sale order with another broker-dealer market-maker at the best inter-dealer market price available and
charge a commission. We believe our mark-ups, mark-downs and commissions are competitive based on various factors
including the services we provide to our customers. The commissions and mark-ups or mark-downs must be in compliance
with guidelines established by FINRA. In order to increase revenues generated from these activities, we continuously seek to
hire additional registered representatives and work with our current registered representatives to increase their productivity.
Payments to both our independent and employee registered representatives are based on commissions generated and represent a
variable cost rather than a fixed cost of operating our business. Commission expense represents a significant majority of our
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total expenses. We work to control our fixed costs in order to achieve operating profitability based upon our expectation of
market conditions and the related level of revenues. Our operations include execution of orders, processing of transactions,
internal financial controls, supervision and compliance with regulatory and legal requirements.
Historically, most of our registered representatives served as independent contractors responsible for providing their own office
facilities, sales assistants, telephone, Internet, computer and other equipment, software, market data, supplies and other items of
overhead. As of September 30, 2019, we had a total of approximately 970 associates of which 340 were employees and 630
were independent contractors. Of these associates, approximately 690 were registered representatives.
We believe that registered representatives in the brokerage industry are traditionally compensated on the basis of set
percentages of total commissions and mark-ups generated. Most brokerage firms bear substantially all of the costs of
maintaining their sales forces, including providing office space, sales assistants, telephone and Internet service, computers and
other equipment and supplies. We believe that the average commission paid to employee registered representatives in the
brokerage industry generally ranges from 30% to 50% of total commissions generated.
Since we require a majority of our registered representatives to absorb their own overhead and expenses, we pay a higher
percentage of the commissions and mark-ups generated by our registered representatives, as compared to traditional registered
representatives in the brokerage industry. This arrangement also reduces fixed costs and lowers the risk of operational losses for
lower or non-producing brokers.
Our business plan includes the growth of our retail and institutional brokerage business, while recognizing the volatility of the
financial markets. In response to historical market fluctuations, we have periodically adjusted certain business activities,
including proprietary trading and market-making trading. We believe that consolidation within the industry may occur and we
may consider strategic acquisitions in the future, but we are focused on generating positive cash flow and maintaining
profitability of our current operations.
We conduct periodic reviews of our controls and our supervision, administrative and operations personnel meet frequently with
our management to review operating conditions. Our compliance, supervision and operations personnel monitor compliance
with applicable laws, rules and regulations.
Broker-Dealer Trading
NSC buys and may maintain inventories in equity securities as “market-makers” for sale of those securities to other dealers and
our customers. NSC may also maintain inventories in corporate, government and municipal debt securities for sale to our
customers. The level of our market-making trading activities typically increases or decreases depending on the relative strength
or weakness of the broader markets. As of September 30, 2019, we made markets in approximately 300 micro- and small-cap
Nasdaq and other exchange-listed and over the counter quoted stocks. We anticipate that we will continue market-making
trading activity in the future, which may include securities of companies for which we participated as an underwriter for in a
public offering of securities.
Our trading departments require a commitment of capital. Most principal transactions place our capital at risk. Profits and
losses are dependent upon the skill of our traders, price movements, trading activity and the size of inventories. Since our
trading activities occasionally may involve speculative and thinly capitalized stocks, including stabilizing the market for
securities which we have underwritten, we impose position limits to reduce our potential for loss.
In executing customer orders to buy or sell a security in which we make a market, we may sell to, or purchase from, customers
at a price that is substantially equal to the current inter-dealer market price plus or minus a mark-up or mark-down. We may
also act as agent and execute a customer’s purchase or sale order with another broker-dealer market-maker at the best interdealer market price available and charge a commission. We believe our mark-ups, mark-downs and commissions are
competitive based on various factors including the services we provide to our customers.
Investment Banking
We provide corporate finance and investment banking services, including underwriting the sale of securities to the public in
both initial and follow-on offerings and arranging for the private placement of securities with investors. Our investment
banking services require a short-term commitment of our capital. Our corporate finance operations provide a broad range of
financial and corporate advisory services, including mergers and acquisitions, project financing, capital structure and specific
financing opportunities. Corporate finance revenues are generated from capital raising transactions of equity and debt securities
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and fees for strategic advisory services. Recognizing the diversity of our clients, we plan to work closely with our independent
advisors to identify key additional investment banking verticals that we can strengthen to enhance our offerings to our clients.
Among the areas in which we intend to enhance our presence are biotechnology and healthcare. Our emerging biotechnology
and healthcare investment banking business, accounted for approximately 27% of all investment banking revenues for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2019.
Investment Advisory Services
NAM, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and a SEC-registered investment advisor, offers advisory services described
below to clients in various programs. Under such customized engagements, clients authorize NAM to purchase and sell
securities on a discretionary or non-discretionary basis (depending on the program) pursuant to investment objectives chosen
by the client. The client’s Investment Advisory Representative (“IAR”) obtains the essential facts from the client, and assists in
determining the appropriate program. The IAR provides ongoing investment advice and management that is tailored to the
individual needs of the client through a review of the investment profile and objectives of the client. Depending on the program
selected and the client’s profile and objectives, the types of securities that may be purchased or sold include mutual funds,
ETFs, equities, options, fixed income securities, structured notes and partnership interests in real estate, oil and gas, as well as
management of variable annuity sub-accounts. Clients generally may impose reasonable restrictions on investing in certain
securities or groups of securities.
NAM receives compensation from clients through assets under management fees, administrative fees, and in some instances,
hourly fees, fixed fees, performance-based fees or carried interest. IARs receive a portion of the fees in accordance with their
contract with NAM. A NAM IAR may also be a registered representative with NSC, a subsidiary of the Company and an
affiliate of NAM, and therefore can establish and service brokerage accounts for NAM clients.
Programs currently offered by NAM include:

•

The Portfolio Advisor Program, pursuant to which the IAR manages individual client accounts on a discretionary
basis, with an asset-based fee;

•

The Portfolio Advisor Plus Program, in which the IAR manages individual client accounts on a discretionary basis,
with an alternative pricing structure whereby qualified clients may pay a performance-based fee in addition to an
asset-based fee;

•

The Morningstar Managed Portfolios Program, a proprietary program offered through Morningstar Investment
Services, Inc., consisting of multiple investment strategies with multiple portfolios intended for a range of clients
based on such factors as age, financial situation, time horizon, risk tolerance and any reasonable restrictions that the
client may place on the portfolio selected for the account. Fees in this program are asset-based;

•

The Investment Advisor Program, pursuant to which IARs provide advisory services with respect to variable annuity
products, plans such as 401(k)s, 403(b)s, mutual funds, and retirement funds, as well as individually managed client
accounts. Fees in this program are asset-based;

•

Financial planning, offered for a flat fee or an hourly rate;

•

Discretionary management services for private funds;

•

Retirement solutions provided to retirement plan providers, sponsors, and participants through various products,
services and custodial platforms, including FOLIO Institutional, which is a custodian and financial technology firm;

•

Wrap programs, which are advisory programs in which advisory fees and execution fees are bundled, using a platform
offered by Envestnet Asset Management, Inc., a SEC-registered investment adviser and “turnkey” asset management
platform provider. The Envestnet platform provides wealth management technology for registered investment advisers
along with asset management programs;
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•

A unified managed account program (a unified managed account refers to an account that combines investment
vehicles into a single or “unified” account managed by one or more independent money managers) using Foliofn
Investments, Inc. Foliofn is a custodian that offers a fractionalized share trading platform which enables investors to
diversify investments across multiple securities; and

•

A program utilizing the FTJ FundChoice Program, in which NAM serves as the advisor for the client on a nondiscretionary basis.

NAM operates its programs as a directed brokerage subject to most favorable execution of client transactions. NAM does not
require a client to utilize any particular broker/custodian and currently has relationships with a number of brokers/custodians
that provide brokerage, clearing and custody services to clients in the programs. The choice of which broker/custodian to utilize
is determined by the client in consultation with their IAR, and a client enters into a separate contractual relationship with the
selected broker/custodian. Based on the client’s selection, all transactions in their accounts are then placed through the selected
broker-dealer. NAM clients may pay ticket charges for brokerage services according to the agreement between the client and
the selected custodian.
Clients may elect to use NSC as their broker-dealer for certain programs. NSC maintains a clearing arrangement with NFS to
execute transactions at negotiated clearing rates. NSC receives a portion of ticket charges paid by NAM clients for trades
executed through NSC. NAM does not receive any compensation for such brokerage services.
NAM may combine multiple orders for shares of the same securities purchased for advisory accounts. NAM then allocates a
portion of the shares to participating accounts in a fair and equitable manner. NAM does this to obtain, to the extent possible,
the optimal execution for clients. The distribution of the shares purchased is typically pro rata based on size of the orders placed
for each account. It is not based on account performance or the amount or structure of management fees. When NAM IARs
combine orders, each participating account pays an average price per share for all transactions and pays a proportionate share
of all transaction costs. Accounts owned by associated IARs may participate in block trading with client accounts; however,
they will receive an allocation only after all client orders are filled.
Institutional Services
A critical element of our business strategy is to identify institutional quality investments that offer above market returns. We
support that mission by providing institutional investment managers, primarily hedge fund managers, a complete array of
services designed to enhance portfolio performance. Hedge funds represent a segment of the money management market and
by definition are focused on achieving positive returns for their investors while controlling risk. We offer fund managers access
to investment opportunities and independent research products. Additionally, we offer fund managers, the ability to reduce their
transaction costs by offering them access to our trading desk for illiquid securities and automated trading systems for their
liquid transactions as well as special execution services using volume weighted averages and average pricing for micro and
small-cap stocks. We believe that our registered representatives engaged in institutional services have a mutually beneficial
relationship with our Investment Banking Division (“IBD”), as fund managers looking for investment opportunities participate
in offerings by IBD’s corporate clients. Our relationships with fund managers may create opportunities to increase the number
and breadth of IBD clients.
Administration, Operations, Securities Transactions Processing and Customer Accounts
NSC does not hold any funds or securities for customers. Rather, it uses the services of clearing agents on a fully-disclosed
basis. These clearing agents process securities transactions and maintain customer accounts. In addition to transactions
executed through our clearing agents, NSC also conducts direct business. Customer accounts are protected through SIPC for up
to $500,000, of which coverage for cash balances is limited to $250,000. In addition to SIPC protection, NFS, our primary
clearing agent, provides brokerage accounts additional “excess of SIPC” coverage from Lloyd’s of London, together with other
insurers. The “excess of SIPC” coverage would only be used when SIPC coverage is exhausted. Like SIPC protection, “excess
of SIPC” protection does not cover investment losses in customer accounts due to market fluctuations. It also does not cover
other claims for losses incurred while the firms remain in business. Total aggregate “excess of SIPC” coverage available on all
accounts held at NFS is $1.0 billion. Within the “excess of SIPC” coverage, there is no per account dollar limit on coverage of
securities, just a per account limit of $1.9 million on coverage of cash.
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Tax Preparation and Accounting Services
We provide tax preparation and small business accounting services through our wholly-owned subsidiary, National Tax. Tax
preparation business is conducted predominantly during the period from February through April of each year. During the 2019
tax year season, National Tax prepared approximately 24,000 federal, state and local tax returns.
We believe that we offer clients a cost effective and proactive tax preparation and tax planning service. National Tax’s volume
allows it to provide uniform services at competitive prices. In addition, as compared to certain of its competitors that are open
only during tax season, all of National Tax’s offices are open year round to provide financial planning and other services to our
clients.
National Tax's preparers are generally not certified public accountants, attorneys or enrolled agents. Therefore, they are limited
in the representation that they can provide to clients in the event of an audit by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”).
Competition
We are engaged in a highly competitive business. With respect to one or more aspects of our business, our competitors include
member organizations of the New York Stock Exchange and other registered securities exchanges in the United States and
Canada, the U.K., Europe and members of FINRA. Many of these organizations have substantially greater personnel and
financial resources and more sales offices than we do. Discount brokerage firms affiliated with commercial banks provide
additional competition, as well as companies that provide electronic online trading. In many instances, the Company is also
competing directly for customer funds with investment opportunities offered by the real estate, insurance, banking, and savings
and loan industries.
The securities industry has become considerably more concentrated and competitive since we were founded, as numerous firms
have either ceased operations or been acquired by or merged into other firms. In addition, companies not engaged primarily in
the securities business, but with substantial financial resources, have acquired leading securities firms. These developments
have increased competition from firms with greater capital resources than ours.
Since the adoption of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999, commercial banks and thrift institutions have been able to engage
in traditional brokerage and investment banking services, thus increasing competition in the securities industry and potentially
increasing the rate of consolidation in the securities industry.
We also compete with other securities firms for successful sales representatives, securities traders and investment bankers.
Competition for qualified employees and independent contractors in the financial services industry is intense. Our continued
ability to compete effectively depends on our ability to attract new employees and independent contractors and to retain and
motivate our existing employees and independent contractors. For a further discussion of risks facing the Company, please see
“Risk Factors.”
In addition, our tax preparation business is also subject to extensive competition. We compete with national tax return preparers
such as H&R Block, Jackson Hewitt, and Liberty Tax. The remainder of the tax preparation industry is highly fragmented and
includes regional tax preparation services, accountants, attorneys, small independently owned companies, and financial service
institutions that prepare tax returns as ancillary parts of their business. To a lesser extent, we compete with the online and
software self-preparer market.
Government Regulation and Supervision
NSC and our investment adviser businesses are subject to extensive regulation by the SEC, FINRA, state securities regulators
and other governmental regulatory authorities. The principal purpose of these regulations is the protection of customers and the
securities markets. The SEC is the federal agency charged with the administration of the federal securities laws. Much of the
regulation of broker-dealers, however, has been delegated to self-regulatory organizations (“SROs”), such as FINRA, that adopt
rules, subject to approval by the SEC, which govern their members and conduct periodic examinations of member firms’
operations. Securities firms are also subject to regulation by state securities commissions in the states in which they are
registered. NSC is a registered broker-dealer with the SEC and a member of FINRA. It is licensed to conduct activities as a
broker-dealer in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. A number of changes have been
proposed to the rules and regulations that govern our securities business, and other rules and regulations have been adopted,
which may result in changes in the way we conduct our business.
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Broker-Dealer Regulation
As a result of federal and state registration and SRO memberships, broker-dealers are subject to overlapping schemes of
regulation that cover all aspects of their securities businesses. Such regulations cover matters including capital requirements;
uses and safekeeping of clients’ funds and securities; conduct of directors, officers, and employees; record keeping and
reporting requirements; supervisory and organizational procedures intended to ensure compliance with securities laws and to
prevent improper trading on material nonpublic information; employee-related matters, including qualification and licensing of
supervisory and sales personnel; limitations on extensions of credit in securities transactions; clearance and settlement
procedures; requirements for the registration, underwriting, sale, and distribution of securities; customer identification rules;
rules related to the identification and reporting of suspicious activity; and rules of the SROs designed to promote high standards
of commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade. A particular focus of the applicable regulations concerns the
relationship between broker-dealers and their customers. As a result, many aspects of the broker-dealer customer relationship
are subject to regulation, including, in some instances, “suitability” determinations as to certain customer transactions,
limitations on the amounts that may be charged to customers, timing of proprietary trading in relation to customers’ trades, and
disclosures to customers.
Regulation NMS and Regulation SHO have substantially affected the trading of equity securities. These regulations were
intended to increase transparency in the markets and have acted to further reduce spreads and, with competition from electronic
marketplaces, to reduce commission rates paid by investors.
Additional legislation, changes in rules promulgated by the SEC and by SROs, and changes in the interpretation or enforcement
of existing laws and rules often directly affect the method of operation and profitability of broker-dealers. The SEC and the
SROs conduct regular examinations of our broker-dealer subsidiaries and also initiate targeted and other specific inquiries from
time to time, which generally include the investigation of issues involving substantial portions of the securities industry. The
SEC and the SROs may conduct administrative proceedings, and the SEC may initiate litigation in federal court, either of
which can result in censures, fines, suspension, or expulsion of a broker-dealer, its officers, or employees. The principal
purpose of regulation and discipline of broker-dealers is the protection of customers and the securities markets rather than the
protection of creditors and stockholders of broker-dealers. The US Department of Justice and state criminal authorities may
also investigate activities of broker-dealers and institute criminal or civil proceedings against broker-dealers for violations of
applicable law.
NSC is subject to the Securities Investor Protection Act and is a member of Securities Investors Protection Corporation
(“SIPC”), whose primary function is to provide financial protection for the customers of failing brokerage firms. SIPC provides
protection for customers up to $500,000, of which a maximum of $250,000 may be in cash.
Margin lending by NSC is subject to the margin rules of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and FINRA.
Under such rules, NSC is limited in the amount it may lend in connection with certain purchases of securities and is also
required to impose certain maintenance requirements on the amount of securities and cash held in margin accounts. In addition,
NSC may impose more restrictive margin requirements than required by such rules.
Net Capital Rule
In addition, as a registered broker-dealer and a member of FINRA, NSC is subject to the SEC’s Uniform Net Capital Rule
15c3-1 (the “Net Capital Rule”), which is designed to measure the general financial integrity and liquidity of a broker-dealer
and requires, among other things, the maintenance of minimum net capital. Net capital is defined as the net worth of a brokerdealer subject to certain adjustments that exclude assets not readily convertible into cash. Additionally, the regulations require
that certain assets, such as a broker-dealer’s position in securities, be valued in a conservative manner so as to avoid overstating
of the broker-dealer’s net capital.
In February 2015, pursuant to a directive from FINRA, NSC reverted back to using the alternative method of computing net
capital from the aggregate indebtedness method. At September 30, 2019, NSC had net capital of $5,887,912, which was
$4,887,912 in excess of its required minimum net capital of $1,000,000.
NSC is exempt from the provisions of the SEC’s Customer Protection Rule 15c3-3 (the “Customer Protection Rule”), since
NSC is an introducing broker-dealer that clears all transactions on a fully disclosed basis and promptly transmits all customer
funds and securities to clearing brokers.

8

Tax Preparation
Our tax preparation business is also subject to extensive regulation. Federal legislation requires income tax return preparers to,
among other things, register as a tax preparer, set forth their signatures and identification numbers on all tax returns prepared by
them, and retain all tax returns prepared by them for three years. Federal laws also subject income tax preparers to accuracyrelated penalties in connection with the preparation of income tax returns. Preparers may be prohibited from further acting as
income tax return preparers if they continuously and repeatedly engage in specified misconduct. In addition, authorized IRS efiler providers are required to comply with certain rules and regulations, as per IRS Publication 1345 and other notices of the
IRS applicable to e-filing.
IRS regulations require among other things, that all tax return preparers use a Preparer Tax Identification Number (“PTIN”) as
their identifying number on federal tax returns filed after December 31, 2010, to be authorized to practice before the IRS. As a
prerequisite to obtaining or renewing a PTIN, the PTIN applicants allow the IRS to conduct tax compliance checks and identify
the individuals who are considered “tax return preparers”. The IRS also conducts background checks on PTIN applicants.
Other Regulations
We are also subject to the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001 (the “Patriot Act”), which imposes obligations regarding the prevention
and detection of money-laundering activities, including the establishment of customer due diligence, customer verification and
other compliance policies and procedures. The conduct of research analysts is also the subject of rule-making by the SEC,
FINRA, and the federal government through the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. These regulations require certain disclosures by, and
restrict the activities of, research analysts and broker-dealers, among others. Failure to comply with these requirements may
result in monetary, regulatory and, in the case of the USA Patriot Act, criminal penalties.
Our asset management subsidiaries, NAM, is a SEC-registered investment adviser and is accordingly subject to regulation by
the SEC. Requirements under the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 include record-keeping, advertising and operating
requirements, as well as prohibitions on fraudulent activities.
Various regulators, including the SEC, FINRA and state securities regulators and attorneys general, are conducting both
targeted and industry-wide investigations of certain practices relating to the financial services industry, including marketing,
sales practices, valuation practices, asset managers, and market and compensation arrangements. These investigations have
involved mutual fund companies, broker-dealers, hedge funds, investors and others.
In addition, the SEC staff has conducted studies with respect to soft dollar practices in the brokerage and asset management
industries and proposed interpretive guidance regarding the scope of permitted brokerage and research services in connection
with soft dollar practices.
The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and related Federal Trade Commission regulations require us to adopt and disclose customer
privacy policies.
Application of Laws and Rules to Internet Business and Other Online Services
Due to the increasing popularity and use of the Internet and other online services, various regulatory authorities are considering
laws and/or regulations with respect to the Internet or other online services covering issues such as user privacy, pricing,
content copyrights and quality of services. In addition, the growth and development of the market for online commerce may
prompt more stringent consumer protection laws that may impose additional burdens on those companies conducting business
online. When the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”), were enacted, such acts did not contemplate the conduct of a securities business through the
Internet and other online services. The recent increase in the number of complaints by online traders could lead to more
stringent regulations of online trading firms and their practices by the SEC, FINRA and other regulatory agencies.
Although the SEC, in releases and no-action letters, has provided guidance on various issues related to the offer and sale of
securities and the conduct of a securities business through the Internet, the application of the laws to the conduct of a securities
business through the Internet continues to evolve. Furthermore, the applicability to the Internet and other online services of
existing laws in various jurisdictions governing issues such as property ownership, sales and other taxes and personal privacy is
uncertain and may take years to resolve. Uncertainty regarding these issues may adversely affect the viability and profitability
of our business.
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As our services through our subsidiaries are available over the Internet in multiple jurisdictions and we have numerous clients
residing in these jurisdictions, these jurisdictions may claim that our subsidiaries are required to qualify to do business as a
foreign corporation in each such jurisdiction. While NSC is currently registered as broker-dealer in the jurisdictions described
in this report, all of our subsidiaries are qualified to do business as corporations in only a few international jurisdictions. Failure
to qualify as an out-of-state or foreign corporation in a jurisdiction where we are required to do so could subject us to taxes and
penalties for the failure to qualify.
Intellectual Property
We own the following federally registered mark: Gilman Ciocia Tax & Financial Planning®.
Employees
As of September 30, 2019, the Company’s personnel consisted of the following:
Position
Officers
Administration
Brokers
Traders
Investment Bankers
Advisors
Accountants and tax preparers
Totals

Salaried
Employees
15
202
44
10
11
1
57
340

Independent
Contractors
—
138
484
3
—
—
5
630

Total
15
340
528
13
11
1
62
970

None of our personnel are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We consider our relationships with our employees to
be good. Any future increase in the number of employees will depend upon the growth of our business. Our registered
representatives are required to take examinations administered by FINRA and state authorities in order to qualify to transact
business and are required to enter into agreements with us obligating them, among other things, to adhere to industry rules and
regulations, our subsidiaries’ supervisory procedures and not to solicit other employees or brokers in the event of termination.
Seasonality and Backlog
Other than our tax preparation business, we are not subject to significant seasonal fluctuations, and there are no material
backlogs in our business. Because most tax returns are filed during the period from February through April of each year, most
revenues from our tax preparation and related services and products will be earned during this period.
Research and Development and Environmental Matters
We did not incur any research and development expenses during the last three fiscal years. We do not incur any significant costs
or experience any significant effects as a result of compliance with federal, state and local environmental laws.
Available Information
We maintain a website with the address www.yournational.com. We make available free of charge through our Internet website
our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, Proxy Statements, and any
amendments thereto, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish such material
to, the SEC. We are not including the information on our website as a part of, nor incorporating it by reference into, this report.
Additionally, the SEC maintains a website that contains annual, quarterly, and current reports, proxy statements, and other
information that issuers (including us) file electronically with the SEC. The SEC’s website address is http://www.sec.gov.

10

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS
The financial statements contained in this report and the related discussions describe and analyze our financial performance
and condition for the periods indicated. For the most part, this information is historical. Our prior results, however, are not
necessarily indicative of our future performance or financial condition. We, therefore, have included the following discussion of
certain factors that could affect our future performance or financial condition. These factors could cause our future
performance or financial condition to differ materially from our prior performance or financial condition or from
management’s expectations or estimates of our future performance or financial condition. These factors, among others, should
be considered in assessing our future prospects and prior to making an investment decision with respect to our stock. The risks
described below are not the only ones facing us. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently believe are
immaterial may also impair our business operations.
Risks Related to Our Business
We may require additional financing but may not be able to obtain it, which could impair our business and financial
condition.
In order to achieve profitability, we periodically may need to obtain additional financing, either through borrowings, public
offerings, private offerings, or make acquisitions or some type of business combination (e.g., merger, buyout, etc.). The
availability of additional financing, including access to the credit and capital markets, depends on a variety of factors, such as
conditions in the debt and equity markets, the general availability of credit, the volume of securities trading activity and the
overall availability of credit to the financial services sector. We may not be successful in any attempts to obtain additional
financing. Failure to generate adequate cash from our operations or find sources of funding would require us to scale back or
curtail our operations, including limiting our efforts to recruit additional registered representatives or acquire other businesses,
and would have an adverse impact on our business and financial condition.
Our investment banking activities place our capital at risk and subject us to potential liability under the securities laws.
Participation in an underwriting syndicate or a selling group involves both economic and regulatory risks. An underwriter may
incur losses if it is unable to resell the securities it has committed to purchase or if it is forced to liquidate its commitment at
less than the purchase price. In addition, under federal securities laws, other laws and court decisions with respect to
underwriters’ liabilities and limitations on the indemnification of underwriters by issuers, an underwriter is subject to
substantial potential liability for misstatements or omissions of material facts in prospectuses and other communications with
respect to such offerings. Acting as a managing underwriter increases these risks. Underwriting commitments constitute a
charge against net capital and our ability to make underwriting commitments may be limited by the requirement that NSC must
at all times be in compliance with the Net Capital Rule.
Our risk management policies and procedures may leave us exposed to unidentified risks or an unanticipated level of
risk.
The policies and procedures we employ to identify, monitor and manage risks may not be fully effective. Some methods of risk
management are based on the use of observed historical market behavior. As a result, these methods may not accurately predict
future risk exposures, which could be significantly greater than the historical measures indicate. Other risk management
methods depend on evaluation of information regarding markets, clients or other matters that are publicly available or
otherwise accessible by us. This information may not be accurate, complete, up-to-date or properly evaluated. Management of
operational, legal and regulatory risks requires, among other things, policies and procedures to properly record and verify a
large number of transactions and events. We cannot ensure that our policies and procedures will effectively and accurately
record and verify this information. We seek to monitor and control our risk exposure through a variety of separate but
complementary financial, credit, operational and legal reporting systems. We believe that we are able to evaluate and manage
the market, credit and other risks to which we are exposed. Nonetheless, our ability to manage risk exposure can never be
completely assured. For example, unexpectedly large or rapid movements or disruptions in one or more markets or other
unforeseen developments could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. The
consequences of these developments can include losses due to adverse changes in inventory values, decreases in the liquidity of
trading positions, higher volatility in earnings, increases in our credit risk to customers as well as to third parties and increases
in general systemic risk.
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We depend on senior employees and the loss of their services could harm our business.
We depend on the continued services of our management team, as well as our ability to hire additional members of
management, and to retain and motivate other officers and key employees. We may not be able to find appropriate replacements
if the need should arise. Due to the regulated nature of some of our businesses, some of our executive officers, or other key
personnel, could become subject to suspensions or other limitations on the scope of their services to us from time to time. If we
lose the services of any executive officers or other key personnel, we may not be able to manage and grow our operations
effectively, enter new brokerage markets or develop new products.
Failure to comply with the net capital requirements could subject us to sanctions imposed by the SEC or FINRA.
NSC is subject to the Net Capital Rule, which, among other things, requires the maintenance of minimum net capital. At
September 30, 2019, NSC had net capital of $5,887,912 which was $4,887,912 in excess of its required minimum net capital of
$1,000,000.
The Net Capital Rule is designed to measure the general financial integrity and liquidity of a broker-dealer. Compliance with
the Net Capital Rule limits those operations of broker-dealers that require the intensive use of their capital, such as
underwriting commitments and principal trading activities. The Net Capital Rule also limits the ability of securities firms to pay
dividends or make payments on certain indebtedness, such as subordinated debt, as it matures. FINRA may enter the offices of
a broker-dealer at any time, without notice, and calculate the firm’s net capital. If the calculation reveals a deficiency in net
capital, FINRA may immediately restrict or suspend certain or all of the activities of a broker-dealer. NSC may not be able to
maintain adequate net capital, or its net capital may fall below the minimum requirements established by the SEC, which could
subject us to disciplinary action in the form of fines, censure, suspension, expulsion or the termination of business altogether. In
addition, if the Net Capital Rule is changed or expanded, or if there is an unusually large charge against net capital, operations
that require the intensive use of capital would be limited. A large operating loss or charge against net capital could adversely
affect our ability to expand or even maintain present levels of business, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business.
Our business could be adversely affected by a breakdown in the financial markets.
The business of NSC and NAM is materially affected by conditions in the financial markets and the economy generally, both in
the United States and elsewhere around the world. Many factors or events could lead to a breakdown in the financial markets
including political turmoil, war, terrorism, natural catastrophes and other types of disasters. These types of events could cause
people to begin to lose confidence in the financial markets and their ability to function effectively. If the financial markets are
unable to effectively prepare for these types of events and ease public concern over their ability to function, our revenues would
likely decline and our operations would likely be adversely affected.
Damage to our reputation could damage our businesses.
Maintaining our reputation is critical to attracting and maintaining clients, investors and associates. If we fail to address, or
appear to fail to address, issues that may give rise to reputational risk, we could significantly harm our business prospects.
These issues may include, but are not limited to, appropriately dealing with potential conflicts of interest, legal and regulatory
requirements, ethical issues, money laundering, cybersecurity and privacy, record-keeping, and sales and trading practices, the
failure to sell securities we have underwritten at anticipated price levels, and the proper identification of the legal, reputational,
credit, liquidity, and market risks inherent in our products. Failure to maintain appropriate service and quality standards, or a
failure or perceived failure to treat clients fairly can result in client dissatisfaction, litigation and heightened regulatory scrutiny,
all of which can lead to lost revenue, higher operating costs and reputational harm. Negative publicity about us, whether or not
true, may also harm our future business prospects.
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The number and size of the transactions in which we provide services may decline in adverse market or economic
conditions, which may adversely affect our revenues, results of operations and stockholders’ equity.
Unfavorable financial or economic conditions may reduce the number and size of the transactions in which we provide
underwriting services, merger and acquisition consulting and other services. Our investment banking revenues, in the form of
financial advisory, placement agent and underwriting fees, are directly related to the number and size of the transactions in
which we participate and would therefore be adversely affected by a sustained market downturn. Additionally, a downturn in
market conditions could lead to a decline in the volume of transactions that we execute for our customers and, therefore, to a
decline in the revenues we receive from commissions and spreads. We must review customer relationships for impairment
whenever events or circumstances indicate that impairment may be present. A significant decrease in revenues or cash flows
derived from acquired customer relationships could result in a material, non-cash write-down of customer relationships. Such
impairment may have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and stockholders’ equity.
We may experience trading losses due to market fluctuations and volatility, which may reduce our revenues and
profitability.
Financial markets are susceptible to rapid depreciation in asset values accompanied by a reduction in asset liquidity. Our
revenue and profitability may be adversely affected by declines in the volume of securities transactions and in market liquidity.
Additionally, our profitability may be adversely affected by losses from the trading or underwriting of securities or failure of
third parties to meet commitments. We act as a market maker in publicly traded shares of common stock. In market making
transactions, we undertake the risk of price changes on the stock we hold in positions, or being unable to resell the shares of
common stock we hold, or being unable to purchase the common stock we have sold but not yet purchased. These risks are
heightened by the illiquidity of many of the shares of common stock we trade and/or in which we make a market. Any losses
from our trading activities, including as a result of unauthorized trading by our employees, could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
Lower securities prices may also result in a reduced volume of transactions, as well as losses from declines in the market value
of common stock held for trading purposes. During periods of declining volume and revenue, our profitability would be
adversely affected. Declines in market values of shares of common stock and the failure of issuers and third parties to perform
their obligations can result in illiquid markets.
We generally maintain trading and investment positions in the equity markets. To the extent that we own assets, i.e., have long
positions, a downturn in those markets could result in losses from a decline in the value of such long positions. Conversely, to
the extent that we have sold assets that we do not own, i.e., have short positions in any of those markets, an upturn could
expose us to potentially unlimited losses as we attempt to cover our short positions by acquiring assets in a rising market.
We may, from time to time, have an arbitrage trading strategy consisting of holding a long position in one asset and a short
position in another from which we expect to earn revenues based on changes in the relative value of the two assets. If, however,
the relative value of the two assets changes in a direction or manner that we did not anticipate or against which we have not
hedged, we might realize a loss in those paired positions. In addition, we maintain trading positions that can be adversely
affected by the level of volatility in the financial markets.
We are a holding company and depend on payments from our subsidiaries.
We depend on dividends, distributions and other payments from our subsidiaries to fund our obligations. Regulatory and other
legal restrictions may limit our ability to transfer funds freely, either to or from our subsidiaries. In particular, NSC is subject to
laws and regulations that authorize regulatory bodies to block or reduce the flow of funds to the parent holding company, or
that prohibit such transfers altogether in certain circumstances. These laws and regulations may hinder our ability to access
funds that we may need to make payments on our obligations. In addition, because our interests in our subsidiaries consist of
equity interests, our rights may be subordinated to the claims of the creditors of these subsidiaries.
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We face strong competition from other financial firms, some of which have greater resources than we do, which may
have a negative effect on our business.
We compete directly with national and regional full-service broker-dealers and a broad range of other financial service firms,
including banks and insurance companies. Competition has increased as smaller securities firms have been acquired by or
merged into other firms. Mergers and acquisitions have increased competition from these firms, many of which have
significantly greater financial, technical, marketing, name recognition and other resources than we do. Many of these firms
offer their customers more products and research than we currently offer. These competitors may be able to respond more
quickly to new or changing opportunities, technologies and client requirements. We also face competition from companies
offering discount and/or electronic brokerage services, including brokerage services provided over the Internet, which we
currently do not offer or intend to offer in the foreseeable future. These competitors may have lower costs or provide more
services, and may offer their customers more favorable commissions, fees or other terms than those offered by us. If we are
unable to compete effectively with our competitors, our operating results could be adversely affected.
The continued growth of electronic trading and the introduction of new technologies is changing our market-making business
and presenting new challenges. Securities, futures and options transactions are increasingly occurring electronically, through
alternative trading systems. The trend toward alternative trading systems will likely continue to accelerate. This acceleration
could further increase program trading, increase the speed of transactions and decrease our ability to participate in transactions
as principal, which would reduce the profitability of our market-making business. Some of these alternative trading systems
compete with our market-making business, and we may experience continued competitive pressures in these and other areas.
Government initiatives that simplify tax return preparation could reduce the need for tax preparation services as a
third party tax return preparer.
Many taxpayers seek assistance from paid tax return preparers such as our National Tax subsidiary, because of the level of
complexity involved in the tax return preparation and filing process. From time to time, government officials propose measures
seeking to simplify the preparation and filing of tax returns or to provide additional assistance with respect to preparing and
filing such tax returns. The passage of any measures that significantly simplify tax return preparation or otherwise reduce the
need for a third party tax return preparer could reduce demand for our services which may adversely affect operating results.
Additionally, from time to time, the United States Treasury Department and the IRS adopt policy and rule changes and other
initiatives that result in a decrease in the number of tax returns filed or reduce the size of tax refunds. Such changes in the tax
law could reduce demand for our services, causing our operating results to be adversely affected.
If we do not continue to develop and enhance our services in a timely manner, our business may be harmed.
Our future success will depend on our ability to develop and enhance our services and add new services. We operate in a very
competitive industry in which the ability to develop and deliver advanced services through the Internet and other channels is a
key competitive factor. There are significant risks in the development of new or enhanced services, including the risks that we
will be unable to:

•

effectively use new technologies;

•

adapt our services to emerging industry or regulatory standards; or

•

market new or enhanced services.

If we are unable to develop and introduce new or enhanced services quickly enough to respond to market or customer
requirements or to comply with emerging industry standards, or if these services do not achieve market acceptance, our
business could be seriously harmed.
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We are currently subject to extensive securities regulation and the failure to comply with these regulations could subject
us to penalties or sanctions.
The securities industry and our business are subject to extensive regulation by the SEC, state securities regulators and other
governmental regulatory authorities. We are also regulated by industry self-regulatory organizations, such as FINRA. NSC is a
registered broker-dealer with the SEC and member firm of FINRA. Broker-dealers are subject to regulations which cover all
aspects of the securities business, including sales methods and supervision, trading practices among broker-dealers, use and
safekeeping of customers’ funds and securities, capital structure of securities firms, record keeping, and the conduct of
directors, officers and employees. Changes in laws or regulations or in governmental policies could cause us to change the way
we conduct our business, which could adversely affect our businesses and results of operations.
Compliance with many of the regulations applicable to our subsidiaries involves a number of risks, particularly in areas where
applicable regulations may be subject to varying interpretation. These regulations often serve to limit our activities, including
through net capital, customer protection and market conduct requirements. If we are found to have violated an applicable
regulation, administrative or judicial proceedings may be initiated against us that may result in a censure, fine, civil penalties,
issuance of cease-and-desist orders, the deregistration or suspension of our regulated activities, the suspension or
disqualification of our officers or employees, or other adverse consequences. The imposition of any of these or other penalties
could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.
We rely on clearing brokers and unilateral termination of the agreements with these clearing brokers could disrupt our
business.
NSC is an introducing brokerage firm that uses third party clearing brokers to process its securities transactions and maintain
customer accounts. The clearing brokers also provide billing services, extend credit and provide for control and receipt, custody
and delivery of securities. We depend on the operational capacity and ability of the clearing brokers for the orderly processing
of transactions. In addition, by engaging the processing services of a clearing firm, we are exempt from some capital reserve
requirements and other regulatory requirements imposed by federal and state securities laws. If the clearing agreements are
unilaterally terminated for any reason, we would be forced to find alternative clearing firms without adequate time to negotiate
the terms of a new clearing agreement and without adequate time to plan for such change. There can be no assurance that if
there were a unilateral termination of a clearing agreement that we would be able to find an alternative clearing firm on
acceptable terms or at all.
Our clearing brokers extend credit to our clients and we are liable if the clients do not pay.
We permit our clients to purchase securities on a margin basis or sell securities short, which means that the clearing firm
extends credit to the client secured by cash and securities in the client’s account. During periods of volatile markets, the value
of the collateral held by clearing brokers could fall below the amount borrowed by the client. If margin requirements are not
sufficient to cover losses, the clearing brokers sell or buy securities at prevailing market prices, and may incur losses to satisfy
client obligations. We have agreed to indemnify our clearing brokers for losses they incur while extending credit to our clients.
Credit risk exposes us to losses caused by financial or other problems experienced by third parties.
We are exposed to the risk that third parties that owe us money, securities or other assets will not perform their obligations.
These parties include trading counterparts, customers, clearing agents, exchanges, clearing houses, and other financial
intermediaries as well as issuers whose securities we hold. These parties may default on their obligations to us due to
bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. This risk may arise, for example, from holding securities of
third parties, executing securities trades that fail to settle at the required time due to non-delivery by the counterparty or
systems failure by clearing agents, exchanges, clearing houses or other financial intermediaries, and extending credit to clients
through bridge or margin loans or other arrangements. Significant failures by third parties to perform their obligations to us
could adversely affect our revenues and perhaps our ability to borrow in the credit markets.
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Adverse results of litigation, including under the securities laws, would result in financial losses and divert
management’s attention from our business.
Many aspects of our business involve substantial risks of liability. There is a risk of litigation and arbitration within the
securities industry, including class action suits seeking substantial damages. We are subject to actual and potential claims by
dissatisfied customers, including claims alleging they were damaged by improper sales practices such as unauthorized trading,
sale of unsuitable securities, use of false or misleading statements in the sale of securities, mismanagement and breach of
fiduciary duty. Even if the allegations involve acts by our retail brokers that we did not authorize, we could be liable if we fail
to adequately supervise their conduct. As an underwriter, we may be subject to substantial potential liability under federal and
state laws and court decisions, including liability for material misstatements and omissions in securities offerings. We may be
required to contribute to a settlement, defense costs or a final judgment in legal proceedings or arbitrations involving a past
underwriting and in actions that may arise in the future. We carry “Errors and Omissions” insurance to protect against such
legal actions, however, our policy is limited in items and amounts covered and there can be no assurance that it will cover a
particular complaint. Defending such actions would divert management's attention from running our business, and the adverse
resolution of any legal proceeding involving us and/or our subsidiaries could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
Financial services firms have been subject to increased scrutiny over the last several years, increasing the risk of
financial liability and reputational harm resulting from adverse regulatory actions.
Firms in the financial services industry have been operating in a difficult regulatory environment which we expect will become
even more stringent in light of recent well-publicized failures of regulators to detect and prevent fraud. The industry has
experienced increased scrutiny from a variety of regulators, including the SEC, the NYSE, FINRA and state attorneys general.
Penalties and fines sought by regulatory authorities have increased substantially over the last several years. This regulatory and
enforcement environment has created uncertainty with respect to a number of transactions that had historically been entered
into by financial services firms and that were generally believed to be permissible and appropriate. We may be adversely
affected by changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules by these governmental authorities and selfregulatory organizations. Each of the regulatory bodies with jurisdiction over us has regulatory powers dealing with many
aspects of financial services, including, but not limited to, the authority to fine us and to grant, cancel, restrict or otherwise
impose conditions on the right to carry on particular businesses. For example, a failure to comply with the obligations imposed
by the Exchange Act on broker-dealers and the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 on investment advisers, including recordkeeping, advertising and operating requirements, disclosure obligations and prohibitions on fraudulent activities, or by the
Investment Company Act of 1940, could result in investigations, sanctions and reputational damage. We also may be adversely
affected as a result of new or revised legislation or regulations imposed by the SEC, other U.S. or foreign governmental
regulatory authorities or FINRA or other self-regulatory organizations that supervise the financial markets. Substantial legal
liability or significant regulatory action against us could have adverse financial effects on us or cause reputational harm to us,
which could harm our business prospects.
Asset management businesses have experienced a number of highly publicized regulatory inquiries which have resulted in
increased scrutiny within the industry and new rules and regulations for mutual funds, investment advisors and broker-dealers.
NAM is registered as an investment advisor with the SEC and the regulatory scrutiny and rulemaking initiatives may result in
an increase in operational and compliance costs or the assessment of significant fines or penalties against our asset management
business, and may otherwise limit our ability to engage in certain activities. In addition, the SEC staff has conducted studies
with respect to soft dollar practices in the brokerage and asset management industries and proposed interpretive guidance
regarding the scope of permitted brokerage and research services in connection with soft dollar practices. The SEC staff has
indicated that it is considering additional rulemaking in this and other areas, and we cannot predict the effect that additional
rulemaking may have on our asset management or brokerage business or whether it will be adverse to us. Certain investment
advisors and/or the investment management products they advise are also subject to regulations by various regulatory
authorities outside the U.S. including the U.K. FCA, the Swedish FCA and the European Securities and Market Authority and
may indirectly be subject to MiFID II regulations. Moreover, recent rulemaking by the SEC and certain non-U.S. regulatory
bodies have imposed trading restrictions and reporting requirements on short selling, which have impacted certain of the
investment strategies implemented on behalf of the Company's Funds, and continued restrictions on or further regulations of
short sales could also negatively impact their performance. It is impossible to determine the extent of the impact of any new
laws, regulations or initiatives that may be proposed, or whether any of the proposals will become law. Compliance with any
new laws or regulations could make compliance more difficult and expensive and affect the manner in which we conduct
business.
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It is difficult to predict what other changes may be instituted in the future in the regulation of us or the markets in which we
invest, or the counterparties with which we do business, in addition to those changes already proposed or adopted in the U.S. or
other countries. Any such regulation could have a material adverse effect on our business prospect.
Finally, financial services firms are subject to numerous perceived or actual conflicts of interest, which have drawn and which
we expect will continue to draw scrutiny from the SEC and other federal and state regulators. For example, the research areas
of investment banks have been and remain the subject of heightened regulatory scrutiny, which has led to increased restrictions
on the interaction between equity research analysts and investment banking personnel at securities firms. Regulations have also
been focusing on potential conflicts of interest or issues relating to impermissible disclosure of material nonpublic information.
Appropriately dealing with conflicts interest is complex and difficult, and our reputation could be damaged if it fails to do so.
Such policies and procedures to address or limit actual or perceived conflicts may also result in increased costs, additional
operational personnel and increased regulatory risk. Failure to adhere to these policies and procedures may result in regulatory
sanctions or client litigation.
The potential for conflicts of interest within the Company, and a failure to appropriately identify and deal with conflicts
of interest could adversely affect our businesses.
Due to the combination of our investment management and broker-dealer businesses, we face an increased potential for
conflicts of interest, including situations where our services to a particular client or investor or our own interests in our
investments conflict with the interests of another client. Such conflicts may also arise if our broker-dealer business has access
to material non-public information that may not be shared with our investment management business or vice versa. Further, our
relationship with B. Riley as both a competitor and significant stockholder gives rise to the potential for additional conflicts of
interest. Additionally, our regulators have the ability to scrutinize our activities for potential conflicts of interest, including
through detailed examinations of specific transactions.
Appropriately identifying and dealing with conflicts of interest is complex and difficult, and the willingness of clients to enter
into transactions or engagements in which such a conflict might arise may be affected if we fail to identify and appropriately
address potential conflicts of interest. In addition, potential or perceived conflicts could give rise to litigation or enforcement
actions.
We face significant competition for registered representatives.
Our retail brokerage business is dependent upon a large number of both independent contractor and employee registered
representatives. We are exposed to the risk that a large group of registered representatives could decide to affiliate with another
firm and we could be unable to recruit suitable replacements, which could have a material adverse impact on our ability to
generate revenue in the retail brokerage business.
A change in the “independent contractor” status of registered representatives would adversely affect us.
Independent contractor registered representatives operate from their own offices and are responsible in large part for the costs
and expenses involved in their operations. As of September 30, 2019, we had a total of approximately 970 associates, of which
630 were independent contractors. The enactment of any legislation that would affect the eligibility requirements for
independent contractor status could have a significant effect on this business model and lead to additional costs and expenses,
which could have a material adverse on our results of operations.
We run the risk that employee and independent contractor misconduct could occur.
Misconduct by employees and independent contractors could include:

•

employees and independent contractors binding us to transactions that exceed authorized limits or present
unacceptable risks to us;

•

employees and independent contractors hiding unauthorized or unsuccessful activities from us; or

•

the improper use of confidential information.

These types of misconduct could result in unknown and unmanaged risks or losses to us including regulatory sanctions and
serious harm to our reputation. The precautions we take to prevent and detect these activities may not be effective. If employee
and independent contractor misconduct does occur, our business operations could be materially adversely affected.
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Internet and internal computer system failures could damage our reputation and harm our business.
Although a significant portion of our business is conducted using traditional methods of contact and communications such as
face-to-face meetings, a portion of our business is conducted through the Internet. Our internal computer systems are
vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and
electrical failures. The size and complexity of our information technology systems and the confidential information stored on
those systems, including financial information of our clients, make such systems vulnerable to service interruptions or to
security breaches from inadvertent or intentional actions by our employees, third-party vendors and/or business partners, or
from cyber-attacks by malicious third parties. Cyber-attacks are increasing in their frequency, sophistication and intensity, and
have become increasingly difficult to detect. Cyber-attacks could include the deployment of harmful malware, ransomware,
denial-of-service attacks, social engineering and other means to affect service reliability and threaten the confidentiality,
integrity and availability of information. Cyber-attacks also could include phishing attempts or e-mail fraud to cause payments
or information to be transmitted to an unintended recipient.
While we have not experienced a system failure, accident, cyber-attack or security breach that has resulted in a material
interruption in our operations to date, if such an event were to occur, it could result in a material disruption of our development
programs and our business operations. Additionally, any such event that leads to unauthorized access, use or disclosure of
personal information, including personal information regarding our clients or employees, could harm our reputation, cause us
not to comply with federal and/or state breach notification laws and foreign law equivalents and otherwise subject us to liability
under laws and regulations that protect the privacy and security of personal information. Security breaches and other
inappropriate access can be difficult to detect, and any delay in identifying them may lead to increased harm of the type
described above. While we have implemented security measures to protect our information technology systems and
infrastructure, there can be no assurance that such measures will prevent service interruptions or security breaches that could
adversely affect our business and cause financial losses, liability to clients, regulatory sanctions and damage to our reputation.
Procedures and requirements of the Patriot Act and similar laws may expose us to significant costs or penalties.
As a financial services firm, we are subject to laws and regulations, including the Uniting and Strengthening America by
Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (the “Patriot Act”), that require that we
know our customers and monitor transactions for suspicious financial activities. The cost of complying with the Patriot Act and
related laws and regulations is significant. We face the risk that our policies, procedures, technology and personnel directed
toward complying with the Patriot Act and similar laws and regulations are insufficient and that we could be subject to
significant criminal and civil penalties or reputational damage due to noncompliance. Such penalties and subsequent
remediation costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and cash
flows.
Risks Related to our Common Stock
Our principal stockholders, including B. Riley, as well as our directors and officers, control a large percentage of shares
of our common stock, and can control our corporate actions.
As of September 30, 2019, B. Riley owned approximately 46.8% of our issued and outstanding shares of common stock. As a
result B. Riley may be able to control most, if not all, of our corporate actions, including the election of directors, the
appointment of officers, and potential merger or acquisition transactions, subject to restrictions on B. Riley's ability to take
certain actions, including with respect to our Board, as set forth in the B. Riley Agreement. The concentration of the ownership
of the shares of our common stock may also serve to limit the trading volume of our common stock. The common stock of B.
Riley is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market.
Under our agreement with B. Riley, B. Riley agreed to certain customary standstill provisions, effective as of the date of the B.
Riley Agreement through December 31, 2021. Additionally, we have granted to B. Riley the right to appoint up to two B. Riley
representatives to attend meetings of the Board and any committee thereof in a non-voting observer capacity. The B. Riley
Agreement further permits B. Riley to participate pro rata in any bona fide common stock equity offering by us if the offering
price of the Company’s common stock in such offering is equal to or less than $3.25 per share, as adjusted for stock splits,
stock dividends, stock combinations and similar events, subject to certain exceptions. This participation right will end upon the
earlier of (x) the end of the Standstill Period and (y) a change in control of the Company, as defined in the B. Riley Agreement.

18

Our common stock has low trading volume and any sale of a significant number of shares is likely to depress the trading
price.
Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “NHLD”. Traditionally, the trading volume of our
common stock has been limited. For the 30 trading days ending on September 30, 2019, the average daily trading volume was
approximately 14,000 shares per day. During such 30-day period the closing price of our common stock ranged from a high of
$2.78 to a low of $2.17. We expect that this limited trading volume will continue due to the concentrated ownership of our
common stock by B. Riley. Because of this limited trading volume, holders of our common stock may not be able to sell
quickly any significant number of such shares, and any attempted sale of a large number of our shares will likely have a
material adverse impact on the price of our common stock. Because of the limited number of shares being traded, the price per
share is subject to volatility and may continue to be subject to rapid price swings in the future.
The price of our common stock is volatile.
The price of our common stock has fluctuated substantially. The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile as a
result of factors specific to us and the securities markets in general. Factors affecting volatility may include:

•

variations in our annual or quarterly financial results or those of our competitors;

•

economic conditions in general; and

•

changes in applicable laws or regulations, or their judicial or administrative interpretations affecting us or our
subsidiaries or the securities industry.

In addition, volatility of the market price of our common stock is further affected by its thinly-traded nature.
Our Board can issue shares of “blank check” preferred stock without further action by our stockholders.
Our Board has the authority, without further action by our stockholders, to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock in
one or more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions in each series of the preferred stock, including:

•

dividend rights;

•

conversion rights;

•

voting rights, which may be greater or lesser than the voting rights of our common stock;

•

rights and terms of redemption;

•

liquidation preferences; and

•

sinking fund terms.

At September 30, 2019, there are no shares of our preferred stock outstanding. The issuance of shares of preferred stock could
adversely affect the voting power of holders of our common stock and the likelihood that these holders will receive dividends
and payments upon our liquidation and could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of the
Company.
The Nasdaq Capital Market imposes listing standards on our common stock that we may not be able to fulfill, thereby
leading to a possible delisting of our common stock.
As a listed Nasdaq Capital Market company, we are subject to rules covering, among other things, certain major corporate
transactions, the composition of our Board and the committees thereof, the holding of an annual meeting of our stockholders,
minimum bid price of our common stock and minimum stockholders equity. The failure to meet these or other Nasdaq Capital
Market requirements may result in the de-listing of our common stock from the Nasdaq Capital Market, which could adversely
affect the liquidity and market price of our common stock.
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We do not expect to pay any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
We do not anticipate that we will pay any cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future. We expect
to retain all future earnings, if any, for investment in our business.
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Item 2. PROPERTIES
We own no real property. Our corporate headquarters are in space leased by the Company in New York, New York and Boca
Raton, Florida. Independent contractors individually lease the branch offices that are operated by those independent contractors.
We also lease additional office space, all of which are shown in the table below.
Leases expire at various times through August 2032. We believe the rent at each of our locations is reasonable based on current
market rates and conditions. We consider the facilities of our company and those of our subsidiaries to be reasonably insured
and adequate for the foreseeable needs of our company and our subsidiaries.
The following chart provides information related to these lease obligations as of September 30, 2019:
Approximate
Annual Base
Lease Rental

Approximate
Square Footage

Address

200 Vesey Street, 25th Floor, New York, NY
600 University Street, Suite 2900, Seattle, WA
5000 T-Rex Avenue, Suite 300, Boca Raton, FL
61 South Paramus Road, Suite 530, Paramus, NJ
2875 NE 191st Street, Suite 601, Aventura, FL
14802 N. Dale Mabry Blvd., Suite 101 and 204, Tampa, FL
35-30 Francis Lewis Blvd., Suite 205, Flushing, NY
2711 North Haskell Avenue, Suite 2950, Dallas, TX
100 Franklin Street, Boston, MA
4000 Route 66, Tinton Falls, NJ
11 Raymond Ave, Suite 22, Poughkeepsie, NY
540 Gidney Ave, Newburgh, NY
500 Portion Rd, Suite 2 & 4, Lake Ronkonkoma, NY
181 East Jericho Turnpike, 2nd Floor, Mineola, NY
2050 Eastchester Road, Suite 1-A, Bronx, NY
7370 College Parkway, Ft. Myers, FL
1550-1556 Third Ave., Suite 306, New York, NY
28050 US Highway 19 North, Suite 302, Clearwater FL
3535 Military Trail, Suite 201 & 202, Jupiter, FL
1200 N. Federal Highway, Suite 215, Boca Raton, FL
11 Raymond Ave, Suite 21, Poughkeepsie, NY
5839 Main St, Williamsville, NY
1580 South Main Street, Suite 101, Boerne, TX
155 N. Lake Avenue, 8th Floor, Pasadena, CA
163 Old Little Britain Road, Newburgh, NY
44 Stelton Rd, Suite 235, Piscataway, NJ
2170 W. St. Rd. 434, Suite 376, Longwood, FL
3301 Bonita Beach Rd, Suite 107, Bonita Beach, FL
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15,988
7,620
16,726
7,968
5,208
7,038
4,600
6,724
1,982
6,721
3,558
4,535
3,727
3,165
3,220
3,749
1,212
3,165
2,944
3,214
2,200
3,159
2,224
100
1,120
1,242
940
982

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

767,424
310,515
288,524
254,976
254,671
163,930
150,796
135,180
99,100
97,721
95,805
95,034
92,241
89,056
86,520
76,086
72,277
64,123
61,824
57,434
57,092
56,862
44,480
30,488
30,000
23,158
17,223
11,784

Lease Termination
Date

27-Feb-26
31-Oct-26
31-Aug-32
31-May-30
31-May-21
31-Dec-21
31-Aug-21
31-Dec-29
28-Feb-24
30-Nov-20
30-Jun-23
30-Jun-21
1-Jan-21
30-Apr-25
31-Oct-22
30-Nov-19
30-Nov-20
30-Apr-20
30-Apr-22
31-Mar-24
31-Jul-20
31-Dec-23
29-Feb-20
31-Jul-20
month to month
month to month
30-Sep-20
31-Aug-24

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We and our subsidiaries are defendants or respondents in various pending and threatened arbitrations, administrative
proceedings and lawsuits seeking compensatory damages. Several cases have no stated alleged damages. Claim amounts are
infrequently indicative of the actual amounts we will be liable for, if any. Further, we have a history of collecting amounts
awarded in these types of matters from our brokers that are still affiliated, as well as from those that are no longer affiliated.
Many of these claimants also seek, in addition to compensatory damages, punitive or treble damages, and all seek interest, costs
and fees. These matters arise in the normal course of business. We intend to vigorously defend the Company in these actions,
and the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be determined at this time.
On July 3, 2019, a lawsuit was filed against National Securities Corporation, National Asset Management, Inc., the Company,
the Company’s current board members and certain former board members, certain officers of the Company, John Does 1–10,
and the Company as a nominal defendant, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, captioned
Kay Johnson v. National Securities Corporation, et al., Case No. 1:19-cv-06197-LTS. The complaint presents three purported
derivative causes of action on behalf of the Company, and five causes of action by the plaintiff directly. As part of the
derivative claims, the complaint generally alleges that certain of the individual defendants failed to establish and maintain
adequate internal controls to ensure that the Board acted in accordance with its fiduciary duties to prevent and uncover alleged
legal and regulatory misconduct and wrongdoing on the part of a National officer. As part of its claims brought directly by the
plaintiff, the complaint generally alleges that certain individual and corporate defendants wrongfully terminated the
employment of the plaintiff in violation of the Dodd-Frank Act and applicable common law, or conspired to do so. The
complaint further alleges that certain corporate defendants violated the Equal Pay Act with regards to the plaintiff’s
compensation. The complaint seeks monetary damages in favor of the Company, an order directing the Company’s board
members to take actions to enhance the Company’s governance, compensatory and punitive damages in favor of the plaintiff,
and attorneys’ fees and costs. The Company has notified its insurer of the lawsuit and believes it has valid defenses to the
asserted claims of the complaint.
Liabilities for potential losses from complaints, legal actions, government investigations and proceedings are established where
management believes that it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. In
making these decisions, management bases its judgments on its knowledge of the situations, consultations with legal counsel
and its historical experience in resolving similar matters. In many lawsuits, arbitrations and regulatory proceedings, it is not
possible to determine whether a liability has been incurred or to estimate the amount of that liability until the matter is close to
resolution. However, accruals are reviewed regularly and are adjusted to reflect management’s estimates of the impact of
developments, rulings, advice of counsel and any other information pertinent to a particular matter. Because of the inherent
difficulty in predicting the ultimate outcome of legal and regulatory actions, management cannot predict with certainty the
eventual loss or range of loss related to such matters. As of September 30, 2019 and 2018, we accrued approximately
$1,817,000 and $825,000 respectively. These amounts are included in accounts payable and other accrued expenses in the
statement of financial condition. Awards ultimately paid, if any, may be covered by our errors and omissions insurance policy.
While we will vigorously defend the Company in these matters, and will assert insurance coverage and indemnification to the
maximum extent possible, there can be no assurance that such matters will not have a material adverse impact on our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows. Amounts charged to operations for settlements and potential losses in fiscal years
2019, 2018 and 2017 were $3,008,000, $1,737,000 and $3,414,000 respectively, which are included in other administrative
expenses in our statement of operations. We have included in professional fees, litigation and arbitration related expenses of
$2,052,000, $950,000 and $1,476,000 for fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON STOCK, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information
On March 3, 2015, our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “NHLD.”
Stockholders
As of November 30, 2019, we had approximately 240 stockholders of record and we estimated our total number of beneficial
stockholders at approximately 850.
Dividends
Delaware law authorizes our Board to declare and pay dividends with respect to our common stock either out of our surplus (as
defined in the Delaware Corporation Law) or, in case there is no such surplus, out of our net profits for the fiscal year in which
the dividend is declared and/or the preceding fiscal year; provided, however, that no dividend may be paid out of net profits
unless our capital exceeds the aggregate amount represented by the issued and outstanding stock of all classes having a
preference in the distribution of assets. Our ability to pay dividends in the future also may be restricted by the obligations of our
broker-deal subsidiary to comply with the net capital requirements imposed on broker-dealers by the SEC and FINRA. We do
not anticipate that we will pay any cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future. No cash dividends
have been declared or paid by us with respect to our common stock during the past three fiscal years.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
In August 2015, the Board authorized the repurchase of up to $2 million of our common stock. Share repurchases, if any, could
be made using a variety of methods, which may include open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or block
trades, or any combination of such methods, in accordance with applicable insider trading and other securities laws and
regulations. The Board did not stipulate an expiration date for this repurchase, though we did agree to suspend this repurchase
program in a merger agreement among our company, Fortress and FBIO Acquisition, dated as of April 27, 2016 (as amended,
the “Merger Agreement”). During the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, we did not repurchase any shares.
Subsequent to September 30, 2019 and through the date of the issuance of this report, we had not acquired any additional
shares.
Common Stock Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock for the period from March 3,
2015 through September 30, 2019, with the cumulative total return over such period on the Nasdaq Composite Index and the
S&P 500. The graph assumes an investment of $100 on March 3, 2015, in our common stock (at the closing market price) and
in each of the indices listed above, and assumes the reinvestment of dividends.
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Information relating to the compensation plans under which our equity securities are authorized for issuance is set forth in Part
III, Item 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters,” of this
Form 10-K.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
You should read the following selected financial data together with our financial statements and the related notes appearing
at the end of this Form 10-K and the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” section of this Form 10-K. We have derived the financial information from our audited financial statements.
Our historical results for any prior period are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in any future period.
Year Ended September 30,
2018
2017
2016

2019

2015

Operating Results:
Total revenues
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) before other income (expense) and
income taxes
Other income (expense)
Income (loss) before income taxes
Net income (loss) attributable to National
Holdings Corporation common shareholders
Per common and equivalent share:
Net income (loss) per share attributable to
National Holdings Corporation common
shareholders - Basic
Net income (loss) per share attributable to
National Holdings Corporation common
shareholders - Diluted
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
- Basic
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
- Diluted

$212,941,000 $211,115,000 $189,870,000 $174,076,000 $163,046,000
210,841,000 208,396,000 181,902,000 176,545,000 162,568,000
2,100,000
60,000
2,160,000
$

2,719,000
(11,041,000)
(8,322,000)

7,968,000
8,611,000
16,579,000

(2,469,000)
—
(2,469,000)

(819,000) $ (11,510,000) $ 12,528,000 $ (5,559,000) $

478,000
—
478,000
285,000

$

(0.06) $

(0.92) $

1.01 $

(0.45) $

0.02

$

(0.06) $

(0.92) $

1.00 $

(0.45) $

0.02

12,821,581

12,474,753

12,437,916

12,435,923

12,464,496

12,821,581

12,474,753

12,472,541

12,435,923

12,502,254

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets
Total liabilities
Total shareholders’ equity

$ 81,207,000 $ 68,449,000 $ 64,398,000 $ 60,546,000 $ 63,382,000
29,608,000
21,514,000
25,495,000
34,773,000
18,120,000
51,599,000
46,935,000
38,903,000
25,773,000
45,262,000
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements. This Report may
contain certain statements of a forward-looking nature relating to future events or future business performance. Any such
statements that refer to our estimated or anticipated future results or other non-historical facts are forward-looking and reflect
our current perspective of existing trends and information. These statements involve risks and uncertainties that cannot be
predicted or quantified and, consequently, actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, among others, risks and uncertainties detailed in Item 1
above. Any forward-looking statements contained in or incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K speak only as of the
date of this Report. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.
OVERVIEW
We are engaged in independent brokerage and advisory services and asset management services, investment banking, equity
research and institutional sales and trading, through our broker-dealer subsidiary, NSC. We are committed to establishing a
significant presence in the financial services industry by meeting the varying investment needs of our retail, corporate and
institutional clients. Our wholly-owned subsidiary, NAM, is a federally-registered investment adviser that provides asset
management advisory services to clients for a fee based upon a percentage of assets managed. We also provide tax preparation
services through National Tax, which provides tax preparation services to individuals, predominantly in the middle and upper
income tax brackets and accounting services to small and midsize companies.
NSC is subject to regulation by, among others, the SEC and FINRA, and is a member of SIPC. In addition, NSC is licensed to
conduct its brokerage activities in all 50 states, plus the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands.
National Tax is also subject to regulation by, among others, the IRS.
As of September 30, 2019, we had approximately 970 associated personnel serving retail and institutional customers, trading
and investment banking clients. In addition to our 28 Company offices located in New York, New Jersey, Florida, Texas,
Massachusetts, California and Washington, we had approximately 90 other registered offices, owned and operated by
independent representatives who maintain all appropriate licenses and are responsible for all office overhead and expenses.
Our registered representatives offer a broad range of investment products and services. These products and services allow us to
generate both commissions (from transactions in securities and other investment products) and fee income (for providing
investment advisory services, namely managing clients’ accounts). The investment products and services offered include but
are not limited to stocks, bonds, mutual funds, annuities, insurance, and managed money accounts.
B. Riley Transaction
On November 14, 2018, B. Riley Financial, Inc. (“B. Riley”) and FBIO Acquisition, Inc. (“FBIO Acquisition”), a subsidiary of
Fortress Biotech, Inc. (“Fortress”), entered into a stock purchase agreement whereby FBIO Acquisition agreed to sell FBIO
Acquisition’s majority stake in the Company to a wholly-owned subsidiary of B. Riley (the “FBIO Sale”). Under the terms of
the agreement, B. Riley agreed to purchase 7,037,482 shares of our common stock from FBIO Acquisition, representing
approximately 56.1% of our outstanding common stock and Fortress’s entire economic interest in the Company. An aggregate
of 3,010,054 shares were purchased immediately at $3.25 per share. After approval from FINRA was received on February 4,
2019, B. Riley purchased an additional 3,149,496 shares of our common stock on February 11, 2019 and assigned its right to
purchase the remaining 877,932 shares to a third party.
Further, in connection with the FBIO Sale, we entered into an agreement with B. Riley (the “B. Riley Agreement”), pursuant to
which B. Riley agreed to certain customary standstill provisions, effective as of the date of the B. Riley Agreement through
December 31, 2021 (the “Standstill Period”), prohibiting B. Riley and any of its affiliates or associates, directly or indirectly,
from, among other things: (i) acquiring, agreeing to acquire or otherwise seeking to acquire any beneficial interest in the
Company’s share capital or any of its material assets other than (x) the FBIO Sale and (y) pursuant to B. Riley’s pro rata
participation rights described in the B. Riley Agreement; (ii) making a take-over bid, tender offer or exchange offer for all or
any part of the Company’s share capital; (iii) announcing, or taking any action which would require the announcement of, any
proposals by B. Riley for any business combination or any other similar transaction involving the securities of the Company or
its material assets or businesses; (iv) soliciting proxies with respect to any securities of the Company or otherwise influencing
any shareholders of the Company for any action or transaction; (v) requesting that the Board expand or reduce the number of
directors or the number of Board designees nominated by otherwise designated by B. Riley; (vi) take any other action that
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would constitute a “business combination” for purposes of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (including
any successor statute thereto) (“Section 203”) (other than any transactions covered by Section 203(c)(3)(v) of the Delaware
General Corporation Law that are in the ordinary course of our business operations); (vii) make any public announcement with
respect to any of the foregoing, except as, and solely to the extent, legally required or compelled (and provided that the reason
for any such required announcement is not the result of any action taken by B. Riley) or (viii) contest the validity of the
standstill terms of the B. Riley Agreement or initiate or participate in any judicial proceeding to amend, waive, terminate or
seek a release of the restrictions of such standstill terms.
Pursuant to the B. Riley Agreement, we granted to B. Riley the right to appoint B. Riley representatives to attend meetings of
the Board and any committee thereof in a non-voting observer capacity. If B. Riley’s beneficial ownership of the Company’s
common stock is reduced to below 24%, B. Riley’s rights to designate board observers will be reduced to one board observer,
and if B. Riley’s beneficial ownership of the Company’s common stock is reduced to below 5%, B. Riley’s rights to designate
board observers will cease.
The B. Riley Agreement further permits B. Riley to participate pro rata in any bona fide common stock equity offering by us
(including the offering of any securities convertible into common stock) if the offering price of the Company’s common stock
in such offering is equal to or less than $3.25 per share, as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, stock combinations and
similar events, subject to certain exceptions. This participation right will end upon the earlier of (x) the end of the Standstill
Period and (y) a change in control of the Company, as defined in the B. Riley Agreement.
The B. Riley Agreement also contains non-solicitation terms that prohibit either the Company or B. Riley, or any of their
respective affiliates, associates and related parties, from hiring any executive officer or member of senior management of the
other party during the Standstill Period, subject to certain exceptions.
In connection with the B. Riley Agreement, the Board waived the applicability of Section 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law to B. Riley in connection with the FBIO Sale.
Upon final closing of the FBIO Sale, the warrants held by FBIO Acquisition ceased to be outstanding.
Winslow, Evans & Crocker, Inc. Acquisition
On August 26, 2019, we entered into a stock purchase agreement (as amended, the “Winslow Agreement” and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, the “Winslow Acquisition”) whereby we agreed to acquire all of the outstanding equity interests (the
“Purchased Shares”) of Winslow Evans & Crocker, Inc. (“WEC”), Winslow, Evans & Crocker Insurance Agency, Inc.
(“WIA”), and Winslow Financial, Inc. (“WF” and collectively with WEC and WIA, the “Winslow Targets”). The Company
entered into an amendment to the Winslow Agreement on October 11, 2019, to reflect certain clarifications to the terms of the
Winslow Agreement as agreed to by the parties. The Winslow Acquisition is expected to close in the first fiscal quarter of
2020, subject to customary conditions and regulatory approvals.
Under the terms of the Winslow Agreement, at the closing of the Winslow Acquisition, the Company will acquire the Purchased
Shares for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $3.2 million paid at closing in cash, subject to certain adjustments,
plus additional consideration to be based on (i) the amount of net operating capital of WEC and WF as of the closing, payable
in three annual installments and not to exceed $1.0 million in the aggregate, (ii) the aggregate pre-tax net income (loss) of the
Winslow Targets through September 22, 2022, provided that such additional consideration shall not be less than $1.5 million
and shall not exceed $3.0 million in the aggregate, and (iii) a portion of the synergies achieved through September 20, 2022. At
the signing of the Winslow Agreement, the Company deposited $500,000 into escrow, which will be applied to the amount
payable at closing or which would be forfeited if the Winslow Acquisition is approved by FINRA but are not consummated due
to certain breaches of the Winslow Agreement by the Company.
WEC is a Boston-based, full-service investment firm established in 1991. WEC is an SEC Registered Investment Advisor and
a FINRA registered broker-dealer. More than 50 financial professionals including Certified Financial Planners, Investment
Advisor Representatives, Financial Consultants, brokers and other specialists are part of the Winslow team with over $2.5B in
assets under management. Located in the heart of the financial district in Boston, MA, we believe that WEC is a strategic
location for the Company to build out its banking platform. We expect that the Winslow Acquisition will be accretive to gross
margin and adjusted EBITDA margin.
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Growth Strategy
We continue to evaluate opportunities to grow our businesses, including potential acquisitions or mergers with other securities,
investment banking and investment advisory firms, and by adding to our base of independent registered representatives and
institutional trading personnel organically. These acquisitions may involve payments of material amounts of cash, the
incurrence of a significant amount of debt or the issuance of significant amounts of our equity securities, which may be dilutive
to our existing stockholders and/or may increase our leverage. We cannot assure you that we will be able to consummate any
such potential acquisitions at all or on terms acceptable to us or, if we do, that any acquired business will be profitable.
Key Indicators of Financial Performance for Management
Management periodically reviews and analyzes our financial performance across a number of measurable factors considered to
be particularly useful in understanding and managing our business. Key metrics in this process include productivity and
practice diversification of representatives, top line commission and advisory services revenues, gross margins, operating
expenses, legal costs, taxes, EBITDA as adjusted and earnings per share.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our most critical accounting policies relate to income recognition, income taxes, and goodwill. The SEC defines “critical
accounting estimates” as those that require application of management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often
as a result of the need to make estimates about the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain and may change in subsequent
periods.
We believe our critical accounting policies are as follows:
Revenue Recognition - Commission revenue represents commissions generated by our registered representatives for their
clients’ purchases and sales of mutual funds, variable annuities, general securities and other financial products, a high
percentage of which is paid to the registered representatives as commissions for initiating the transactions.
Commission revenue is generated from front-end sales commissions that occur at the point of sale, as well as trailing
commissions. We recognize front-end sales commission revenue and related clearing and other expenses on transactions
introduced to our clearing brokers on a trade date basis. We also recognize front-end sales commissions and related expenses on
transactions initiated directly between the registered representatives and product sponsors upon receipt of notification from
sponsors of the commission earned. Commission revenue also includes certain 12b-1 fees, and variable product trailing fees,
collectively considered as trailing fees, which are recurring in nature. These trailing fees are earned by us based on a percentage
of the current market value of clients’ investment holdings in trail eligible assets. Because trail commission revenues are
generally paid in arrears, management estimates commission revenues earned during each period. These estimates are based on
a number of factors including investment holdings and the applicable commission rate and the amount of trail commission
revenue received in prior periods. Estimates are subsequently adjusted to actual based on notification from the sponsors of trail
commissions earned.
Net dealer inventory gains, which are recorded on a trade-date basis, include realized and unrealized net gains and losses
resulting from our principal trading activities including equity-linked warrants received from investment banking activities.
We generally act as an agent in executing customer orders to buy or sell listed and over-the-counter securities in which we do
not make a market, and charge commissions based on the services we provide to our customers. In executing customer orders
to buy or sell a security in which we make a market, we may sell to, or purchase from, customers at a price that is substantially
equal to the current inter-dealer market price plus or minus a mark-up or mark-down. We may also act as agent and execute a
customer’s purchase or sale order with another broker-dealer market-maker at the best inter-dealer market price available and
charge a commission. Mark-ups, mark-downs and commissions are generally priced competitively based on the services we
provide to our customers. In each instance the commission charges, mark-ups or mark-downs are in compliance with guidelines
established by FINRA.
Investment banking revenues consist of underwriting revenues, advisory revenues and private placement fees. Underwriting
revenues arise from securities offerings in which we act as an underwriter and include management fees, selling concessions
and underwriting fees. Management estimates our share of the transaction-related expenses incurred by the syndicate. On final
settlement, typically within 90 days from the trade date of the transaction, these amounts are adjusted to reflect the actual
transaction-related expenses.
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Investment advisory fees are derived from account management and investment advisory services. These fees are determined
based on a percentage of the customers assets under management, may be billed monthly or quarterly and are recognized when
earned.
Interest is recorded on an accrual basis and dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date.
Transfer fees and fees for clearing services are recorded on a trade date basis.
Tax preparation and accounting fees are recognized upon completion of the services.
See Note 21 of our consolidated financial statements for additional disclosures on revenue recognition from revenues from
contracts.
Income Taxes - We account for income taxes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, also referred to as
U.S. GAAP which require the recognition of tax benefits or expenses based on the estimated future tax effects of temporary
differences between the financial statement and tax basis of its assets and liabilities. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in
tax rates is recognized as income or loss in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established to
reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized.
FASB ASC 740 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements,
requiring us to determine whether a tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination, including resolution
of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. For tax positions meeting the more
likely than not threshold, the tax amount recognized in the financial statements is reduced by the largest benefit that has a
greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing authority. We recognize accrued
interest and penalties related to our uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense. As of September 30, 2019
and 2018, we had no unrecognized tax positions.
Goodwill - Goodwill is not subject to amortization and is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of
National Tax over the fair value of its identifiable net assets acquired. We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit
level. Fair value of a reporting unit is typically based upon estimated future cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with
the risk involved or market-based comparables. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s net assets exceeds its fair value,
then an analysis will be performed to compare the implied fair value of goodwill with the carrying amount of goodwill. An
impairment loss will be recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the carrying amount over its implied fair value. After an
impairment loss is recognized, the adjusted carrying amount of goodwill is its new accounting basis. Accounting guidance on
the testing of goodwill for impairment allows entities testing goodwill for impairment, the option of performing a qualitative
assessment to determine the likelihood of goodwill impairment and whether it is necessary to perform such two-step
impairment test.
Under Accounting Standards Update (‘ASU’) No. 2017-04, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test
for Goodwill Impairment, step 2 of the goodwill impairment test has been eliminated. Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test
required companies to determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill. Under the new standard, an entity
recognizes an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however
the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The standard is effective for
us beginning October 1, 2020 for both interim and annual periods. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill
impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. We early adopted this standard for the annual tests
performed after January 1, 2017.
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Results of Operations
Fiscal Year 2019 Compared with Fiscal Year 2018
Our fiscal year 2019 resulted in an increase in revenues and an increase in operating expenses as compared to fiscal year 2018.
The increase in revenues is primarily related to the increase investment banking and investment advisory offset by the decrease
in commissions revenue. As a result, we reported income before taxes of $2,160,000 for fiscal year 2019 as compared to net
loss before taxes of $(8,322,000) for fiscal year 2018. The net loss before taxes in 2018 was greatly impacted by the loss related
to the change in fair value of our warrant liability.
Revenues

Commissions
Net dealer inventory (losses) gains
Investment banking
Investment advisory
Interest and dividends
Transfer fees and clearing services
Tax preparation and accounting
Other
Total Revenues

Fiscal Year
2019
2018
$ 86,929,000 $ 109,984,000
(1,466,000)
3,329,000
69,656,000
57,201,000
34,400,000
21,483,000
5,822,000
3,233,000
8,092,000
7,200,000
8,807,000
7,772,000
701,000
913,000
$ 212,941,000 $ 211,115,000

Increase (Decrease)
Amount
Percent
$ (23,055,000)
(21)%
(4,795,000)
(144)%
12,455,000
22 %
12,917,000
60 %
2,589,000
80 %
892,000
12 %
1,035,000
13 %
(212,000)
(23)%
$ 1,826,000
1%

Total revenues increased $1,826,000, or 1%, in fiscal year 2019 to $212,941,000 from $211,115,000 in fiscal year 2018. The
increase in revenues is primarily due to revenues generated by investment banking and investment advisory offset in part by the
decrease in revenues from commissions and net dealer inventory (losses) gains.

•

Commissions decreased by $23,055,000, or 21%, to $86,929,000 from $109,984,000 during fiscal year 2019
when compared to fiscal 2018. Retail commissions decreased due to uncertain market and economic conditions
exacerbated by interest rate and US/China trade concerns, and the U.S. government shutdown. Also,
commissions declined from a particularly strong prior year due to various factors, most significantly declining
client trading velocity given high market valuation. These issues have caused lower trading volumes in fiscal
2019. In addition, the firm’s strategy of bringing quality issuance and private share offerings to our client base,
reallocated revenue generation to investment banking from commissions;

•

Net dealer inventory (losses) gains decreased by $4,795,000, or 144%, to $(1,466,000) from $3,329,000 during
fiscal year 2019 when compared to fiscal 2018. Unrealized losses for the Lyft securities received as carried
interest and for the firm’s investment portfolio, created the net loss in fiscal year 2019. Additionally, during
fiscal 2018, we strategically decided to reduce the breadth of our trading model to focus on specifically
servicing our retail and institutional clients;

•

Investment banking increased by $12,455,000, or 22%, to $69,656,000 from $57,201,000, during fiscal year
2019 when compared to fiscal 2018. The increase was the result of additional investment banking deals, three
significant private share offerings executed during fiscal year 2019 and the $5,403,000 of carried interest
revenue recognized in fiscal year 2019. Carried interest revenue related to the back-end compensation of the
placement agent fees is recorded within investment banking revenues;

•

Investment advisory, which primarily consists of fees charged to our clients in our asset-based money
management group, increased by $12,917,000, or 60%, to $34,400,000 from $21,483,000 during fiscal year
2019 when compared to fiscal 2018. The increase is primarily due to the $10,469,000 in carried interest revenue
recorded as compensation for asset management services from the private shares funds distributed during the
year. Also, a net increase in assets under management and high market valuation contributed to the increase;

•

Interest and dividends, which primarily consists of interest earned on customer margin account balances and
dividend revenue, increased by $2,589,000, or 80%, to $5,822,000 from $3,233,000 during fiscal year 2019
when compared to fiscal 2018. The increase is primarily attributable to a new FDIC Sweep interest program
that we implemented in late 2018;
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•

Transfer fees and clearing services, increased by $892,000, or 12%, to $8,092,000 from $7,200,000 during
fiscal year 2019 when compared to fiscal 2018. The increase is due to the annual account fees earned in
September 2019;

•

Tax preparation and accounting, which primarily consists of fees charged to clients for the preparation of
income tax returns and other general accounting services increased by $1,035,000, or 13%, to $8,807,000 from
$7,772,000 during fiscal year 2019 when compared to fiscal 2018. This increase is attributable to revenue
generated by new business acquisitions, which resulted in an increase to our client base;

•

Other revenue decreased by $212,000, or 23%, to $701,000 from $913,000 during fiscal year 2019 when
compared to fiscal 2018. This decrease is due to the decline in client participation in our fully paid stock
lending program.

Operating expenses

Commissions, compensation and fees
Clearing fees
Communications
Occupancy
Licenses and registration
Professional fees
Interest
Depreciation and amortization
Other administrative expenses
Total Operating Expenses

Fiscal Year
2019
2018
$ 177,824,000 $ 182,127,000
2,437,000
2,400,000
2,816,000
3,260,000
4,301,000
3,755,000
2,960,000
2,735,000
7,306,000
4,306,000
32,000
97,000
1,832,000
1,551,000
11,333,000
8,165,000
$ 210,841,000 $ 208,396,000

Increase (Decrease)
Amount
Percent
$ (4,303,000)
(2)%
37,000
2%
(444,000)
(14)%
546,000
15 %
225,000
8%
3,000,000
70 %
(65,000)
(67)%
281,000
18 %
3,168,000
39 %
$ 2,445,000
1%

In comparison with the 1% increase in total revenues, total operating expenses increased 1%, or $2,445,000, to $210,841,000
for fiscal year 2019 compared to $208,396,000 in fiscal year 2018. The increase is primarily due to the increase in professional
fees and other administrative expenses.

•

Commissions, compensation, and fees include those expenses based on commission revenue, net dealer inventory
gains revenue, investment banking and investment advisory revenues, as well as compensation to our non-broker
employees. These expenses decreased by $4,303,000, or 2%, to $177,824,000 in fiscal year 2019 from $182,127,000
in fiscal year 2018. The decrease is primarily related to lower revenues offset in part by higher costs for strategic new
hires, increases in benefits expenses and increases in stock based compensation in connection with stock grants;

•

Clearing fees increased by $37,000, or 2%, to $2,437,000 in fiscal year 2019 from $2,400,000 in fiscal year 2018;

•

Communications expenses decreased by $444,000, or 14%, to $2,816,000 in fiscal year 2019 from $3,260,000 in
fiscal year 2018. This decrease is primarily due to cost savings measures implemented during the past year;

•

Occupancy expenses increased by $546,000, or 15%, to $4,301,000 in fiscal year 2019 from $3,755,000 in fiscal year
2018. The increase is primarily due to the termination fee incurred during fiscal year 2019 to cancel the lease of the
former Boca Raton headquarters office;

•

Licenses and registration costs increased by $225,000, or 8%, to $2,960,000 in fiscal year 2019 from $2,735,000 in
fiscal year 2018. This increase is attributable to licenses for software applications as we continue to invest in and
implement technology enhancement;

•

Professional fees increased by $3,000,000, or 70% to $7,306,000 in fiscal year 2019 from $4,306,000 in fiscal year
2018. This increase is primarily related to legal fees associated with the B. Riley Transaction, corporate matters and
other legal expenses;

•

Interest expense decreased by $65,000, or 67%, to $32,000 in fiscal year 2019 from $97,000 in fiscal year 2018;
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•

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $281,000, or 18%, to $1,832,000 in fiscal year 2019 from
$1,551,000 in fiscal year 2018. Higher amortization expense for new customer list intangibles as a result of new
business acquisitions contributed to the majority of the increase;

•

Other administrative expenses, which includes but is not limited to advertising, office supplies, dues and subscriptions,
provisions for potential arbitration settlements, insurance and director compensation, increased by $3,168,000, or
39%, to $11,333,000 in fiscal year 2019 from $8,165,000 in fiscal year 2018. This increase is attributable to higher
provisions for potential arbitration settlements and higher stock based compensation for the board of directors.

Net Income
We reported a net loss attributable to common shareholders in fiscal 2019 of $819,000 or $0.06 per common share on a fully
diluted basis, as compared to net loss attributable to common shareholders of $11,510,000, or $0.92 per common share on a
fully diluted basis in fiscal year 2018. The net loss in 2018 was primarily attributed to the loss for the change in fair value of the
warrant liability.
NON-GAAP INFORMATION
Management considers earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, or EBITDA, as adjusted, an important
indicator in evaluating our business on a consistent basis across various periods. Due to the significance of non-recurring items,
EBITDA, as adjusted, enables our Board and management to monitor and evaluate our business on a consistent basis. We use
EBITDA, as adjusted, as a primary measure, among others, to analyze and evaluate financial and strategic planning decisions
regarding future operating investments and potential acquisitions. We believe that EBITDA, as adjusted, eliminates items that
are not part of our core operations, such as interest expense and amortization expense associated with intangible assets, or items
that do not involve a cash outlay, such as stock-based compensation. EBITDA, as adjusted should be considered in addition to,
rather than as a substitute for, pre-tax income (loss), net income (loss) and cash flows from operating activities. For fiscal years
2019 and 2018, EBITDA, as adjusted, was $12,395,000 and $12,228,000, respectively.
The following table presents a reconciliation of net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders as reported in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, to EBITDA, as adjusted.
Fiscal Year Ended
2019
2018
Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders, as reported
Interest expense
Income taxes
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA
Non-cash compensation expense
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Forgivable loan amortization
Unrealized (gain) loss on the firm’s warrant portfolio
Real estate restructuring costs
Business acquisition related costs
Legal and arbitration costs associated with pre-fiscal 2017 lawsuits not covered by
insurance
Gain on disposal of National Tax branches
EBITDA, as adjusted

$

(819,000) $ (11,510,000)
32,000
97,000
319,000
3,188,000
1,832,000
1,551,000
(6,674,000)
1,364,000
4,282,000
2,913,000
—
11,194,000
680,000
630,000
2,820,000
2,865,000
315,000
—
168,000
—

2,766,000
—
$ 12,395,000

1,357,000
(57,000)
$ 12,228,000

EBITDA, adjusted for non-cash compensation expense, change in fair value of warrant liability, forgivable loan amortization,
unrealized (gain) loss on the firm’s warrant portfolio, real estate restructuring costs, business acquisition related costs, legal and
arbitration costs associated with pre-fiscal 2017 lawsuits not covered by insurance and gain on disposal of National Tax
branches is a key metric we use in evaluating our business. EBITDA is considered a non-GAAP financial measure as defined
by Regulation G promulgated by the SEC.
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Fiscal Year 2018 Compared with Fiscal Year 2017
Our fiscal year 2018 resulted in an increase in revenues, offset by a greater increase in total expenses, as compared with fiscal
year 2017. As a result, we reported net loss before taxes of $(8,322,000) for fiscal year 2018 as compared to net income before
taxes of $16,579,000 for fiscal year 2017. The net loss before taxes in 2018 and the net income before taxes in 2017, were
greatly impacted by the loss/gain related to the change in fair value of the warrant liability.
Revenues

Commissions
Net dealer inventory gains
Investment banking
Investment advisory
Interest and dividends
Transfer fees and clearing services
Tax preparation and accounting
Other
Total Revenues

Fiscal Year
2018
2017
$ 109,984,000 $ 96,807,000
3,329,000
15,108,000
57,201,000
44,385,000
21,483,000
14,738,000
3,233,000
2,764,000
7,200,000
7,393,000
7,772,000
7,439,000
913,000
1,236,000
$ 211,115,000 $ 189,870,000

Increase (Decrease)
Amount
Percent
$ 13,177,000
14 %
(11,779,000)
(78)%
12,816,000
29 %
6,745,000
46 %
469,000
17 %
(193,000)
(3)%
333,000
4%
(323,000)
(26)%
$ 21,245,000
11 %

Total revenues increased $21,245,000 , or 11% in fiscal year 2018 to $211,115,000 from $189,870,000 in fiscal year 2017. The
increase in revenues is primarily due to revenues generated by commissions, investment banking and investment advisory
offset in part by the decrease in revenues from net dealer inventory gains.

•

Commissions increased by $13,177,000, or 14%, to $109,984,000 from $96,807,000 during fiscal year 2018
when compared to fiscal 2017. Commissions increased primarily due to favorable markets, focus on a
diversified product base and quality new hires during the current year;

•

Net dealer inventory gains decreased by $11,779,000, or 78%, to $3,329,000 from $15,108,000 during fiscal
year 2018 when compared to fiscal 2017. The decrease is primarily due to the unrealized losses for the change
in fair value of the warrants received from investment banking deals vs the unrealized gains in the prior period.
In addition, the Company has strategically decided to reduce the breadth of our trading model to focus on
specifically servicing our retail and institutional clients;

•

Investment banking increased by $12,816,000, or 29%, to $57,201,000 from $44,385,000, during fiscal year
2018 when compared to fiscal 2017. The increase is related to continuing high demand and quality execution of
product offering from a diverse group of issuers;

•

Investment advisory, which primarily consists of fees charged to our clients in our asset-based money
management group, increased by $6,745,000, or 46%, to $21,483,000 from $14,738,000 during fiscal year 2018
when compared to fiscal 2017. This increase is due to increasing level of assets under management as we
strategically invest in this business, and continuing strength in equity markets;

•

Interest and dividends, which primarily consists of interest earned on customer margin account balances and
dividend revenue, increased by $469,000, or 17%, to $3,233,000 from $2,764,000 during fiscal year 2018 when
compared to fiscal 2017. The increase is primarily attributable to a new FDIC Sweep interest program that
started in 2018;

•

Transfer fees and clearing services, which primarily consists of fees charged to our registered representatives to
execute transactions on their behalf, decreased by $193,000, or 3%, to $7,200,000 from $7,393,000 during
fiscal year 2018 when compared to fiscal 2017;

•

Tax preparation and accounting, which primarily consists of fees charged to clients for the preparation of
income tax returns and other general accounting services increased by $333,000, or 4%, to $7,772,000 from
$7,439,000 during fiscal year 2018 when compared to fiscal 2017. This is a net increase attributable to revenue
generated by new business acquisitions offset by the elimination of unprofitable offices;

•

Other revenue decreased by $323,000, or 26%, to $913,000 from $1,236,000 during fiscal year 2018 when
compared to fiscal 2017. This decrease is due to the decline in client participation in our fully paid stock
lending program.
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Operating expenses

Commissions, compensation and fees
Clearing fees
Communications
Occupancy
Licenses and registration
Professional fees
Interest
Depreciation and amortization
Other administrative expenses
Total Operating Expenses

Fiscal Year
2018
2017
$ 182,127,000 $ 155,187,000
2,400,000
2,343,000
3,260,000
2,767,000
3,755,000
4,286,000
2,735,000
1,726,000
4,306,000
4,531,000
97,000
14,000
1,551,000
1,229,000
8,165,000
9,819,000
$ 208,396,000 $ 181,902,000

Increase (Decrease)
Amount
Percent
$ 26,940,000
17 %
57,000
2%
493,000
18 %
(531,000)
(12)%
1,009,000
58 %
(225,000)
(5)%
83,000
593 %
322,000
26 %
(1,654,000)
(17)%
$ 26,494,000
15 %

In comparison with the 11% increase in total revenues, total expenses increased 15%, or $26,494,000, to $208,396,000 for
fiscal year 2018 compared to $181,902,000 in fiscal year 2017. The increase is primarily due to the increase in commissions,
investment banking revenues and investment advisory, which has a direct effect on compensation and variable fees.

•

Commissions, compensation, and fees include those expenses based on commission revenue, net dealer inventory
gains revenue, investment banking revenues and investment advisory, as well as compensation to our non-broker
employees. These expenses increased by $26,940,000, or 17%, to $182,127,000 in fiscal year 2018 from $155,187,000
in fiscal year 2017. The increase in commissions expense is primarily due to higher revenues earned in commissions,
investment banking and investment advisory revenues. Strategic new hires, increases in benefits expenses and
increases in stock based compensation for stock grants also contributed to the increase;

•

Clearing fees increased by $57,000, or 2%, to $2,400,000 in fiscal year 2018 from $2,343,000 in fiscal year 2017;

•

Communication expenses increased by $493,000, or 18%, to $3,260,000 in fiscal year 2018 from $2,767,000 in fiscal
year 2017. This increase is attributable to costs related to a new customer relationship management system;

•

Occupancy expenses decreased by $531,000, or 12%, to $3,755,000 in fiscal year 2018 from $4,286,000 in fiscal year
2017. The decrease is primarily due to the sublease income recorded in the current year;

•

Licenses and registration costs increased by $1,009,000, or 58%, to $2,735,000 in fiscal year 2018 from $1,726,000 in
fiscal year 2017. This increase is attributable to new licenses for software applications as the company continues to
invest in and implement multiple technology solutions;

•

Professional fees decreased by $225,000, or 5% to $4,306,000 in fiscal year 2018 from $4,531,000 in fiscal year 2017.
This decrease is related to less reliance on outside providers and more work being handled internally by employees;

•

Interest expense increased by $83,000, or 593%, to $97,000 in fiscal year 2018 from $14,000 in fiscal year 2017. This
increase is primarily due to the interest expense incurred for the financing of computer equipment and software
purchases made in 2018;

•

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $322,000, or 26%, to $1,551,000 in fiscal year 2018 from
$1,229,000 in fiscal year 2017. The increase in leasehold improvements and amortization of development costs
associated with a new system brought on-line in the fourth quarter of 2017 is generating this increase;

•

Other administrative expenses, which includes but is not limited to advertising, office supplies, dues and subscriptions,
provisions for potential arbitration settlements and insurance, decreased by $1,654,000, or 17%, to $8,165,000 in
fiscal year 2018 from $9,819,000 in fiscal year 2017. This decrease is the result of a more normalized spending in the
current year. The prior year period included higher provision for potential arbitration settlements and an increase in
certain insurance costs.
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Net Income
We reported a net loss attributable to common shareholders in fiscal 2018 of ($11,510,000) or ($0.92) per common share on a
fully diluted basis, as compared to net income attributable to common shareholders of $12,528,000, or $1.00 per common share
on a fully diluted basis in fiscal year 2017. The net loss in 2018 was primarily attributed to the loss for the change in fair value
of the warrant liability.
NON-G.A.A.P. INFORMATION
Management considers earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, or EBITDA, as adjusted, an important
indicator in evaluating our business on a consistent basis across various periods. Due to the significance of non-recurring items,
EBITDA, as adjusted, enables our Board and management to monitor and evaluate our business on a consistent basis. We use
EBITDA, as adjusted, as a primary measure, among others, to analyze and evaluate financial and strategic planning decisions
regarding future operating investments and potential acquisitions. We believe that EBITDA, as adjusted, eliminates items that
are not part of our core operations, such as interest expense and amortization expense associated with intangible assets, or items
that do not involve a cash outlay, such as stock-based compensation. EBITDA, as adjusted should be considered in addition to,
rather than as a substitute for, pre-tax income (loss), net income (loss) and cash flows from operating activities. For fiscal years
2018 and 2017, EBITDA, as adjusted, was $12,228,000 and $5,921,000, respectively. This increase of $6,307,000 during fiscal
year 2018 when compared to 2017 resulted primarily from the profit generated by the increase in commissions, investment
banking and investment advisory revenue.
The following table presents a reconciliation of net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders as reported in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, to EBITDA, as adjusted.
Fiscal Year Ended
2018
2017
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders, as reported
Interest expense
Income taxes
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA
Non-cash compensation expense
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Forgivable loan amortization
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
Unrealized (gain) loss on the firm’s warrant portfolio
Legal and arbitration costs associated with pre-fiscal 2017 lawsuits not covered by
insurance
Gain on disposal of National Tax branches
EBITDA, as adjusted

$ (11,510,000) $ 12,528,000
97,000
14,000
3,188,000
4,051,000
1,551,000
1,229,000
(6,674,000)
17,822,000
2,913,000
602,000
(8,458,000)
11,194,000
630,000
693,000
—
1,011,000
(5,612,000)
2,865,000
1,357,000
(57,000)
$ 12,228,000 $

—
(137,000)
5,921,000

EBITDA, adjusted for non-cash compensation expense, change in fair value of warrant liability, forgivable loan amortization,
impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, unrealized (gain) loss on the firm’s warrant portfolio, legal and arbitration costs
associated with pre-fiscal 2017 lawsuits not covered by insurance and gain on disposal of National Tax branches is a key metric
we use in evaluating our business. EBITDA is considered a non-GAAP financial measure as defined by Regulation G
promulgated by the SEC.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash
Receivables from broker-dealers and clearing
organizations
Securities owned (excludes warrants)
Accrued commissions and payroll payable, accounts
payable and other accrued expenses

Ending Balance
September 30,
2019
2018
$ 30,443,000 $ 27,920,000

Average Balance
during fiscal
2019
2018
$ 28,117,000 $ 27,028,250

3,490,000
7,027,000

3,967,000
1,754,000

3,236,000
3,192,000

3,275,000
2,537,500

28,853,000

20,881,000

22,808,250

19,730,000

At September 30, 2019 and 2018, 50% and 49%, respectively, of our total assets consisted of cash, securities owned excluding
warrants and receivables from broker-dealers and clearing organizations. The level of cash used in each asset class is subject to
fluctuation based on market volatility, revenue production and trading activity in the marketplace.
In addition, as a registered broker-dealer and member of FINRA, NSC is subject to the Net Capital Rule, which is designed to
measure the general financial integrity and liquidity of a broker-dealer and requires the maintenance of minimum net capital.
Net capital is defined as the net worth of a broker-dealer subject to certain adjustments. In computing net capital, various
adjustments are made to net worth that exclude assets not readily convertible into cash. Additionally, the regulations require
that certain assets, such as a broker-dealer’s position in securities, be valued in a conservative manner so as to avoid overstating
of the broker-dealer’s net capital.
At September 30, 2019, NSC had net capital of $5,887,912 which was $4,887,912 in excess of its required minimum net capital
of $1,000,000. NSC is exempt from the provisions of the Customer Protection Rule since it is an introducing brokerdealer that clears all transactions on a fully disclosed basis and promptly transmits all customer funds and securities to clearing
brokers.
Advances, dividend payments and other equity withdrawals from NSC are restricted by the regulations of the SEC and other
regulatory agencies. These regulatory restrictions may limit the amounts that NSC may dividend or advance to us. During 2019
and 2018, NSC was in compliance with the rules governing dividend payments and other equity withdrawals.
We extend unsecured credit in the normal course of business to our brokers. The determination of the appropriate amount of the
reserve for uncollectible accounts is based upon a review of the amount of credit extended, the length of time each receivable
has been outstanding, and the specific individual brokers from whom the receivables are due.
The objective of liquidity management is to ensure that we have ready access to sufficient funds to meet commitments, fund
deposit withdrawals and efficiently provide for the credit needs of customers.
Our primary sources of liquidity include our cash flow from operations and the sale of our securities and other financing
activities. We believe that we have sufficient funds from operations to fund our ongoing operating requirements for at least the
next twelve months. However, we may need to raise funds to enhance our working capital and for strategic purposes.
At September 30, 2019, National Holdings Corporation had no interest-bearing debt.
We do not have any material commitments for capital expenditures. We purchase computer equipment and technology to
maintain or enhance the productivity of our employees and such capital expenditures have amounted to $3,124,000 and
$938,000 during fiscal years 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Cash Flow - Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities was $7,676,000, $5,260,000 and $4,288,000 for the years ended September 30, 2019,
2018 and 2017, respectively.
During the year ended September 30, 2019, net cash provided by operating activities was primarily attributable to:
•
•

$1,841,000 of net income, which included $6,066,000 in non-cash items, consisting primarily of (i) $4,282,000 of
stock-based compensation expense, (ii) $1,832,000 of depreciation and amortization expense, and (iii) $680,000 of
amortization of forgivable loans; and
Changes in operating assets and liabilities consisting primarily of (i) a $4,695,000 increase in securities owned, (ii) a
$1,200,000 increase in other receivables, and (iii) a $1,052,000 increase in forgivable loans receivable. These items
were partially offset by (i) a $6,542,000 increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities, and (ii) a
$477,000 decrease in receivables from broker dealers and clearing organizations.

During the year ended September 30, 2018, net cash provided by operating activities was primarily attributable to:
•
•

$11,510,000 of net loss, which included $18,263,000 in non-cash items, consisting primarily of (i) $11,194,000 of
change in fair value of warrant liability, (ii) $2,913,000 of stock-based compensation expense, (iii) $2,228,000 of
deferred tax expense, and (iv) $1,551,000 of depreciation and amortization expense; and
Changes in operating assets and liabilities consisting primarily of (i) a $1,575,000 increase in prepaid expenses, (ii) a
$1,117,000 increase receivables from broker dealers and clearing organizations, (iii) a $684,000 increase in securities
owned, and (iv) a $581,000 increase in forgivable loans receivable. These items were partially offset by (i) a $976,000
decrease in other receivables, (ii) an $1,025,000 increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities,
and (iii) a $705,000 decrease in cash deposit with clearing organizations.

During the year ended September 30, 2017, net cash provided by operating activities was primarily attributable to:
•
•

$12,528,000 of net income, which included $2,894,000 in non-cash items, consisting primarily of (i) $8,458,000 of
change in fair value of warrant liability, (ii) $2,538,000 of deferred tax expense, (iii) $1,229,000 of depreciation and
amortization expense, and (iv) $1,011,000 of impairment charge for goodwill and intangible assets; and
Changes in operating assets and liabilities consisting primarily of (i) a $4,745,000 increase in securities owned, (ii) a
$882,000 decrease in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities, (iii) a $597,000 increase in forgivable
loans receivable, and (iv) a $580,000 increase in prepaid expenses. These items were partially offset by (i) a
$1,117,000 decrease in other receivables, and (ii) a $507,000 decrease in receivables from broker dealers and clearing
organizations.

Cash Flow - Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $3,017,000, $558,000 and $1,405,000 for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018
and 2017, respectively. Net cash used in investing activities during the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017, was
primarily attributable to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.
Cash Flow - Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities was $2,529,000, $318,000 and $42,000 for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and
2017, respectively. Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended September 30, 2019, was primarily attributable to (i)
$899,000 distributions to non-controlling interest, (ii) $617,000 of contingent considerations payments, and (iii) $425,000 for
repurchase of common stock for tax withholding. Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended September 30, 2018,
was primarily attributable to repurchase of common stock for tax withholding.
Inflation
We believe that the effect of inflation on our assets, consisting of cash, securities, office equipment, leasehold improvements
and computers has not been significant.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance-sheet arrangements (as defined in Regulation S-K 303(a)(4)(ii)) that have or are reasonably
likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results
of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to investors.
Contractual Obligations

Contractual obligations

Total

Operating Lease Obligations (1)
Capital Lease Obligations (1)
Financing (2)
Total

$ 20,288,000
297,000
643,000
$ 21,228,000

Payments due by period
Less than 1
Year
1-3 years
3-5 years
$

$

2,975,000
297,000
316,000
3,588,000

$

$

5,450,000
—
327,000
5,777,000

$

$

4,413,000
—
—
4,413,000

More than 5
years
$

$

7,450,000
—
—
7,450,000

(1) See Note 13, “Commitments and Contingencies,” to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of
this annual report on Form 10-K.
(2) See Note 11 “Accounts Payable and Other Accrued Expenses” to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II,
Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.
New Accounting Guidance
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU“) 2014-09,
Revenue From Contracts With Customers (Topic 606) which creates a single, principle-based model for revenue recognition
and expands and improves disclosures about revenue. The new guidance was effective for the Company beginning October 1,
2018, and was adopted using a modified retrospective approach. The Company adopted the new revenue standard on October
1, 2018 and recognized a decrease of $135,000 to retained earnings as the cumulative effect of adoption of this accounting
change. The impact of adoption is primarily related to the Company’s investment banking advisory fees that were recognized as
of September 30, 2018 under the previously existing accounting guidance, which would have been deferred in prior periods
under the new revenue standard. Accordingly, the new revenue standard will be applied prospectively in the Company’s
financial statements from October 1, 2018 forward and reported financial information for historical comparable periods will not
be revised and will continue to be reported under the accounting standards in effect during those historical periods. Further, the
adoption of ASU 2014-09 did not have a material impact on the Company’s revenue.
The new revenue guidance does not apply to revenue associated with financial instruments, including the Company’s warrants
and securities that are accounted for under other U.S. GAAP, and as a result, did not have an impact on the elements of the
statements of operations most closely associated with financial instruments. The new revenue standard primarily impacts the
following of the Company’s revenue recognition and presentation accounting policies:
•

Investment Banking Revenues. Advisory fees from mergers and acquisitions engagements are recognized at the point
in time when the related transaction is completed, as the performance obligation is to successfully broker a specific
transaction.

•

Investment Banking Advisory Expenses. Historically, expenses associated with investment banking advisory
assignments were deferred until reimbursed by the client, the related fee revenue is recognized or the engagement is
otherwise concluded. Under the new revenue standard, expenses are deferred only to the extent they are explicitly
reimbursable by the client and the related revenue is recognized when all performance obligations are met. All other
investment banking advisory related expenses are expenses as incurred.

•

Investment Banking Underwriting and Advisory Expenses. Expenses have historically been recorded net of client
reimbursements and/or netted against revenue. Under the new revenue standard, all investment banking expenses will
be recognized within their respective expense category on the income statement and any expense reimbursements will
be recognized as investment banking revenues (i.e., expenses are no longer recorded net of client reimbursements and
are not netted against revenue).
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The new revenue standard requires enhanced disclosures, which are included in Note 21 to the Company's consolidated
financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2019.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which supersedes the existing guidance for lease
accounting, Leases (Topic 840). ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize leases on their balance sheets, and leaves lessor
accounting largely unchanged. The recognition of these lease assets and lease liabilities represents a change from previous U.S.
GAAP requirements, which did not require lease assets and lease liabilities to be recognized for most leases. The recognition,
measurement, and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee, have not significantly changed from
previous U.S. GAAP requirements. The amendments in this ASU are effective for the Company beginning October 1, 2019 and
interim periods within those fiscal years. As of September 30, 2019, the Company has identified its arrangements that are
within the scope of the new guidance and has evaluated its portfolio of leases, which is primarily comprised of operating real
estate leases for its respective offices. The Company adopted the package of practical expedients and will recognize the right to
use lease assets and related lease liabilities as of the adoption date using FASB's modified retrospective approach. Prior period
information will not be restated.
On adoption, the Company currently expects to recognize right-of-use assets and corresponding liabilities ranging from
approximately $16,000,000 to $17,000,000 on the Company's consolidated statements of financial condition on its leases, with
terms greater than twelve months. Adoption of the standard will not materially impact the Company's consolidated statements
of operations or consolidated statements of cash flows.
The company does not believe the new standard will have a material impact on its liquidity. This expectation may change as the
Company's assessment is finalized.
The Company is in the process of evaluating changes to its business processes, systems and controls needed to support
recognition and disclosure under the new standard. Further, the Company is continuing to assess any incremental disclosures
that will be required in the Company's consolidated financial statements.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) - Classification of Certain Cash
Receipts and Cash Payments”. ASU 2016-15 reduces the diversity of how certain cash receipts and cash payments are
presented and classified in the statement of cash flows under Topic 230, Statement of Cash Flows, and other Topics. The
standard was effective for the Company beginning October 1, 2018 for both interim and annual periods. The Company adopted
ASU No. 2016-15 as of October 1, 2018. The adoption of this update did not impact the Company's consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) - Restricted Cash”. ASU 2016-18
reduces the diversity in the presentation of restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents in the statement. The statement
requires that restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents be included as components of total cash and cash equivalents as
presented on the statement of cash flows. The standard was effective for the Company beginning October 1, 2018 for both
interim and annual periods. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-18 as of October 1, 2018. The adoption of this update did
not materially impact the Company's consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of
a Business”. The amendments in this update is to clarify the definition of a business with the objective of adding guidance to
assist entities with evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or
businesses. The definition of a business affects many areas of accounting including acquisitions, disposals, goodwill, and
consolidation. The standard was effective for the Company beginning October 1, 2018 for both interim and annual periods. The
Company adopted ASU 2017-01 as of October 1, 2018. Upon adoption of ASU 2017-01, there was no significant impact to the
Company's consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, “Scope of Modification Accounting”. This ASU clarifies when changes to the
terms or conditions of a share-based payment award must be accounted for as modifications. Under the new guidance,
modification accounting is required only if the fair value, the vesting conditions, or the classification of the award (as equity or
liability) changes as a result of the change in terms or conditions. The standard was effective for the Company beginning
October 1, 2018 for both interim and annual periods. The Company adopted ASU No. 2017-09 as of October 1, 2018. The
adoption of this update did not impact the Company's consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, “Compensation - Stock Compensation: Improvements to Nonemployee ShareBased Payment Accounting”. This ASU simplifies the accounting for share-based payments granted to nonemployees by
aligning the accounting with the requirements for employee share-based compensation. The standard is effective for the
Company beginning October 1, 2019 for both interim and annual periods. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not
anticipate that the adoption of ASU 2018-07 will have a material impact on its financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement - Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for the Fair Value Measurement,” which removes or modifies certain current disclosures, and adds additional
disclosures. The changes are meant to provide more relevant information regarding valuation techniques and inputs used to
arrive at measures of fair value, uncertainty in the fair value measurements, and how changes in fair value measurements
impact an entity's performance and cash flows. Certain disclosures in ASU 2018-13 will need to be applied on a retrospective
basis and others on a prospective basis. The standard is effective for the Company beginning October 1, 2020 for both interim
and annual periods. Early adoption is permitted. The company is currently assessing the impact that the adoption of ASU
2018-13 will have on its financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, “Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud
Computing Arrangement that is a Service Contract”. The guidance on the accounting for implementation, setup, and other
upfront costs (collectively referred to as implementation costs) applies to entities that are a customer in a hosting arrangement
that is a service contract. The amendments align the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting
arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain
internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license). The accounting for the service
element of a hosting arrangement that is a service contract is not affected by the guidance in this ASU. The standard is effective
for the Company beginning October 1, 2020, should be applied either retrospectively or prospectively to all implementation
costs incurred after the date of adoption, and early adoption is permitted. The company early adopted ASU 2018-15 in 2019.
The adoption of this update did not materially impact the Company's consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
Market Risk
Our primary market risk arises from the fact that we engage in proprietary trading and make dealer markets in equity securities.
Accordingly, we may maintain certain amounts of inventories in order to facilitate customer order flow. We may incur losses as
a result of price movements in these inventories due to changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and other
political factors. We are not subject to direct market risk due to changes in foreign exchange rates. However, we are subject to
market risk as a result of changes in interest rates and equity prices, which are affected by global economic conditions. We
manage our exposure to market risk by limiting our net long or short positions. Trading and inventory accounts are monitored
daily by management and we have instituted position limits.
Credit risk represents the amount of accounting loss we could incur if counterparties to our proprietary transactions fail to
perform and the value of any collateral proves inadequate. Although credit risk relating to various financing activities is
reduced by the industry practice of obtaining and maintaining collateral, we maintain more stringent requirements to further
reduce our exposure. We monitor our exposure to counterparty risk on a daily basis by using credit exposure information and
monitoring collateral values. Our clearing firms, in conjunction with our risk department, review margin requirements for large
or concentrated accounts and sets higher requirements or requires a reduction of either the level of margin debt or investment in
high-risk securities or, in some cases, requiring the transfer of the account to another broker-dealer.
We monitor our market and credit risks daily through internal control procedures designed to identify and evaluate the various
risks to which we are exposed. There can be no assurance, however, that our risk management procedures and internal controls
will prevent losses from occurring as a result of such risks.
The following table shows the fair values of our securities owned and securities sold, but not yet purchased as of September 30,
2019, 2018 and 2017. We performed an entity-wide analysis of our financial instruments and assessed the related market risk.
Based on this analysis, we do not expect that the market risk associated with our financial instruments at September 30, 2019
will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

September 30, 2019
Corporate stocks
Municipal bonds
Restricted stock
Warrants
Total

Securities owned
$
6,282,000
20,000
725,000
5,454,000
$
12,481,000

Securities sold, but
not yet purchased
$
—
—
—
—
$
—

September 30, 2018
Corporate stocks
Restricted stock
Warrants
Total

Securities owned
$
1,084,000
670,000
6,032,000
$
7,786,000

Securities sold, but
not yet purchased
$
—
—
—
$
—

September 30, 2017
Corporate stocks
Municipal bonds
Restricted stock
Warrants
Total

Securities owned
$
116,000
1,239,000
82,000
5,665,000
$
7,102,000

Securities sold, but
not yet purchased
$
—
151,000
—
—
$
151,000

41

Operational Risk
Operational risk generally refers to the risk of loss resulting from our operations, including, but not limited to, improper or
unauthorized execution and processing of transactions, deficiencies in our technology or financial operating systems and
inadequacies or breaches in our control processes. We operate in a dynamic market and are reliant on the ability of our
employees and systems to process a large number of transactions. These risks are less direct and quantifiable than credit and
market risk, but managing them is critical, particularly in a rapidly changing environment with increasing transaction volumes.
In the event of a breakdown or improper operation of systems or improper action by employees, we could suffer financial loss,
regulatory sanctions and damage to our reputation. Business continuity plans exist for critical systems, and redundancies are
built into the systems as deemed appropriate. In order to mitigate and control operational risk, we have developed and continue
to enhance specific policies and procedures that are designed to identify and manage operational risk at appropriate levels
throughout our organization and within various departments. These control mechanisms attempt to ensure that operational
policies and procedures are being followed and that our employees operate within established corporate policies and limits.
Risk Management
We have established various committees to oversee the management of risks associated with our business. Our Audit
Committee was established for the primary purpose of overseeing (i) the integrity of our unaudited and audited condensed
consolidated financial statements, (ii) our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements that may impact our unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements or financial operations, (iii) the independent auditor’s qualifications and
independence and (iv) the performance of our independent auditor and internal audit function.
In addition, we have written policies and procedures that govern the conduct of business by our employees and our relationship
with our clients. Our client policies address the extension of credit for client accounts, data and physical security, compliance
with industry regulation and codes of ethics to govern employee conduct among other matters.
Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Our financial statements and the notes thereto, included in Part IV, Item 15(a)(1), are incorporated by reference into this Item 8.
Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
None.
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Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures:
Disclosure controls and procedures are our controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required
to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act, are recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time period specified by the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure and control procedures are also designed to
ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) required by the Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(b) or 15d-15(b), our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial
Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were
adequate and effective to ensure that material information relating to us and our consolidated subsidiaries would be made
known to them by others within those entities.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting:
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting as defined
in Rules 13 a-15(f) of the Exchange Act.
Our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal controls over financial reporting, as of
September 30, 2019, based on the framework and criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework, issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. This evaluation included review of the documentation
of controls, evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls, testing of the operating effectiveness of controls and a conclusion
on this evaluation. Based on this evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded that our
internal controls over financial reporting were effective as of September 30, 2019.
Management believes that a controls system, no matter how well designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance that
the objectives of the controls system are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control
issues and instances of fraud, if any, within a company have been detected.
This management report on internal control over financial reporting shall not be deemed to be filed for purposes of Section 18
of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that Section.
This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report from our registered public accounting firm regarding
internal control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting
firm pursuant to SEC rules that permit us to provide only management’s report in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting:
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2019 identified
in connection with the evaluation thereof by our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
There is no other information to be disclosed by us during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019 that has not been reported on
a current report on Form 8-K.
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PART III
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement for our 2020 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement for our 2020 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement for our 2020 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement for our 2020 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement for our 2020 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)
1.

The following financial statements are included in Part II, Item 8:
Financial Statements
Reports of Independent Registered Accounting Firms
Consolidated Financial Statements:
Statements of Financial Condition, September 30, 2019 and 2018
Statements of Operations for the Years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017
Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the Years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017
Statements of Cash Flows for the Years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.

Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable or have been included in notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
(b)

See Exhibit Index.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
NATIONAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION
(Registrant)
Date: December 30, 2019

Date: December 30, 2019

By:

/s/Michael A. Mullen
Michael A. Mullen
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Glenn C. Worman
Glenn C. Worman
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Date: December 30, 2019

/s/ Robert B. Fagenson
Robert B. Fagenson,
Vice Chairman of the Board

Date: December 30, 2019

/s/ Michael E. Singer
Michael E. Singer,
Executive Vice Chairman of the Board

Date: December 30, 2019

/s/ Daniel Hume
Daniel Hume,
Director

Date: December 30, 2019

/s/ Barbara Creagh
Barbara Creagh,
Director

Date: December 30, 2019

/s/ Jeff Gary
Jeff Gary,
Director

Date: December 30, 2019

/s/ Nassos Michas
Nassos Michas,
Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX
2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 27, 2016, by and among the Company, Fortress Biotech, Inc.
and FBIO Acquisition, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on April 28, 2016; File No. 001-12629).

2.2

Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among the Company, Fortress Biotech, Inc. and
FBIO Acquisition, Inc., dated August 12, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 12, 2016; File No. 001-12629).

3.1

The Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, dated as of February 1, 2017 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 1, 2017; File No.
001-12629).

3.2(a)

The Company’s Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on February 13, 2002; File No. 001-12629).

3.2(b)

Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on December 23, 2014, File No. 001-12629)

3.2(c)

Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2016; file No. 001-12629).

4.1

Form of Warrant, dated July 12, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on July 14, 2010; File No. 001-12629).

4.2

Form of Warrant, dated September 29, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.10 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 5, 2010; File No. 001-12629).

10.1(a)

2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as Amended and Restated (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the
Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on February 25, 2019)

10.1(b)*

Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 (c) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on December 21, 2018; File No. 001-12629).

10.1(c)*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 (d) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on December 21, 2018; File No.
001-12629).

10.2*

Nonqualified Stock Option and Dividend Equivalent Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2013, between National
Holdings Corporation and Robert B. Fagenson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on December 29, 2014; File No. 001-12629).

10.3*

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of December 28, 2018 between National Holdings
Corporation and Michael A. Mullen.

10.4(a)*

Employment Agreement, dated as of December 28, 2018 between National Holdings Corporation and Glenn C.
Worman.

10.4(b)*

Nonqualified Inducement Stock Option Grant Notice, dated as of May 7, 2015, between National Holdings
Corporation and Glenn C. Worman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on May 13, 2015; File No. 001-12629).
Stock Option Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2015, between National Holdings Corporation and Glenn C.
Worman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May
13, 2015; File No. 001-12629).

10.4(c)*

10.5

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 12, 2010 by and between National Holdings Corporation and
the investors signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on July 14, 2010; File No. 001-12629).

10.6

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of January 24, 2013, by and among National Holdings Corporation and
the purchasers signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K/A filed on January 31, 2013; File No.001-12629).

10.7

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 28, 2013, by and among National Holdings Corporation and
the purchasers signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on August 29, 2013; File No. 001-12629).

10.8

Stockholder Rights Agreement, dated as of April 27, 2016, by and between National Holdings Corporation and
FBIO Acquisition, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8K filed on April 28, 2016; File No. 001-12629).
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10.9

Form of Support and Voting Agreement by and among certain officers and directors (and certain of their
affiliates) of National Holdings Corporation, Fortress Biotech, Inc., and FBIO Acquisition, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 28, 2016; File No.
001-12629).

10.10

Form of Voting Agreement by and among certain officers and directors (and certain of their affiliates) of National
Holdings Corporation, Fortress Biotech, Inc., and FBIO Acquisition, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 28, 2016; File No. 001-12629).

10.11

Warrant Agreement, dated December 13, 2016, between and among National Holdings Corporation,
Computershare Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on December 20, 2016; File No. 333-214791).

10.12

Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement by and among National Holdings Corporation, Computershare Inc.
and Computershare Trust Company, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on March 16, 2018; File No. 001-12629).

10.13

Agreement between the Registrant and B. Riley Financial, Inc. dated November 14, 2018 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 20, 2018; File No.
001-12629)

10.14*

Employment Agreement, dated as of December 28, 2018 between National Holdings Corporation and John C.
DeSena.

10.15

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 26, 2019, by and among the Sellers named therein, Daniel
Santanello, Robert Maloney and National Holdings Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 29, 2019; File No. 001-12629).

10.16

Amendment No. 1 to Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2019, by and among Daniel
Santanello, Robert Maloney and National Holdings Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 17, 2019; File No. 001-12629).

21

*

Subsidiaries of Registrant.

23.1

Consent of EisnerAmper LLP.

23.2

Consent of BDO USA LLP.

31.1

Chief Executive Officer’s Certificate pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2

Chief Financial Officer’s Certificate pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1

Chief Executive Officer’s Certificate pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2

Chief Financial Officer’s Certificate pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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F-1

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
National Holdings Corporation
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial condition of National Holdings Corporation and
Subsidiaries (the “Company") as of September 30, 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In
our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company
as of September 30, 2019, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error
or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion.
Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.
EISNERAMPER LLP
New York, New York
December 30, 2019

F-2

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors and Stockholders
National Holdings Corporation
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of National Holdings Corporation and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of September 30, 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows
for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at
September 30, 2018, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the period ended September 30, 2018, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered
with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal
control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/BDO USA, LLP
BDO USA, LLP
New York, New York
December 21, 2018

F-3

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
National Holdings Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows of
National Holdings Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company") for the year ended September 30, 2017. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit
of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
results of operations and cash flows of National Holdings Corporation and subsidiaries for the year ended September 30, 2017,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
EISNERAMPER LLP
New York, New York
December 22, 2017
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NATIONAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
September 30,
2019
2018
ASSETS
Cash
Restricted cash
Cash deposits with clearing organizations
Securities owned, at fair value
Receivables from broker dealers and clearing organizations
Forgivable loans receivable
Other receivables, net
Prepaid expenses
Fixed assets, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Deferred tax asset, net
Other assets
Total Assets

$ 30,443,000
960,000
436,000
12,481,000
3,490,000
1,834,000
5,672,000
3,639,000
5,067,000
5,441,000
5,153,000
4,560,000
2,031,000
$ 81,207,000

$ 27,920,000
1,353,000
336,000
7,786,000
3,967,000
1,567,000
4,265,000
4,065,000
2,671,000
4,730,000
5,153,000
4,192,000
444,000
$ 68,449,000

18,590,000
10,263,000
367,000
388,000
29,608,000

12,862,000
8,019,000
576,000
57,000
21,514,000

—

—

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities
Accrued commissions and payroll payable
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses
Deferred clearing and marketing credits
Other
Total Liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 13)
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized; none outstanding
Common stock $0.02 par value, authorized 75,000,000 shares at September 30, 2019 and
2018; 13,158,441 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2019 and 12,541,890
shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2018
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated deficit
Total National Holdings Corporation Stockholders’ Equity
Non-controlling interest
Total Stockholders’ Equity
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

263,000
90,354,000
(40,779,000)

250,000
86,510,000
(39,825,000)

49,838,000

46,935,000

1,761,000
51,599,000

—
46,935,000

$ 81,207,000

$ 68,449,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

2019
Revenues
Commissions
Net dealer inventory (losses) gains
Investment banking
Investment advisory
Interest and dividends
Transfer fees and clearing services
Tax preparation and accounting
Other
Total Revenues

$

Operating Expenses
Commissions, compensation and fees
Clearing fees
Communications
Occupancy
Licenses and registration
Professional fees
Interest
Depreciation and amortization
Other administrative expenses
Total Operating Expenses
Income before Other Income (Expense) and Income Taxes

Years Ended September 30,
2018
2017

86,929,000 $ 109,984,000
(1,466,000)
3,329,000
69,656,000
57,201,000
34,400,000
21,483,000
5,822,000
3,233,000
8,092,000
7,200,000
8,807,000
7,772,000
701,000
913,000
212,941,000
211,115,000

177,824,000
2,437,000
2,816,000
4,301,000
2,960,000
7,306,000
32,000
1,832,000
11,333,000
210,841,000
2,100,000

$

96,807,000
15,108,000
44,385,000
14,738,000
2,764,000
7,393,000
7,439,000
1,236,000
189,870,000

182,127,000
2,400,000
3,260,000
3,755,000
2,735,000
4,306,000
97,000
1,551,000
8,165,000
208,396,000
2,719,000

155,187,000
2,343,000
2,767,000
4,286,000
1,726,000
4,531,000
14,000
1,229,000
9,819,000
181,902,000
7,968,000

Other Income (Expense)
Gain on disposal of Gilman branches
Change in fair value of warrants
Other income
Total Other Income (Expense)
Income (Loss) before Income Taxes

—
—
60,000
60,000
2,160,000

57,000
(11,194,000)
96,000
(11,041,000)
(8,322,000)

137,000
8,458,000
16,000
8,611,000
16,579,000

Income tax expense
Net Income (Loss)

319,000
1,841,000

3,188,000
(11,510,000) $

4,051,000
12,528,000

$

Net income attributable to non-controlling interest
Net income (loss) attributable to National Holdings Corporation
common shareholders
Net income (loss) per share attributable to National Holdings
Corporation common shareholders - Basic
Net income (loss) per share attributable to National Holdings
Corporation common shareholders - Diluted
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - Basic
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - Diluted

$

(2,660,000)

—

$

(819,000) $

(11,510,000) $

12,528,000

$

(0.06) $

(0.92) $

1.01

$

(0.06) $

(0.92) $

1.00

12,821,581
12,821,581

12,474,753
12,474,753

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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—

12,437,916
12,472,541

NATIONAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2019, 2018 AND 2017

248,000

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$ 66,353,000

Common Stock
Shares
BALANCE, September 30, 2016

$

12,437,916

$

NonAccumulated
controlling
Deficit
Interest
$ (40,843,000) $
15,000

Stockholders’
Equity
$ 25,773,000

Stock – based compensation for stock options

—

—

602,000

—

—

602,000

Net income

—

—

—

12,528,000

—

12,528,000

12,437,916

248,000

66,955,000

15,000

38,903,000

—

—

2,913,000

—

—

2,913,000

1,489

—

5,000

—

—

5,000

102,485

2,000

—

—

Warrant liability reclassification

—

—

16,791,000

—

—

Deconsolidation of subsidiary

—

—

—

—

Net loss

—

—

—

(11,510,000)

—

(11,510,000)

12,541,890

250,000

86,510,000

(39,825,000)

—

46,935,000

—

—

—

(135,000)

—

12,541,890

250,000

86,510,000

(39,960,000)

—

46,800,000

Issuance of shares of common stock for warrant exercises

38

—

—

—

—

—

Stock – based compensation for restricted stock units

—

—

4,282,000

—

—

4,282,000

616,513

13,000

—

—

Distributions to non-controlling interest

—

—

—

Net income (loss)

—

—

—

263,000

$ 90,354,000

BALANCE, September 30, 2017
Stock – based compensation for restricted stock units
Issuance of shares of common stock for warrant exercises
Issuance of shares of common stock with respect to vested restricted
stock units, net of 48,140 shares valued at $152,000 tendered for tax
withholding

BALANCE, September 30, 2018
Cumulative effect of adoption of ASC 606 (Note 21)
BALANCE, October 1, 2018

Issuance of shares of common stock with respect to restricted stock
units and awards, net of 144,269 shares valued at $425,000 tendered
for tax withholding

BALANCE, September 30, 2019

13,158,441

$

(28,315,000)

(154,000)

(438,000)

—
(819,000)
$ (40,779,000) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
F-7

(15,000)

(899,000)

(152,000)
16,791,000
(15,000)

(135,000)

(425,000)
(899,000)

2,660,000

1,841,000

1,761,000

$ 51,599,000

NATIONAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss)

$

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of forgivable loans
Stock-based compensation
Provision (recovery) for doubtful accounts
Deferred tax (benefit) expense
Amortization of deferred clearing and marketing credit
Increase in fair value of contingent consideration
Impairment of intangible assets
Impairment of goodwill
Gain on disposal of Gilman branches
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary

Years Ended September 30,
2018
2017

1,841,000

$ (11,510,000) $ 12,528,000

—
1,832,000
680,000
4,282,000
(216,000)
(368,000)
(209,000)
65,000
—
—
—
—

11,194,000
1,551,000
630,000
2,913,000
5,000
2,228,000
(210,000)
24,000
—
—
(57,000)
(15,000)

(8,458,000)
1,229,000
693,000
602,000
(191,000)
2,538,000
(209,000)
28,000
50,000
961,000
(137,000)
—

Changes in assets and liabilities
Cash deposits with clearing organizations
Receivables from broker dealers and clearing organizations
Forgivable loans receivable
Other receivables, net
Securities owned, at fair value
Prepaid expenses
Other assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Securities sold, but not yet purchased at fair value
Net cash provided by operating activities

(100,000)
477,000
(1,052,000)
(1,200,000)
(4,695,000)
426,000
(629,000)
6,542,000
—
7,676,000

705,000
(1,117,000)
(581,000)
976,000
(684,000)
(1,575,000)
(91,000)
1,025,000
(151,000)
5,260,000

(11,000)
507,000
(597,000)
1,117,000
(4,745,000)
(580,000)
(8,000)
(882,000)
(147,000)
4,288,000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of businesses
Acquisition of intangible asset
Purchase of fixed assets
Collection on notes receivable - disposal of National Tax branches
Net cash used in investing activities

(387,000)
—
(2,744,000)
114,000
(3,017,000)

(187,000)
(45,000)
(419,000)
93,000
(558,000)

(19,000)
—
(1,432,000)
46,000
(1,405,000)

(425,000)
(223,000)
(365,000)
—
(617,000)
(899,000)
(2,529,000)
2,130,000

(152,000)
—
—
5,000
(171,000)
—
(318,000)
4,384,000

—
—
—
—
(42,000)
—
(42,000)
2,841,000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repurchase of common stock for tax withholding
Principal payments under capital lease obligations
Principal payments under Finance obligations
Proceeds from warrant exercises
Contingent consideration payments
Distributions to non-controlling interest
Net cash used in financing activities
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH
CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH BALANCE
Beginning of the year
End of the year

29,273,000
$ 31,403,000

24,889,000
$ 29,273,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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22,048,000
$ 24,889,000

NATIONAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended September 30,
2019
2018
2017
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest
Income taxes, net of refunds
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NONCASH INVESTING AND
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Fixed assets (acquired but not paid including capital leases of $509,000
in 2018)
Finance obligation (related asset included in other assets - see Note 11)
Business acquired:
Identifiable intangible asset acquired
Contingent consideration payable
Cash paid
Sale of National Tax branches:
Notes receivable (included in other receivables)
Disposal of goodwill
Disposal of intangible assets, net
Gain on disposal of branches
Reclassification of warrant liability from debt to equity

$
$

32,000
118,000

$
53,000
$ 2,349,000

$
14,000
$ 2,399,000

$

380,000

$

519,000

$

240,000

$

958,000

$

—

$

—

$ 1,815,000 $
(1,428,000)
$ 387,000 $
$

$
$

—
—
—
—
—

767,000 $ 211,000
(580,000)
(192,000)
187,000 $
19,000

$

159,000 $ 722,000
(64,000)
(353,000)
(38,000)
(232,000)
$
57,000 $ 137,000
$ 16,791,000 $
—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017
NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
National Holdings Corporation (“National” or the “Company”), a Delaware corporation organized in 1996, operates through its
wholly-owned subsidiaries which principally provide financial services. Through its broker-dealer and investment advisory
subsidiaries, the Company (1) offers full service retail brokerage and investment advisory services to individual, corporate and
institutional clients, (2) provides investment banking, merger, acquisition and advisory services to high-growth micro-, smalland mid-cap companies and (3) trades securities, including making markets in micro- and small-cap stocks listed on the Nasdaq
Capital Market (“Nasdaq”) and other exchanges. The Company's broker-dealer subsidiary is National Securities Corporation
(“NSC”). NSC conducts a national securities brokerage business through its main offices in New York City, New York and
Boca Raton, Florida. NSC is an introducing broker and clears all transactions through clearing organizations on a fully
disclosed basis. NSC is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and is a member of the Financial
Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) and the Securities Investor Protection Corporation (the “SIPC”).
Our wholly-owned subsidiary, National Asset Management, Inc., a Washington corporation (“NAM”), is a federally-registered
investment adviser providing asset management advisory services to retail clients for a fee based upon a percentage of assets
managed.
Our wholly-owned subsidiaries, National Insurance Corporation., a Washington corporation (“National Insurance”) and Prime
Financial Services, a Delaware corporation (“Prime Financial”), provide fixed insurance products to their clients, including life
insurance, disability insurance, long-term care insurance and fixed annuities.
Our wholly-owned subsidiary, National Tax and Financial Services, Inc. (“National Tax”) formerly Gilman Ciocia, Inc.,
provides tax preparation and accounting services to individuals and small to midsize companies.
Our wholly-owned subsidiary, GC Capital Corporation (“GC”), provides licensed mortgage brokerage services in New York
and Florida.
NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The financial statements are presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“U.S. GAAP”).
Principals of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of National and its wholly owned and majority owned subsidiaries.
All significant inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Non-controlling Interest
NAM has a majority voting interest in Innovation X Management, LLC (“Innovation X”), which together serve as the
investment manager of an investment fund (see Variable Interest Entities below). Because NAM has the majority voting interest
in Innovation X, the results of operations of Innovation X are included in the Company's consolidated financial statements, and
the amount attributable to the other investor is recorded as a non-controlling interest. During the year ended September 30,
2019, Innovation X recognized net carried interest of $6,650,000, including an unrealized loss from securities received from the
investment fund and held at September 30, 2019, of which $2,660,000 was attributable to the non-controlling interest.
Variable Interest Entities
The Company has entered into agreements to provide investment banking and advisory services to numerous investment funds
(the “Funds”) that are considered variable interest entities (“VIEs”) under the accounting guidance. These Funds are established
primarily to make and manage investments in equity or convertible debt securities of privately held companies that the
Company, as investment advisory to the Funds, believes possess innovative or disruptive technologies and present opportunities
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for an initial public offering (“IPO”) or another similar liquidity event within approximately one to five years from the date of
investment. The Funds intent to hold the investments until an IPO or another similar liquidity event and then to make
distributions to its investors when contractually permitted, estimated approximately six months following such IPO or liquidity
event.
The Company earns fees from the Funds in the form of placement agent fees and carried interest. For placement agent fees, the
Company receives a cash fee of generally 7% to 10% of the amount of raised capital for the Funds and the fee is recognized at
the time the placement services occurred. The Company receives carried interest as a percentage allocation (8% to 15%) of the
profits of the Funds as compensation for asset management services provided to the Funds and it is recognized at the time of
distributions. Once fund investors have received distributions in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of their total
capital contributions, the Company as the manager of the Funds will be entitled to share in any profits of the Funds to the
extent of the carried interest. As the fee arrangements under such agreements are arm's-length and contain customary terms and
conditions and represent compensation that is considered fair value for the services provided, the fee arrangements are not
considered variable interests and accordingly, the Company does not consolidate such VIEs.
Placement agent fees attributable to such arrangements were $34,184,000 in 2019, $24,789,000 in 2018 and $16,537,000 in
2017, respectively, and included in investment banking in the consolidated statements of operations.
Carried interest is recognized and recorded at the time of distribution and all contingencies are resolved. For the year ended
September 30, 2019, $15,872,000 of carried interest has been recorded. $5,403,000 of the carried interest is related to the backend compensation of the placement agent fees and is included in investment banking in the consolidated statements of
operations. The remaining $10,469,000 is recorded as compensation for asset management services and is included in
investment advisory in the consolidated statements of operations. For the year ended September 30, 2019, an unrealized loss of
$2,389,000 has been recorded due to the change in fair value of the shares received for carried interest. The loss for the change
in fair value is included in net dealer inventory (losses) gains in the consolidated statements of operations. Carried interest
recorded in previous years was not material.
Based on the investment performance of the Funds as of September 30, 2019, unrecognized carried interest under a
hypothetical distribution was $800,000 and the related compensation expense associated was $562,000. Carried interest is
dependent on the market and will fluctuate until a distribution event occurs.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could significantly differ from those estimates.
Revenue Recognition
Commission revenue represents commissions generated by the Company’s registered representatives for their clients’ purchases
and sales of mutual funds, variable annuities, general securities and other financial products, most of which is paid to the
registered representatives as commissions for initiating the transactions.
Commission revenue is generated from front-end sales commissions that occur at the point of sale, as well as trailing
commissions. The Company recognizes front-end sales commission revenue and related clearing and other expenses on
transactions introduced to its clearing brokers on a trade date basis. The Company also recognizes front-end sales commissions
and related expenses on transactions initiated directly between the registered representatives and product sponsors upon receipt
of notification from sponsors of the commission earned. Commission revenue also includes 12b-1 fees, and variable product
trailing fees, collectively considered as trailing fees, which are recurring in nature. These trailing fees are earned by the
Company based on a percentage of the current market value of clients’ investment holdings in trail eligible assets. Because trail
commission revenues are generally paid in arrears, management estimates commission revenues earned during each period.
These estimates are based on a number of factors including investment holdings and the applicable commission rate and the
amount of trail commission revenue received in prior periods. Estimates are subsequently adjusted to actual based on
notification from the sponsors of trail commissions earned.
Net dealer inventory gains, which are recorded on a trade-date basis, include realized and unrealized net gains and losses
resulting from the Company’s principal trading activities including equity-linked warrants received from investment banking
activities.
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Investment banking revenues consist of underwriting revenues, advisory revenues and private placement fees. Underwriting
revenues arise from securities offerings in which the Company acts as an underwriter and include management fees, selling
concessions and underwriting fees. Management estimates the Company’s share of the transaction-related expenses incurred by
the syndicate. On final settlement, typically within 90 days from the trade date of the transaction, these amounts are adjusted to
reflect the actual transaction-related expenses.
Investment advisory fees are derived from account management and investment advisory services. These fees are determined
based on a percentage of the customers assets under management, may be billed monthly or quarterly and are recognized when
earned.
Interest is recorded on an accrual basis and dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date.
Transfer fees and fees for clearing services are recorded on a trade date basis.
Tax preparation and accounting fees are recognized upon completion of the services.
See Note 21 of the Company's consolidated financial statements for additional disclosures on revenue recognition from
revenues from contracts.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with US GAAP which requires the recognition of tax benefits or
expenses based on the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences between the financial statement and tax basis of its
assets and liabilities. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized as income or loss in the period that
includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that is more likely
than not to be realized.
FASB ASC 740 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements,
requiring us to determine whether a tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination, including resolution
of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. For tax positions meeting the more
likely than not threshold, the tax amount recognized in the financial statements is reduced by the largest benefit that has a
greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing authority. The Company
recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to its uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense. As of
September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company had no unrecognized tax positions.
Securities
Securities owned and securities sold, but not yet purchased, are recorded at fair value. See Note 9 for fair value measurements.
Fixed Assets, net
Fixed assets are recorded at cost net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is calculated using the
straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the related assets (See Note 10). Leasehold improvements are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, or their estimated useful lives, whichever is shorter.
Fixed assets are reviewed for impairment whenever indicators of impairment exist. In such circumstances, the Company will
estimate the future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. Future cash flows are the
future cash inflows expected to be generated by an asset less the future outflows expected to be necessary to obtain those
inflows. If the sum of the expected future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) is less than the carrying
amount of the asset, the Company will recognize an impairment loss to adjust to the fair value of the asset.
Net Income per Common Share
Basic net income per share is computed on the basis of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted
net income per share is computed on the basis of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the dilutive
effect of incremental shares of common stock potentially issuable under outstanding options, warrants and unvested restricted
stock units utilizing the treasury stock method. A reconciliation of basic and diluted common shares used in the computation of
per share data follows:
F-12

Year Ended September 30,
2019
2018
2017
12,821,581
12,474,753
12,437,916

Basic weighted-average shares
Effect of dilutive securities:
Options
Unvested restricted stock units
Diluted weighted-average shares

—
—
12,821,581

—
—
12,474,753

140
34,485
12,472,541

The following potential common share equivalents are not included in the above diluted computation because to do so would
be anti-dilutive as the instruments are out of the money:
2019
604,200
5,398,907
3,318,640
9,321,747

Options
Warrants
Restricted stock units

Year Ended September 30,
2018
2017
615,000
1,207,000
12,437,172
9,344,973 (a)
219,097
—
13,271,269
10,551,973

(a) As the warrants are out of the money, in the diluted computation, no adjustment is made to net income (loss) to eliminate the
change in fair value of the warrants.
Stock-based Compensation
The Company measures the cost of employee, officer and director services received in exchange for an award of equity
instruments including stock options and restricted stock units, based on the grant-date fair value of the award and measures the
cost of independent contractor awards based on the vesting date fair value of the award. The cost is recognized as compensation
expense over the service period, which would normally be the vesting period of the award.
Deferred Clearing and Marketing Credits
The deferred clearing credit represents a clearing fee rebate from National Financial Services (“NFS”), one of the Company’s
clearing brokers, which is being recognized pro rata as a reduction of clearing charges over the term of the clearing agreement
which expires in 2021. The clearing rebate recognized in fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017 amounted to $143,000 for each of
the three years. At September 30, 2019 and 2018, the deferred credit amounted to $250,000 and $393,000, respectively.
The deferred marketing credit represents a marketing rebate from NFS, which is being recognized pro rata as a reduction of
marketing expenses over the term of the clearing agreement which expires in 2021. The marketing rebate recognized in fiscal
years 2019, 2018 and 2017 amounted to $67,000 for each of the three years. At September 30, 2019 and 2018, the deferred
credit amounted to $117,000 and $183,000, respectively.
Reimbursement of Expenses
The Company incurs certain costs on behalf of its registered representatives including those for insurance, professional
registration, technology and information services and legal services, amongst others, which are charged back to the registered
representatives. It is the Company’s policy to record the reimbursement as a reduction of the respective operating
expense. Total reimbursements in fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017 amounted to approximately $9,793,000, $8,614,000 and
$9,941,000, respectively.
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets with finite lives, which consist of customer relationships, are being amortized over their estimated useful lives
on a straight-line basis. Such intangible assets are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Company assesses the recoverability of its intangible assets by
determining whether the unamortized balance can be recovered over the assets’ remaining estimated useful life through
undiscounted estimated future cash flows. If undiscounted estimated future cash flows indicate that the unamortized amounts
will not be recovered, an adjustment will be made to reduce such amounts to fair value based on estimated future cash flows
discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk associated with achieving such cash flows. Estimated future cash flows are
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based on trends of historical performance and the Company’s estimate of future performance, giving consideration to existing
and anticipated competitive and economic conditions.
Brand names are deemed to have an indefinite life, are not subject to amortization and are tested for impairment annually, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. Brand names are tested for
impairment by comparing their fair value to their carrying amount. If the carrying amount exceeds fair value, an impairment
loss is recognized for the excess (see Note 6).
Goodwill
Goodwill is not subject to amortization and is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value
of the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level. Fair value of a reporting
unit is typically based upon estimated future cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved or marketbased comparables. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s net assets exceeds its fair value, then an analysis will be
performed to compare the implied fair value of goodwill with the carrying amount of goodwill. An impairment loss will be
recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the carrying amount over its implied fair value. After an impairment loss is
recognized, the adjusted carrying amount of goodwill is its new accounting basis. Accounting guidance on the testing of
goodwill for impairment allows entities testing goodwill for impairment, the option of performing a qualitative assessment to
determine the likelihood of goodwill impairment and whether it is necessary to perform such two-step impairment test.
Under Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2017-04, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test
for Goodwill Impairment, step 2 of the goodwill impairment test has been eliminated. Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test
required companies to determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill. Under the new standard, an entity
recognizes an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however
the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The standard is effective for
the Company beginning October 1, 2020 for both interim and annual periods. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual
goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The Company early adopted this standard for the
annual test performed after January 1, 2017. See Note 5.
Cash and Restricted Cash
The Company has defined cash as cash held at financial institutions and highly liquid investments with original maturities of
less than three months that are not held for sale in the ordinary course of business. Cash held at financial institutions, at times,
may exceed the amount insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.
Restricted cash consists of deposits collateralizing letters of credits in connections with property leases. Cash and restricted
cash consist of the following:
September 30,
2019
2018
30,443,000
27,920,000
960,000
1,353,000
31,403,000
29,273,000

Cash
Restricted cash

Receivables From Broker Dealers and Clearing organizations
Receivables from broker dealers and clearing organizations represent net amounts due for fees and commissions associated
with the Company’s retail brokerage business.
Forgivable Loans
Forgivable Loans represent loans to primarily newly recruited independent financial advisors as an incentive for their
affiliation. The notes receivable balance is comprised of unsecured non-interest-bearing and interest-bearing loans (interest
ranging up to 9%). These forgivable loans are amortized over time, and the amortization is included in Commissions,
compensation and fees within the Statement of Operations. The Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts on the
notes based on historical collection experience and continually evaluates the receivables for collectability and possible writeoffs where a loss is deemed probable.
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NOTE 3. NEW ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU“) 2014-09,
Revenue From Contracts With Customers (Topic 606) which creates a single, principle-based model for revenue recognition
and expands and improves disclosures about revenue. The new guidance was effective for the Company beginning October 1,
2018, and was adopted using a modified retrospective approach. The Company adopted the new revenue standard on October
1, 2018 and recognized a decrease of $135,000 to retained earnings as the cumulative effect of adoption of this accounting
change. The impact of adoption is primarily related to the Company’s investment banking advisory fees that were recognized as
of September 30, 2018 under the previously existing accounting guidance, which would have been deferred in prior periods
under the new revenue standard. Accordingly, the new revenue standard will be applied prospectively in the Company’s
financial statements from October 1, 2018 forward and reported financial information for historical comparable periods will not
be revised and will continue to be reported under the accounting standards in effect during those historical periods. Further, the
adoption of ASU 2014-09 did not have a material impact on the Company’s revenue.
The new revenue guidance does not apply to revenue associated with financial instruments, including the Company’s warrants
and securities that are accounted for under other US GAAP, and as a result, did not have an impact on the elements of the
statements of operations most closely associated with financial instruments. The new revenue standard primarily impacts the
following of the Company’s revenue recognition and presentation accounting policies:
•

Investment Banking Revenues. Advisory fees from mergers and acquisitions engagements are recognized at the point
in time when the related transaction is completed, as the performance obligation is to successfully broker a specific
transaction.

•

Investment Banking Advisory Expenses. Historically, expenses associated with investment banking advisory
assignments were deferred until reimbursed by the client, the related fee revenue is recognized or the engagement is
otherwise concluded. Under the new revenue standard, expenses are deferred only to the extent they are explicitly
reimbursable by the client and the related revenue is recognized when all performance obligations are met. All other
investment banking advisory related expenses are expenses as incurred.

•

Investment Banking Underwriting and Advisory Expenses. Expenses have historically been recorded net of client
reimbursements and/or netted against revenue. Under the new revenue standard, all investment banking expenses will
be recognized within their respective expense category on the income statement and any expense reimbursements will
be recognized as investment banking revenues (i.e., expenses are no longer recorded net of client reimbursements and
are not netted against revenue).

The new revenue standard requires enhanced disclosures, which are included in Note 21 to the Company's consolidated
financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2019.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which supersedes the existing guidance for lease
accounting, Leases (Topic 840). ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize leases on their balance sheets, and leaves lessor
accounting largely unchanged. The recognition of these lease assets and lease liabilities represents a change from previous U.S.
GAAP requirements, which did not require lease assets and lease liabilities to be recognized for most leases. The recognition,
measurement, and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee, have not significantly changed from
previous U.S. GAAP requirements. The amendments in this ASU are effective for the Company beginning October 1, 2019 and
interim periods within those fiscal years. As of September 30, 2019, the Company has identified its arrangements that are
within the scope of the new guidance and has evaluated its portfolio of leases, which is primarily comprised of operating real
estate leases for its respective offices. The Company adopted the package of practical expedients and will recognize the right to
use lease assets and related lease liabilities as of the adoption date using FASB's modified retrospective approach. Prior period
information will not be restated.
On adoption, the Company currently expects to recognize right-of-use assets and corresponding liabilities ranging from
approximately $16,000,000 to $17,000,000 on the Company's consolidated statements of financial condition on its leases, with
terms greater than twelve months. Adoption of the standard will not materially impact the Company's consolidated statements
of operations or consolidated statements of cash flows.
The company does not believe the new standard will have a material impact on its liquidity. This expectation may change as the
Company's assessment is finalized.
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The Company is in the process of evaluating changes to its business processes, systems and controls needed to support
recognition and disclosure under the new standard. Further, the Company is continuing to assess any incremental disclosures
that will be required in the Company's consolidated financial statements.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) - Classification of Certain Cash
Receipts and Cash Payments”. ASU 2016-15 reduces the diversity of how certain cash receipts and cash payments are
presented and classified in the statement of cash flows under Topic 230, Statement of Cash Flows, and other Topics. The
standard was effective for the Company beginning October 1, 2018 for both interim and annual periods. The Company adopted
ASU No. 2016-15 as of October 1, 2018. The adoption of this update did not impact the Company's consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) - Restricted Cash”. ASU 2016-18
reduces the diversity in the presentation of restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents in the statement. The statement
requires that restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents be included as components of total cash and cash equivalents as
presented on the statement of cash flows. The standard was effective for the Company beginning October 1, 2018 for both
interim and annual periods. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-18 as of October 1, 2018. The adoption of this update did
not materially impact the Company's consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of
a Business”. The amendments in this update is to clarify the definition of a business with the objective of adding guidance to
assist entities with evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or
businesses. The definition of a business affects many areas of accounting including acquisitions, disposals, goodwill, and
consolidation. The standard was effective for the Company beginning October 1, 2018 for both interim and annual periods. The
Company adopted ASU 2017-01 as of October 1, 2018. Upon adoption of ASU 2017-01, there was no significant impact to the
Company's consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, “Scope of Modification Accounting”. This ASU clarifies when changes to the
terms or conditions of a share-based payment award must be accounted for as modifications. Under the new guidance,
modification accounting is required only if the fair value, the vesting conditions, or the classification of the award (as equity or
liability) changes as a result of the change in terms or conditions. The standard was effective for the Company beginning
October 1, 2018 for both interim and annual periods. The Company adopted ASU No. 2017-09 as of October 1, 2018. The
adoption of this update did not impact the Company's consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, “Compensation - Stock Compensation: Improvements to Nonemployee ShareBased Payment Accounting”. This ASU simplifies the accounting for share-based payments granted to nonemployees by
aligning the accounting with the requirements for employee share-based compensation. The standard is effective for the
Company beginning October 1, 2019 for both interim and annual periods. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not
anticipate that the adoption of ASU 2018-07 will have a material impact on its financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement - Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for the Fair Value Measurement,” which removes or modifies certain current disclosures, and adds additional
disclosures. The changes are meant to provide more relevant information regarding valuation techniques and inputs used to
arrive at measures of fair value, uncertainty in the fair value measurements, and how changes in fair value measurements
impact an entity's performance and cash flows. Certain disclosures in ASU 2018-13 will need to be applied on a retrospective
basis and others on a prospective basis. The standard is effective for the Company beginning October 1, 2020 for both interim
and annual periods. Early adoption is permitted. The company is currently assessing the impact that the adoption of ASU
2018-13 will have on its financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, “Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud
Computing Arrangement that is a Service Contract”. The guidance on the accounting for implementation, setup, and other
upfront costs (collectively referred to as implementation costs) applies to entities that are a customer in a hosting arrangement
that is a service contract. The amendments align the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting
arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain
internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license). The accounting for the service
element of a hosting arrangement that is a service contract is not affected by the guidance in this ASU. The standard is effective
for the Company beginning October 1, 2020, should be applied either retrospectively or prospectively to all implementation
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costs incurred after the date of adoption, and early adoption is permitted. The company early adopted ASU 2018-15 in 2019.
The adoption of this update did not materially impact the Company's consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
NOTE 4. BUSINESS COMBINATION, CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND DISPOSAL OF BRANCHES
Business Combinations
In October 2016, National Tax acquired certain assets of a tax preparation and accounting business that was deemed to be a
business acquisition. The consideration for the transaction consisted of a cash payment at closing of $19,000 and contingent
consideration payable in cash having a fair value of $192,000, for which a liability (included in accounts payable and accrued
expenses) was recognized based on the estimated acquisition date fair value of the potential earn-out. The earn-out is based on
revenue, as defined in the acquisition agreement, during the 36-month period following the closing up to a maximum of
$225,600. The fair value of the acquired assets totaling $211,000 was allocated to customer relationships, which is being
amortized over three years.
In October, November 2017 and March 2018, National Tax acquired certain assets of five tax preparation and accounting
businesses that were deemed to be business acquisitions. The consideration for the transactions consisted of cash payments at
closing totaling $187,000 and contingent consideration payables in cash having a fair value of $580,000, for which liabilities
(included in accounts payable and accrued expenses) were recognized based on the estimated acquisition date fair value of the
potential earn-out. The earn-outs are based on revenue, as defined in the acquisition agreements, during various period
following the closings. The fair value of the acquired assets totaling $767,000 were allocated to customer relationships, which
are being amortized over seven years.
In January and February 2019, National Tax acquired certain assets of three tax preparation and accounting businesses that per
accounting guidance were deemed to be a business combination. The consideration for the transactions consisted of cash
payments at closing totaling $387,000, and contingent consideration payable in cash having a fair value of $1,428,000, for
which liabilities (included in accounts payable and accrued expenses) were recognized based on the estimated acquisition date
fair value of the potential earn-outs. The earn-outs are based on revenue, as defined in the acquisition agreements, during
various periods following the closing. The fair values of the acquired assets totaling $1,815,000 were allocated to customer
relationships, which are being amortized over seven years.
The contingent consideration liabilities recognized in the above acquisitions were valued using an income-based approach
using unobservable inputs (Level 3) and reflects the Company’s own assumptions. The liabilities will be revalued at each
Balance Sheet date with changes therein recorded in earnings. Results of operations of the acquired businesses are included in
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations from the dates of acquisition and were not material. In addition, based
on materiality, pro forma results are not presented.
Contingent Consideration
Set below are changes in the carrying value of contingent consideration for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and
2017 related to the acquisitions:
Fair value of contingent consideration at September 30, 2016
Fair value of contingent consideration in connection with October 2017 acquisition
Payments
Change in fair value
Fair value of contingent consideration at September 30, 2017
Fair value of contingent consideration in connection with 2018 acquisitions
Payments
Change in fair value
Fair value of contingent consideration at September 30, 2018
Fair value of contingent consideration in connection with 2019 acquisitions
Payments
Change in fair value
Fair value of contingent consideration at September 30, 2019
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$

$

424,000
192,000
(42,000)
(263,000)
311,000
580,000
(171,000)
24,000
744,000
1,428,000
(617,000)
65,000
1,620,000

Disposal of National Tax Branches
In 2018, the Company sold one of its National Tax branches for a note in the aggregate principal amounts of $159,000 which,
after allocating a portion of goodwill and unamortized intangibles of $64,000 and $38,000, respectively, resulted in a gain on
disposal of $57,000. Principal and interest on the note is payable monthly over 84 months with an interest rate of 4% per
annum.
In 2017, the Company sold three of its National Tax branches for notes in the aggregate principal amounts of $722,000 which,
after allocating a portion of goodwill and unamortized intangibles of $353,000 and $232,000, respectively, resulted in a gain on
disposal of $137,000. Principal and interest on the notes is payable monthly over 83 to 95 months with a weighted average
interest rate of 3% per annum.
Notes receivable outstanding at September 30, 2019 and 2018 amounts to $665,000 and $746,000, respectively, which is
included in other receivables in the statements of financial condition.
NOTE 5. GOODWILL
Changes to the carrying amount of goodwill during the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:
Brokerage
and
Advisory
Services
Balance as of September 30, 2017
Reduction related to sale of National Tax branches
Impairment
Balance as of September 30, 2018
Impairment
Balance as of September 30, 2019

$

Tax and
Accounting
Services

4,451,000 $
—

$

—
4,451,000
—
4,451,000 $

766,000 $
(64,000)
—
702,000
—
702,000 $

Total
5,217,000
(64,000)
—
5,153,000
—
5,153,000

The annual quantitative impairment tests performed on September 30, 2019 and 2018 indicated no impairment of goodwill. The
fair value of the reporting unit was estimated using the guideline company method taking into consideration the market value of
the Company’s common stock.
NOTE 6. INTANGIBLES
Intangibles consisted of the following at September 30, 2019 and 2018:
September 30, 2019
Intangible asset
Customer relationships
Brand name
Software license

Cost
9,326,000
710,000
$
45,000
$ 10,081,000
$
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Accumulated
Amortization
$ 4,614,000
—
$
26,000
$ 4,640,000

Carrying
Value
$ 4,712,000
710,000
$
19,000
$ 5,441,000

Estimated
Useful Life
(years)
3-10
Indefinite
3

September 30, 2018
Intangible asset
Customer relationships
Brand name
Software license

$

$

Cost
7,511,000
710,000
45,000
8,266,000

Accumulated
Amortization
$ 3,525,000
—
11,000
$ 3,536,000

Carrying
Value
$ 3,986,000
710,000
34,000
$ 4,730,000

Estimated
Useful Life
(years)
3-10
Indefinite
3

Amortization expense for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $1,104,000, $887,000 and $790,000,
respectively.
The estimated future amortization expense of the finite lived intangible assets for the next five fiscal years and thereafter is as
follows:
Year ended September 30,
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total

$

$

1,103,000
1,092,000
1,034,000
781,000
369,000
352,000
4,731,000

NOTE 7. RECEIVABLES FROM BROKER DEALERS AND CLEARING ORGANIZATIONS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES
At September 30, 2019 and 2018, the receivables of $3,490,000 and $3,967,000, respectively, from broker-dealers and clearing
organizations represent net amounts due for commissions and fees associated with the Company’s retail brokerage business as
well as asset based fee revenue associated with the Company’s asset management advisory business.
Other receivables at September 30, 2019 and 2018 consist of the following:

Trailing fees
Accounts receivable for tax and accounting services
Allowance for doubtful accounts - tax and accounting services
Advances to registered representatives
Investment banking receivable
Advisory fees
Notes receivable (Note 4)
Other
Total
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September 30,
2019
2018
947,000
1,086,000
686,000
661,000
(282,000)
(286,000)
1,383,000
393,000
411,000
357,000
483,000
559,000
665,000
746,000
1,379,000
749,000
$ 5,672,000 $ 4,265,000

NOTE 8. FORGIVABLE LOANS RECEIVABLE
From time to time, the Company’s operating subsidiaries may make loans, evidenced by promissory notes, primarily to newly
recruited independent financial advisors as an incentive for their affiliation. The notes receivable balance is comprised of
unsecured non-interest-bearing and interest-bearing loans (weighted average interest rate of 4%). These notes have various
schedules for repayment or forgiveness based on production or retention requirements being met and mature at various dates
through 2026. Amortization of forgivable loans amounted to $680,000, $630,000 and $693,000 for the years ended
September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 respectively, and the related compensation was included in commissions, compensation
and fees in the statement of operations. In the event the advisor’s affiliation with the subsidiary terminates, the advisor is
required to repay the unamortized balance of the note. The Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts on the notes
based on historical collection experience and continually evaluates the receivables for collectability and possible write-offs
where a loss is deemed probable. As of September 30, 2019 and 2018, no allowance for doubtful accounts was required.
Forgivable loan activity for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:
Balance, September 30, 2016
Advances
Amortization
Repayments
Balance, September 30, 2017
Advances
Amortization
Balance, September 30, 2018
Advances
Amortization
Reclassification to other receivables
Balance, September 30, 2019

$

$

1,712,000
694,000
(693,000)
(97,000)
1,616,000
581,000
(630,000)
1,567,000
1,052,000
(680,000)
(105,000)
1,834,000

NOTE 9. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Authoritative accounting guidance defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and establishes a fair
value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A fair value
measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability occurs in the principal market for the asset or
liability or, in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market. Valuation techniques that are consistent with
the market or income approach are used to measure fair value.
The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. Financial assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:
Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted market prices that are observable, either directly or indirectly, and reasonably available.
Observable inputs reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability and are developed
based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company.
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs which reflect the assumptions that the Company develops based on available information about
what market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability.
The following tables present the carrying values and estimated fair values at September 30, 2019 and 2018 of financial assets
and liabilities, excluding financial instruments that are carried at fair value on a recurring basis, and information is provided on
their classification within the fair value hierarchy. Such instruments are carried at amounts that approximate fair value due to
their short-term nature and generally negligible credit risk.
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September 30, 2019
Assets
Cash
Cash deposits with clearing organizations
Receivables from broker-dealers and
clearing organizations
Forgivable loans receivable
Other Receivables, Net

Carrying Value
$

Level 1

Level 2

Total Estimated
Fair Value

30,443,000 $
436,000

30,443,000 $
436,000

— $
—

30,443,000
436,000

$

3,490,000
1,834,000
5,672,000
41,875,000 $

—
3,490,000
—
1,834,000
—
5,672,000
30,879,000 $ 10,996,000 $

3,490,000
1,834,000
5,672,000
41,875,000

$

18,590,000
8,643,000
27,233,000 $

—
18,590,000
—
8,643,000
— $ 27,233,000 $

18,590,000
8,643,000
27,233,000

Liabilities
Accrued commissions and payroll payable
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (1)

(1) Excludes contingent consideration liabilities of $1,620,000.
September 30, 2018
Assets
Cash
Cash deposits with clearing organizations
Receivables from broker-dealers and
clearing organizations
Forgivable loans receivable
Other Receivables, Net

Carrying Value
$

Level 1

Level 2

Total Estimated
Fair Value

27,920,000 $
336,000

27,920,000 $
336,000

— $
—

27,920,000
336,000

$

3,967,000
1,567,000
4,265,000
38,055,000 $

—
—
—
28,256,000 $

3,967,000
1,567,000
4,265,000
9,799,000 $

3,967,000
1,567,000
4,265,000
38,055,000

$

12,862,000
7,275,000
20,137,000 $

—
12,862,000
—
7,275,000
— $ 20,137,000 $

12,862,000
7,275,000
20,137,000

Liabilities
Accrued commissions and payroll payable
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (1)

(1) Excludes contingent consideration liabilities of $744,000.
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The following tables present the financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at September 30,
2019 and 2018.
September 30, 2019
Carrying
Value

Assets
Securities owned
Corporate stocks
Municipal bonds
Restricted stock
Warrants

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total
Estimated
Fair Value

$ 6,282,000 $ 6,282,000 $
— $
— $ 6,282,000
20,000
20,000
—
—
20,000
725,000
—
725,000
—
725,000
5,454,000
—
1,529,000
3,925,000
5,454,000
$ 12,481,000 $ 6,302,000 $ 2,254,000 $ 3,925,000 $ 12,481,000

Liabilities
Contingent consideration

1,620,000
$ 1,620,000 $

—
— $

—
1,620,000
— $ 1,620,000 $

1,620,000
1,620,000

September 30, 2018
Carrying
Value

Assets
Securities owned
Corporate stocks
Restricted stock
Warrants
$
Liabilities
Contingent consideration
$

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

1,084,000
1,084,000
—
—
670,000
670,000
6,032,000
—
2,753,000
3,279,000
7,786,000 $ 1,084,000 $ 3,423,000 $ 3,279,000 $

744,000
744,000 $

—
— $

—
— $

744,000
744,000 $

Total
Estimated
Fair Value
1,084,000
670,000
6,032,000
7,786,000

744,000
744,000

Changes in Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis for the year ended September 30, 2019:

Beginning
Net
Net Change in
Balance as of Realized
Unrealized
September
Gain or Appreciation
30, 2018
(losses) (Depreciation) Purchases

Sales

Transfer
into Level
3 (a)

Transfer
Out of
Level 3
(b)

Ending
Balance as
of
September
30, 2019

Assets
Warrants

$

3,279,000 $

— $

(73,000) $

— $

— $

883,000 $(164,000) $ 3,925,000

(a) The Company received warrants as part of investment banking transaction.
(b) Transfer out consist of a transfer to Level 2 of a warrant as the underlying security became a publicly registered security and
a warrant exercise.
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Changes in Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis for the year ended September 30, 2018:

Beginning
Balance as of
September
30, 2017

Net
Net Change in
realized
Unrealized
Gain or Appreciation
(losses) (Depreciation) Purchases

Sales

Ending
Balance as
Transfer Transfer
of
into Level Out of September
3 (a)
Level 3
30, 2018

Assets
Warrants

$

— $

— $

297,000 $

— $

— $ 2,982,000 $

— $ 3,279,000

(a) The Company received warrants as part of a transaction.
See changes in Level 3 liabilities (contingent consideration) measured at fair value on a recurring basis for the year ended
September 30, 2019 and 2018 in Note 4.
The table below presents information on the valuation techniques, significant unobservable inputs and their ranges for our financial
assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis with a significant Level 3 balance as of September 30, 2019.
Financial Instruments
Owned
Warrants

Fair Value
$3,925,000

Valuation Technique
Market Approach

Significant
Unobservable Input(s)
Discount for lack of
marketability
Volatility

Input/Range
21% - 44%
55% - 120%

The table below presents information on the valuation techniques, significant unobservable inputs and their ranges for our financial
assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis with a significant Level 3 balance as of September 30, 2018.
Financial
Instruments Owned
Warrants

Fair Value
$3,279,000

Valuation Technique
Market Approach

Significant
Unobservable
Input(s)
Discount for lack of
marketability
Volatility

Input/Range
36%
55% - 116%

Certain positions in common stock and warrants were received as compensation for investment banking services. Restricted
common stock and warrants may be freely traded only upon the effectiveness of a registration statement covering them or upon
the satisfaction of the requirements of Rule 144, including the requisite holding period. The unrealized (loss)/gain for the change
in fair value of such positions for 2019, 2018 and 2017 amounted to approximately $(2,820,000), $(2,865,000) and $5,612,000,
respectively, which is included in net dealer inventory gains.
Warrants are carried at fair value as determined by using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. This model takes into
account the underlying securities current market values, the underlying securities market volatility, the terms of the warrants,
exercise prices, and risk-free return rate. The market value of the underlying securities’ market value is discounted based on the
value of a protective put.
Debt securities are valued based on recently executed transactions.
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NOTE 10. FIXED ASSETS
Fixed assets as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, consist of the following:
September 30,
2019
2018
$ 1,835,000 $ 2,299,000
761,000
439,000
—
271,000

Equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Construction in Process
Leasehold improvements
Capital leases (primarily composed of computer equipment)

3,662,000
1,453,000
907,000
739,000
7,165,000
5,201,000
(2,098,000) (2,530,000)
$ 5,067,000 $ 2,671,000

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Fixed assets - net

Estimated Useful
Lives (in years)
3 - 5 years
5 years
N/A
Lesser of useful life or term
of lease
3 - 7 years

Depreciation expense for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $728,000, $664,000 and $439,000
respectively.
NOTE 11. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, consist of the following:
September 30,
2019
2018
$
900,000 $
448,000
239,000
411,000
125,000
240,000
296,000
370,000
292,000
335,000
1,817,000
825,000
772,000
670,000
1,620,000
744,000
4,202,000
3,976,000
$ 10,263,000 $ 8,019,000

Legal
Audit
Telecommunications
Data Services
Regulatory
Settlements
Deferred rent
Contingent consideration payable
Other
Total

At September 30, 2019, other primarily consists of $319,000 for investment banking deal expense accruals, $1,188,000 for soft
dollar accruals, $119,000 for tax return preparation fees, $595,000 for finance obligation of the annual subscription fee and
implementation costs of the new general ledger system, $380,000 for fixed assets acquired but not paid, $396,000 for rent and
$228,000 for clearing fees. At September 30, 2018, other primarily consists of $739,000 for restitution payment accrual related
to 12b-1 trailing fees, $704,000 for soft dollar accruals, $187,000 for investment banking deal expense accruals and $189,000
for sales and use tax accrual.
In December 2018, the Company entered into an agreement for 12 months to finance the annual subscription fee of the new
general ledger system in the amount of $308,000. The related asset is included in other assets in the consolidated statements of
financial condition. In January 2019, the Company entered into an agreement for 36 months to finance the implementation
costs of the new general ledger system in the amount of $650,000. The related asset is included in other assets in the
consolidated statements of financial condition.
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NOTE 12. INCOME TAXES
The Company files a consolidated federal income tax return and certain combined state and local income tax returns with its
subsidiaries. Income taxes consist of the following:
2019
Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax benefit
Total income tax expense

Federal
424,000 $
(145,000)
$
279,000 $

State
263,000 $
(223,000)
40,000 $

Total
687,000
(368,000)
319,000

Federal
$
589,000 $
$ 2,293,000 $
$ 2,882,000 $

State
371,000 $
(65,000) $
306,000 $

Total
960,000
2,228,000
3,188,000

Federal
1,074,000 $
2,126,000 $
3,200,000 $

State
439,000 $
412,000 $
851,000 $

Total
1,513,000
2,538,000
4,051,000

$

2018
Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Total income tax expense
2017
Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax expense
Total income tax expense

$
$
$

The income tax provision related to pre-tax income (loss) vary from the federal statutory rate as follows:

Statutory federal rate
State income taxes, net of federal income tax expense (benefit)
Permanent differences for tax purposes
Change in rate
Write-off of deferred tax asset attributable to change in ownership (see below)
Other

2019
(21.0)%
1.8 %
9.2 %
9.7 %
67.7 %
(3.6)%
63.8 %

Years Ended
September 30,
2018
(24.3)%
2.5 %
33.1 %
28.2 %
—%
(1.2)%
38.3 %

2017
34.0 %
3.4 %
(14.4)%
—%
—%
1.4 %
24.4 %

Significant components of the Company’s net deferred tax assets in the accompanying financial statements are as follows:
September 30,
2019
2018
Deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Net operating loss carryforwards
Contingent consideration
Stock based compensation
Accrued expenses
Accounts receivable and other receivables
Federal AMT credit carryforward
Fixed assets
Intangibles
Securities
Total deferred tax asset, net

$

$

2,967,000 $
441,000
1,481,000
1,499,000
91,000
260,000
(510,000)
(448,000)
(1,221,000)
4,560,000 $

3,673,000
203,000
938,000
1,031,000
149,000
260,000
(186,000)
(361,000)
(1,515,000)
4,192,000

At September 30, 2019, the Company had available federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $13.3 million,
which includes approximately $4.6 million resulting from the National Tax acquisition, and state net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $8.7 million that may be applied against future taxable income and expire at various dates
between 2020 and 2033.
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Due to the change in ownership discussed in Note 19, the Company’s deferred tax asset relating to the Company’s net operating
loss carry forwards will be subject to an annual limitation under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, thereby reducing
the amount of net operating loss carry forwards available to the Company to offset future taxable income. Such reduction in
2019 resulted in a write-off of deferred income tax assets of $339,000.
During the year ended September 30, 2018, the Company estimated its annual effective rate to reflect a change in the federal
statutory rate from 34% to 21%, resulting from legislation enacted on December 22, 2017. The rate change is administered
effective at the beginning of the Company's fiscal year, using a blended rate for the annual period of 24.3%. Additionally, the
Company recognized a tax expense of approximately $2,400,000 during the year ended September 30, 2018, to adjust the
Company's net deferred tax balance to reflect the new corporate tax rate. The accounting for the effects of the rate change on
deferred tax balances is complete and no provisional amounts were recorded for this item.
NOTE 13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases
The Company leases office space in various states expiring at various dates through August 2032, and as of September 30,
2019, is committed under operating leases for future minimum lease payments as shown in the table below.
In October 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to lease equipment under a capital lease for 24 months. The
equipment under the lease is collateral for the lease obligation and is included within fixed assets in the consolidated statements
of financial condition. The leased equipment is amortized on a straight line basis over 7 years. The interest rate related to the
lease obligation is 5.6 percent and the maturity date is September 2020. The capital lease obligation is included within other
liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial condition.
Fiscal Year
Ending September 30,
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments
Less: Amounts representing interest not yet incurred
Present value of capital lease obligations

Operating
Capital
Leases
Lease
$
2,975,000 $
297,000
2,991,000
—
2,459,000
—
2,304,000
—
2,109,000
—
7,450,000
—
$
20,288,000 $
297,000
10,000
$
287,000

The total amount of rent payable under the leases is recognized on a straight line basis over the term of the leases. Rental
expense under all operating leases for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $4,240,000, $4,149,000 and
$4,257,000, respectively. Sublease income under all operating subleases for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and
2017 was approximately $51,000, $558,000 and $167,000, respectively.
As of September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company and its subsidiaries had outstanding one and two, respectively, letters of
credit, which have been issued in the maximum amount of $960,000 and $1,353,000, respectively, as security for property
leases, and are collateralized by the restricted cash as reflected in the statements of financial condition.
Litigation and Regulatory Matters
The Company and its subsidiaries are defendants or respondents in various pending and threatened arbitrations, administrative
proceedings and lawsuits seeking compensatory damages. Several cases have no stated alleged damages. Claim amounts are
infrequently indicative of the actual amounts the Company will be liable for, if any. Further, the Company has a history of
collecting amounts awarded in these types of matters from its registered representatives that are still affiliated, as well as from
those that are no longer affiliated. Many of these claimants also seek, in addition to compensatory damages, punitive or treble
damages, and all seek interest, costs and fees. These matters arise in the normal course of business. The Company intends to
vigorously defend itself in these actions, and the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be determined at this time.
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On July 3, 2019, a lawsuit was filed against National Securities Corporation, National Asset Management, Inc., the Company,
the Company’s current board members and certain former board members, certain officers of the Company, John Does 1–10,
and the Company as a nominal defendant, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, captioned
Kay Johnson v. National Securities Corporation, et al., Case No. 1:19-cv-06197-LTS. The complaint presents three purported
derivative causes of action on behalf of the Company, and five causes of action by the plaintiff directly. As part of the
derivative claims, the complaint generally alleges that certain of the individual defendants failed to establish and maintain
adequate internal controls to ensure that the Board acted in accordance with its fiduciary duties to prevent and uncover alleged
legal and regulatory misconduct and wrongdoing on the part of a National officer. As part of its claims brought directly by the
plaintiff, the complaint generally alleges that certain individual and corporate defendants wrongfully terminated the
employment of the plaintiff in violation of the Dodd-Frank Act and applicable common law, or conspired to do so. The
complaint further alleges that certain corporate defendants violated the Equal Pay Act with regards to the plaintiff’s
compensation. The complaint seeks monetary damages in favor of the Company, an order directing the Company’s board
members to take actions to enhance the Company’s governance, compensatory and punitive damages in favor of the plaintiff,
and attorneys’ fees and costs. The Company has notified its insurer of the lawsuit and believes it has valid defenses to the
asserted claims of the complaint.
Liabilities for potential losses from complaints, legal actions, government investigations and proceedings are established where
management believes that it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. In
making these decisions, management bases its judgments on its knowledge of the situations, consultations with legal counsel
and its historical experience in resolving similar matters. In many lawsuits, arbitrations and regulatory proceedings, it is not
possible to determine whether a liability has been incurred or to estimate the amount of that liability until the matter is close to
resolution. However, accruals are reviewed regularly and are adjusted to reflect management’s estimates of the impact of
developments, rulings, advice of counsel and any other information pertinent to a particular matter. Because of the inherent
difficulty in predicting the ultimate outcome of legal and regulatory actions, management cannot predict with certainty the
eventual loss or range of loss related to such matters. As of September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company accrued approximately
$1,817,000 and $825,000 respectively. These amounts are included in accounts payable and other accrued expenses in the
statements of financial condition. Awards ultimately paid, if any, may be covered by the Company’s errors and omissions
insurance policy. While the Company will vigorously defend itself in these matters, and will assert insurance coverage and
indemnification to the maximum extent possible, there can be no assurance that such matters will not have a material adverse
impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Amounts charged to operations for settlements
and potential losses in fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017 were $3,008,000, $1,737,000 and $3,414,000 respectively, which is
included in other administrative expenses in the statement of operations. The Company has included in professional fees
litigation and arbitration related expenses of $2,052,000, $950,000 and $1,476,000 for fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.
NOTE 14. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share Repurchase
In August 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $2 million of the Company’s common
stock. Share repurchases, if any, will be made using a variety of methods, which may include open market purchases, privately
negotiated transactions or block trades, or any combination of such methods, in accordance with applicable insider trading and
other securities laws and regulations. The Company’s Board did not stipulate an expiration date for this repurchase and the
purchase decisions are at the discretion of the Company’s management. During the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and
2017, the Company did not repurchase any shares.
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Restricted Stock Units
A summary of the Company’s non-vested restricted stock units for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 are as
follows:

Shares
Non-vested restricted stock units at October 1, 2016
Granted
Non-vested restricted stock units at September 30, 2017
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Non-Vested restricted stock units at September 30, 2018
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Non-vested restricted stock units at September 30, 2019

—
1,250,000
1,250,000
1,295,632
(251,042)
(87,348)
2,207,242
1,810,017
(563,711)
(134,908)
3,318,640

Weighted
Average
Grant Due
Fair Value
$
—
3,054,000
3,054,000
5,250,000
(697,000)
(305,000)
7,302,000
5,400,000
(2,261,000)
(435,000)
$ 10,006,000

In 2017, the Company granted 1,250,000 restricted stock units (“RSU”) to certain of its officers and employees. RSU vest
based on service and certain performance and market conditions. The fair value of the RSU awards issued in 2017 was
$3,054,000.
In February 2018, the Company granted 363,558 RSUs to the board of directors of the Company and 52,966 RSUs to
employees of the Company. The fair value of the RSUs awards issued in February 2018 of $1,966,000 was estimated on the
grant date using the Company’s stock price as of the grant date. The RSUs awards vest upon the passage of time.
In April 2018, the Company granted 847,858 RSUs to certain employees of the Company. RSU vest based on service and
certain performance and market conditions. The fair value of the RSU awards issued in April 2018 was $3,184,000.
In July 2018, the Company granted 31,250 RSUs to an employee of the Company. The fair value of the RSU awards issued in
July 2018 of $100,000 was estimated on the grant date using the Company’s stock price as of the grant date. The RSU awards
vest upon the passage of time.
In November 2018, the Company granted 1,447,292 RSUs to certain employees of the Company. RSUs vest based on service
and certain performance and market conditions. The fair value of the RSUs awards issued in November 2018 was $4,289,000.
In February 2019, the Company granted 265,960 RSUs to certain directors and employees of the Company. RSUs vest based
on service and certain performance and market conditions. The fair value of the RSUs awards issued in February 2019 was
$843,000.
In April 2019, the Company granted 58,277 restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) to an employee of the Company. RSAs vest
based on service condition. The fair value of the RSAs issued in April 2019 was $173,000.
In July 2019, the Company granted 17,925 RSAs to an employee of the Company. RSAs vest based on service condition. The
fair value of the RSAs issued in July 2019 was $48,000.
In August 2019, the Company granted 20,563 RSAs to an employee of the Company. RSAs vest based on service condition.
The fair value of the RSAs issued in August 2019 was $47,000
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One RSU and RSA gives the right to one share of the Company’s common stock. RSU and RSAs that vest based on service and
performance are measured based on the fair values of the underlying stock on the date of grant. The Company used a Lattice
model to determine the fair value of the RSU with a market condition. Compensation with respect to RSU and RSA awards is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.
For the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized compensation expense of $4,282,000,
$2,913,000 and $602,000, respectively, related to RSUs and RSAs. At September 30, 2019, unrecognized compensation with
respect to RSUs and RSAs amounted to $5,167,000.
Stock Options
The Company’s stock option plans provide for the granting of stock options to certain key employees, directors and investment
executives. Generally, options outstanding under the Company’s stock option plan are granted at prices equal to or above the
market value of the stock on the date of grant, vest either immediately or ratably over up to five years, and expire five years
subsequent to award.
The following option activity occurred under the Company’s plan during the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017:

Outstanding at September 30, 2016
Forfeited or expired
Outstanding at September 30, 2017
Forfeited or expired
Outstanding at September 30, 2018
Forfeited or expired
Outstanding at September 30, 2019
Vested and exercisable at September 30, 2019

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
Options
Per Share
1,221,500 $
6.51
(15,500)
4.42
1,206,000 $
6.54
(594,000)
6.85
612,000
6.23
(7,800)
5.54
604,200
6.19
604,200 $
6.19

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value
Per Share
$
1.22
1.99
$
1.21
0.83
1.59
2.69
1.58
$
1.58

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term
3.31

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

2.29
3.27
2.29
2.29

$

—

There was no recognized compensation expense in 2019, 2018 or 2017.
Warrants
The following tables summarize information about warrant activity during 2019, 2018 and 2017:

Warrants
23,029
12,437,916
(21,558)
12,439,387
(1,489)
(1,471)
12,436,427
(38)
(7,037,482)
5,398,907

Outstanding at September 30, 2016
Issued
Forfeited or expired
Outstanding at September 30, 2017
Exercised
Forfeited or expired
Outstanding at September 30, 2018
Exercised
Forfeited or expired
Outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2019

(a)

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
Per Share
$
5.00
3.25
5.00
3.25
3.25
5.00
3.25
3.25
3.25
$
3.25

(a) 7,037,482 warrants held by FBIO Acquisition were forfeited due to the FBIO sale. See note 19.
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Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term
0.75
4.30
4.30

3.30

2.30

NOTE 15. NET CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS OF BROKER DEALER SUBSIDIARY
NSC is subject to the SEC’s Uniform Net Capital Rule (Rule 15c3-1), which, among other things, requires the maintenance of
minimum net capital. At September 30, 2019, NSC had net capital of $5,887,912 which was $4,887,912 in excess of its
required minimum net capital of $1,000,000. NSC is exempt from the provisions of Rule 15c3-3 since it is an introducing
broker dealer that clears all transactions on a fully disclosed basis and promptly transmits all customer funds and securities to
clearing brokers.
Advances, dividend payments and other equity withdrawals from NSC are restricted by the regulations of the SEC, and other
regulatory agencies. These regulatory restrictions may limit the amounts that a subsidiary may dividend or advance to the
Company.
NOTE 16. OFF BALANCE SHEET RISK AND CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK
The Company is engaged in trading and providing a broad range of securities brokerage and investment services to a diverse
group of retail and institutional clientele, as well as corporate finance and investment banking services to corporations and
businesses. Counterparties to the Company’s business activities include broker-dealers and clearing organizations, banks and
other financial institutions. The Company uses clearing brokers to process transactions and maintain customer accounts for the
Company on a fee basis. The Company permits the clearing firms to extend credit to its clientele secured by cash and securities
in the client’s account. The Company’s exposure to credit risk associated with the non-performance by its customers and
counterparties in fulfilling their contractual obligations can be directly impacted by volatile or illiquid trading markets, which
may impair the ability of customers and counterparties to satisfy their obligations to the Company. The Company has agreed to
indemnify the clearing brokers for losses they incur while extending credit to the Company’s clients.
It is the Company’s policy to review, as necessary, the credit standing of its customers and counterparties. Amounts due from
customers that are considered uncollectible by the clearing broker are charged back to the Company by the clearing broker
when such amounts become determinable. Upon notification of a charge back, such amounts, in total or in part, are then either
(i) collected from the customers, (ii) charged to the broker initiating the transaction and/or (iii) charged to operations, based on
the particular facts and circumstances.
The Company maintains cash in bank deposits, which, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not
experienced and does not expect to experience losses on such accounts.
A short sale involves the sale of a security that is not owned in the expectation of purchasing the same security (or a security
exchangeable) at a later date at a lower price. A short sale involves the risk of a theoretically unlimited increase in the market
price of the security that would result in a theoretically unlimited loss.
To the extent the Company invests in marketable securities, the Company is subject to various market risks related to the
portfolio.
NOTE 17. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the “Plan”). Under the Plan, employees can elect to defer up to
75% of eligible compensation, subject to certain limitations, by making voluntary contributions to the Plan. The Company’s
contributions are made at the discretion of the Board of Directors. For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 the
company made a contribution of $146,000 and $71,000, respectively, to the plan. For fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, the
Company made no contributions to the Plan.
NOTE 18. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company has two reportable segments. The brokerage and advisory services segment includes broker-dealer and
investment advisory services, sale of insurance products and licensed mortgage brokerage services provided by NSC, NAM,
National Insurance, Prime Financial, and GC. The tax and accounting services segment includes tax preparation and accounting
services provided by National Tax.
Corporate pre-tax income (loss) consists of certain expenses that have not been allocated to reportable segments.
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Segment information for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

2019
Revenues
Pre-tax income (loss)

Brokerage
and
Advisory
Services
$

Identifiable assets
Depreciation and amortization
Interest
Capital expenditures

2018
Revenues
Pre-tax (loss) income
Identifiable assets
Depreciation and amortization
Interest
Capital expenditures

2017
Revenues
Pre-tax (loss) income
Identifiable assets
Depreciation and amortization
Interest
Capital expenditures

204,134,000 $
7,522,000
61,880,000
841,000
32,000
776,000

Brokerage
and
Advisory
Services
$

Tax and
Accounting
Services

Corporate

Total

8,807,000 $
—
$
85,000
(5,447,000) (b)
15,014,000 (c)
501,000

4,313,000
490,000
75,000

Tax and
Accounting
Services

81,207,000
1,832,000
32,000
3,124,000

2,273,000

Corporate

Total

203,343,000 $

7,772,000 $

5,176,000

895,000

(14,393,000) (d)

(8,322,000)

51,946,000
749,000
97,000
564,000

4,407,000
263,000

12,096,000 (c)
539,000

68,449,000
1,551,000
97,000
938,000

Brokerage
and
Advisory
Services

43,000

Tax and
Accounting
Services

—

212,941,000
2,160,000

331,000

Corporate

$

211,115,000

Total

182,431,000
11,516,000

7,439,000
649,000

—
4,414,000 (a)

189,870,000
16,579,000

47,213,000
694,000
14,000
140,000

2,984,000
181,000

14,201,000 (c)
354,000

64,398,000
1,229,000
14,000
1,672,000

73,000

1,459,000

(a)
Consists of the gain on the change in fair value of warrant liability offset in part by executive salaries and other
expenses not allocated to reportable segments by management.
(b)
Consists of board of director fees and other expenses not allocated to reportable segments by management.
(c)
Consists principally of deferred tax assets, cash, prepaid and fixed asset balances held at Corporate.
(d)
Consists of loss on the change in fair value of warrant liability, executive salaries and other expenses not allocated to
reportable segments by management.
NOTE 19. ACQUISITION OF INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY AND DIVIDEND WARRANTS
B. Riley Financial, Inc.
On November 14, 2018, B. Riley Financial, Inc. (“B. Riley”) and FBIO Acquisition, Inc. (“FBIO Acquisition”), a subsidiary of
Fortress Biotech, Inc. (“Fortress”), entered into a stock purchase agreement whereby FBIO Acquisition agreed to sell FBIO
Acquisition’s majority stake in the Company to a wholly-owned subsidiary of B. Riley (the “FBIO Sale”). Under the terms of
the agreement, B. Riley agreed to purchase 7,037,482 shares of the Company's common stock from FBIO Acquisition,
representing approximately 56.1% of the Company's outstanding common stock and Fortress’s entire economic interest in the
Company. An aggregate of 3,010,054 shares were purchased immediately at $3.25 per share. After approval from FINRA was
received on February 4, 2019, B. Riley purchased an additional 3,149,496 shares of the Company's common stock on February
11, 2019 and assigned its right to purchase the remaining 877,932 shares to a third party.
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Further, in connection with the FBIO Sale, the Company entered into an agreement with B. Riley (the “B. Riley Agreement”),
pursuant to which B. Riley agreed to certain customary standstill provisions, effective as of the date of the B. Riley Agreement
through December 31, 2021 (the “Standstill Period”), prohibiting B. Riley and any of its affiliates or associates, directly or
indirectly, from among other things: (i) acquiring, agreeing to acquire or otherwise seeking to acquire any beneficial interest in
the Company’s share capital or any of its material assets other than (x) the FBIO Sale and (y) pursuant to B. Riley’s pro rata
participation rights described in the B. Riley Agreement; (ii) making a take-over bid, tender offer or exchange offer for all or
any part of the Company’s share capital; (iii) announcing, or taking any action which would require the announcement of, any
proposals by B. Riley for any business combination or any other similar transaction involving the securities of the Company or
its material assets or businesses; (iv) soliciting proxies with respect to any securities of the Company or otherwise influencing
any shareholders of the Company for any action or transaction; (v) requesting that the Board expand or reduce the number of
directors or the number of Board designees nominated by otherwise designated by B. Riley; (vi) take any other action that
would constitute a “business combination” for purposes of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (including
any successor statute thereto) (“Section 203”) (other than any transactions covered by Section 203(c)(3)(v) of the Delaware
General Corporation Law that are in the ordinary course of our business operations); (vii) make any public announcement with
respect to any of the foregoing, except as, and solely to the extent, legally required or compelled (and provided that the reason
for any such required announcement is not the result of any action taken by B. Riley) or (viii) contest the validity of the
standstill terms of the B. Riley Agreement or initiate or participate in any judicial proceeding to amend, waive, terminate or
seek a release of the restrictions of such standstill terms.
Pursuant to the B. Riley Agreement, the Company granted to B. Riley the right to appoint B. Riley representatives to attend
meetings of the Board and any committee thereof in a non-voting observer capacity. If B. Riley’s beneficial ownership of the
Company’s common stock is reduced to below 24%, its rights to designate board observers will be reduced to one board
observer, and if B. Riley’s beneficial ownership of the Company’s common stock is reduced to below 5%, its rights to designate
board observers will cease.
The B. Riley Agreement further permits B. Riley to participate pro rata in any bona fide common stock equity offering by the
Company (including the offering of any securities convertible into common stock) if the offering price of the Company’s
common stock in such offering is equal to or less than $3.25 per share, as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, stock
combinations and similar events, subject to certain exceptions. This participation right will end upon the earlier of (x) the end
of the Standstill Period and (y) a change in control of the Company, as defined in the B. Riley Agreement.
The Agreement also contains non-solicitation terms that prohibit either the Company or B. Riley, or any of their respective
affiliates, associates and related parties, from hiring any executive officer or member of senior management of the other party
during the Standstill Period, subject to certain exceptions.
In connection with the Agreement, the Board waived the applicability of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law
to B. Riley in connection with the FBIO Sale.
Upon final closing of the FBIO Sale, 7,037,482 warrants held by FBIO Acquisition ceased to be outstanding.
Fortress Biotech, Inc.
On September 12, 2016, FBIO Acquisition, Inc. (“FBIO Acquisition”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortress Biotech, Inc.
(“Fortress”), completed a tender offer (the “Offer”) for all outstanding shares of the Company at a price of $3.25 per share, net
to the seller in cash (less any required withholding taxes and without interest) (the “Offer Price”), pursuant to the terms of an
Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of April 27, 2016 (as amended, the “Merger Agreement”) among the Company,
Fortress and FBIO Acquisition. The Offer expired on September 9, 2016, and a total of 7,037,482 shares were validly tendered
and not withdrawn (including shares delivered through notices of guaranteed delivery), representing approximately 56.6% of
the Company’s issued and outstanding shares of common stock immediately following the completion of the Offer (in each
case, without giving effect to the issuance or exercise of the Dividend Warrants). On September 12, 2016, FBIO Acquisition
accepted for payment all shares that were validly tendered and not withdrawn prior to the expiration time of the Offer and
delivered payment for such shares.
Dividend Warrants
In accordance with the Merger Agreement, since less than 80% of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares of common
stock were tendered, the Company remained a publicly-traded company and stockholders post-tender offer received from the
Company a five year warrant per held share to purchase an additional share of the Company’s common stock at $3.25 as a
dividend to all holders of the Company’s common stock.
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As the Company did not have the ability to settle the warrants with unregistered shares and maintenance of an effective
registration statement was considered outside of the Company’s control, net cash settlement of the warrants was assumed.
Accordingly, the fair value of the 12,437,916 warrants issued was classified as a liability in the consolidated statement of
financial condition. This liability was subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date until the warrants were exercised or
expired, and any change in fair value was recognized as change in fair value of warrants in the consolidated statements of
operations. As the warrants were registered and trading and the Company maintained an effective registration statement, fair
value of the warrants was based on the market price.
Warrant Liability Reclassification
On March 15, 2018, the Company and the Company's warrant agent, agreed to amend and restate the terms of the original
warrant agreement dated December 13, 2016.
The amended and restated warrant agreement explicitly provides that the Company shall not be required to pay cash if it cannot
issue registered shares of common stock upon exercise of a warrant.
The Company is required to reassess its classification of each contract as of each reporting date. Reclassification of a contract
classified as an asset or a liability is required if the contract begins to meet all the criteria for equity classification. If
reclassification is required, the Company reclassifies the instrument as of the date of the event or change in circumstance that
caused the reclassification at its then-current fair value. If a contract is reclassified from an asset or a liability to equity, gains
and losses during the period the contract was classified as an asset or a liability are not reversed, and the adjustment to the
contract’s current fair value is recognized in earnings before reclassification. The (loss)/gain for the change in fair value of the
warrants for the year ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 amounted to $(11,194,000) and $8,458,000, respectively.
The Original Agreement required the issuance of registered shares upon exercise and since it did not expressly preclude an
implied right to cash settlement, the agreement was accounted for as a derivative liability and the Company classified the
derivative warrant liability on the consolidated statement of financial conditions as a liability. Now that the amended agreement
expressly precludes cash settlement, the warrants meet the criteria for equity classification. Accordingly, the Company recorded
the change in fair value of the warrant in earnings through March 15, 2018 before reclassification from liability to equity. The
reclassification resulted in a credit to additional paid-in-capital of $16,791,000 during the year ended September 30, 2018.
NOTE 20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In fiscal year 2019, 2018 and 2017, investment banking revenues include approximately $0, $4,931,000 and $14,414,000,
respectively, of fees related to placement of securities for Fortress and subsidiaries of Fortress.
As of September 30, 2019 and 2018, the value of warrants received from Fortress and subsidiaries of Fortress included in
Securities Owned was $522,000 and $1,449,000.
NOTE 21. REVENUES FROM CONTRACTS AND SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS
On October 1, 2018, the Company adopted Topic 606 applying the modified retrospective method to all contracts that were not
completed as of October 1, 2018. Results for reporting periods beginning after October 1, 2018 were presented under Topic
606, while prior periods amounts were not adjusted and reported under the accounting standards in effect for the prior periods.
The adoption of Topic 606 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated results of operations and financial
condition.
Performance Obligations
The Company recognizes revenue from contracts with customers when, or as, the Company satisfies its performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to the customers. A good or service is transferred to a customer
when, or as, the customer obtains control of that good or service. A performance obligation may be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. Revenue from a performance obligation satisfied over time is recognized by measuring progress in satisfying the
performance obligation in a manner that depicts the transfer of the goods or services to the customer. Revenue from a
performance obligation satisfied at a point in time is recognized at the point in time that the Company determines the customer
obtains control over the promised good or service.
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Transaction Price and Variable Consideration
The amount of revenue recognized reflects the consideration (“transaction price”) the Company expects to be entitled to in
exchange for the transfer of the goods or services to the customer services. In determining the transaction price, the Company
considers multiple factors, including the effects of variable consideration. Variable consideration is included in the transaction
price only to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur
when the uncertainties with respect to the amount are resolved. In determining when to include variable consideration in the
transaction price, the Company considers the range of possible outcomes, the predictive value of past experiences, the time
period of when uncertainties expect to be resolved and the amount of consideration that is susceptible to factors outside of
influence, such as market volatility or the judgment and actions of third parties.
Contract Assets
Contract assets represent the Company’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Company has
transferred to a customer, excluding unconditional rights to consideration that are presented as receivables.
Contract Liabilities
Contract liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to deliver products or provide data to customers in the future for which
cash has already been received.
The following provides detailed information on the recognition of the Company’s revenues from contracts with customers:
Commissions and Transaction Fees and Clearing Services. The Company earns commission and transaction fee and clearing
services revenue based on the execution of transactions for clients in stocks, mutual funds, variable annuities and other
financial products and services as well as from trailing commissions. Trade execution and settlement, when provided together,
represent a single performance obligation as the services are not separately identifiable in the context of the contract.
Commission and transaction fee and clearing services revenues are recognized at a point in time on trade-date. Commission and
transaction fee and clearing services revenues are generally paid on settlement date and the Company records a receivable
between trade-date and payment on settlement date. For trailing commissions, the performance obligation is satisfied at the
time of the execution of the transactions but the amount to be received for trailing commissions is uncertain, as it is dependent
on the value of the investments at future points in time as well as the length of time the investor holds the investments, both of
which are highly susceptible to variable factors outside the Company’s influence. The Company does not believe that it can
overcome this constraint until the market value of the investment and the investor activities are known, which are usually
monthly or quarterly. The Company’s consolidated statement of operations reflects trailing commissions for services performed
and performance obligations satisfied in previous periods and are recognized in the period that the constraint is overcome.
Investment Banking. The Company provides clients with a full range of investment banking services. Investment banking
services include underwriting and placement agent services in both equity and debt, including private equity placements, initial
public offerings, follow-on offerings and equity-linked convertible securities transactions and private debt. Underwriting and
placement agent revenues are recognized at a point in time on trade-date, as the client obtains the control and benefit of the
investment banking offering at that point. Costs associated with investment banking transactions are deferred until the related
revenue is recognized or the engagement is otherwise concluded and are recorded on a gross basis as the Company is acting as
a principal in the arrangement. Any expenses reimbursed by the Company’s clients are recognized as investment banking
revenues. Where the Company is the lead underwriter, revenue and expenses will be first allocated to other members of a
syndicate because the Company is acting as an agent for the syndicate. Accordingly, the Company records revenue on a net
basis. When the Company is not the lead underwriter, the Company will recognize its share of revenue and expenses on a gross
basis, because the Company is acting as the principal. Under accounting standards in effect for prior periods, the Company
recognized all underwriting revenue on a net basis.
The Company’s revenues from advisory services primarily consist of fees generated in connection with mergers and acquisition
and advisory transactions. Advisory fees from mergers and acquisitions engagements are recognized at a point in time when the
related transaction is completed, as the performance obligation is to successfully execute a specific transaction. Fees received
prior to the completion of the transaction are deferred within other liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial
condition. A significant portion of the fees the Company receives for advisory services are considered variable as they are
contingent upon a future event and are excluded from the transaction price until the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved, which is expected to occur upon achievement of the specified milestone. Payment for
advisory services is generally due promptly upon completion of a specified milestone or, for retainer fees, periodically over the
course of the engagement. The Company recognizes a receivable between the date of completion of the milestone and payment
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by the customer. Expenses associated with investment banking advisory engagements are deferred only to the extent they are
explicitly reimbursable by the client and the related revenue is recognized at a point in time. All other investment banking
advisory related costs are expensed as incurred. All investment banking advisory expenses are recognized within their
respective expense category on the consolidated statements of operations and any expenses reimbursed by the clients are
recognized as investment banking revenues. The Company controls the service as it is transferred to the customer, and is
therefore acting as a principal. Accordingly, the Company records revenues and out-of-pocket reimbursements on a gross basis.
Under accounting standards in effect for prior periods, the Company recorded expenses net of client reimbursements and/or
netted against revenues.
Investment Advisory/Asset Management Fees. The Company receives management and performance fees in connection with
investment advisory services provided to various funds and accounts, which are satisfied over time as the customer receives the
benefits of the services evenly throughout the term of the contract. Management and performance fees are considered variable
as they are subject to fluctuation (e.g., changes in assets under management, market performance) and/or are contingent on a
future event during the measurement period (e.g., meeting a specified benchmark) and are recognized only to the extent it is
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty is
resolved. Management fees are generally based on month-end assets under management or an agreed upon notional amount and
are included in the transaction price at the end of each month when the assets under management or notional amount is known.
Performance fees are received when the return on assets under management for a specified performance period exceed certain
benchmark returns, “high-water marks” or other performance targets. The performance period related to performance fees is
annual, semiannual or at the recognition of a liquidation event. Accordingly, performance fee revenue will generally be
recognized only at the end of the performance period to the extent that the benchmark return has been met.
Tax Preparation and Accounting. The Company charges fees in connection with tax preparation and accounting services.
Revenues are recorded upon completion of the services.
Disaggregation of Revenue
The following presents the Company’s revenues from contracts with customers disaggregated by major business activity and
segment for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019:
For the Twelve Months Ended
September 30, 2019
Revenues from customer contracts:
Commissions and transfer fees and
clearing services
Investment banking
Investment advisory
Tax preparation and accounting
Sub-total revenue from contracts with
customers
Other revenue
Total revenue

Brokerage
and Advisory
Services

$ 95,021,000
69,656,000
34,400,000
—
199,077,000
5,057,000
$ 204,134,000

Tax and
Accounting
Services

$

$

—

Corporate

$

—
8,807,000

—
—

95,021,000
69,656,000
34,400,000
8,807,000

8,807,000
—
8,807,000

—
—
—

207,884,000
5,057,000
$ 212,941,000

$

—

Total

$

Information on Remaining Performance Obligations and Revenue Recognized from Past Performance
The Company does not disclose information about remaining performance obligations pertaining to contracts that have an
original expected duration of one year or less. The transaction price allocated to remaining unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied
performance obligations with an original expected duration exceeding one year was not material at September 30, 2019.
Investment banking advisory fees that are contingent upon completion of a specific milestone are also excluded as the fees are
considered variable and not included in the transaction price at September 30, 2019.
Contract Balances
The timing of the Company’s revenue recognition may differ from the timing of payment by customers. The Company records
a receivable when revenue is recognized prior to payment and the Company has an unconditional right to payment.
Alternatively, when payment precedes the provision of the related services, the Company records deferred revenue until the
performance obligations are satisfied.
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Contract Costs
Incremental contract costs are expensed when incurred when the amortization period of the asset that would have been
recognized is one year or less. Otherwise, incremental contract costs are recognized as an asset and amortized over time as
services are provided to a customer.
Practical Expedients
The Company has applied Topic 606’s practical expedient that permits for the non-disclosure of the value of unsatisfied
performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original expected length of one year or less and (ii) contracts for which the
Company recognizes revenue at the amount to which it has the right to invoice for services performed.
The Company also applied Topic 606’s practical expedient that allows incremental contract costs to be expensed when incurred
when the amortization period of the asset that would have been recognized is one year or less.
NOTE 22. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
Quarters
1st

2nd

3rd

4th

2019:
Revenues
Operating expenses
Income (loss) before item shown below
Other income (expense)
Income (loss) before income taxes
Net income (loss) attributable to National Holdings
Corporation common shareholders
Net income (loss) per share attributable to National
Holdings Corporation common shareholders - Basic
Net income (loss) per share attributable to National
Holdings Corporation common shareholders - Diluted
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - Basic
Weighted average number of shares outstanding Diluted

$ 58,107,000
56,790,000
1,317,000
6,000
$ 1,323,000

$ 46,700,000 $ 50,775,000
50,599,000
49,561,000
(3,899,000)
1,214,000
6,000
6,000
$ (3,893,000) $ 1,220,000

$

956,000

$

(2,785,000) $

233,000

$

777,000

$

0.08

$

(0.22) $

0.02

$

0.06

$

0.08
12,545,286

$

(0.22) $
0.02
12,714,002
12,931,660

$

0.06
13,031,462

12,716,195

12,714,002

$ 57,359,000
53,891,000
3,468,000
42,000
$ 3,510,000

13,251,379

13,198,324

Quarters
1st

2nd

3rd

4th

2018:
Revenues
Operating expenses
Income before item shown below
Other income (expense) (1)
Income (loss) before income taxes
Net income (loss) attributable to National Holdings
Corporation common shareholders
Net income (loss) per share attributable to National
Holdings Corporation common shareholders - Basic
Net income (loss) per share attributable to National
Holdings Corporation common shareholders - Diluted
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - Basic
Weighted average number of shares outstanding Diluted

$ 50,080,000 $ 60,346,000 $ 56,237,000 $ 44,452,000
50,256,000
55,653,000
54,678,000
47,809,000
(176,000)
(3,357,000)
4,693,000
1,559,000
(5,591,000)
(5,367,000)
(146,000)
63,000
(674,000) $ 1,413,000 $ (3,294,000)
$ (5,767,000) $
$

(8,040,000) $

(2,252,000) $

812,000

$

(2,030,000)

$

(0.65) $

(0.18) $

0.07

$

(0.16)

(0.18) $

$

(0.65) $

$

12,437,916

12,457,043

0.06
12,490,539

12,437,916

12,457,043

13,899,374
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(0.16)
12,513,364
12,513,364

(1) Includes loss of $(5,597,000) due to changes in the fair value of warrant liability in both the first and second quarter.
NOTE 23. SUBSEQUENT EVENT
Winslow, Evans & Crocker, Inc. Acquisition
On August 26, 2019, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement (as amended, the “Winslow Agreement” and the
transactions contemplated thereunder, the “Winslow Acquisition”) whereby the Company agreed to acquire all of the
outstanding equity interests (the “Purchased Shares”) of Winslow Evans & Crocker, Inc. (“WEC”), Winslow, Evans & Crocker
Insurance Agency, Inc. (“WIA”), and Winslow Financial, Inc. (“WF” and collectively with WEC and WIA, the “Winslow
Targets”). The Company entered into an amendment to the Winslow Agreement on October 11, 2019, to reflect certain
clarifications to the terms of the Winslow Agreement as agreed to by the parties. The Winslow Acquisition is expected to close
in the first fiscal quarter of 2020, subject to customary conditions and regulatory approvals.
Under the terms of the Winslow Agreement, at the closing of the Winslow Acquisition, the Company will acquire the Purchased
Shares for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $3.2 million paid at closing in cash, subject to certain adjustments,
plus additional consideration to be based on (i) the amount of net operating capital of WEC and WF as of the closing, payable
in three annual installments and not to exceed $1.0 million in the aggregate, (ii) the aggregate pre-tax net income (loss) of the
Winslow Targets through September 22, 2022, provided that such additional consideration shall not be less than $1.5 million
and shall not exceed $3.0 million in the aggregate, and (iii) a portion of the synergies achieved through September 20, 2022. At
the signing of the Winslow Agreement, the Company deposited $500,000 into escrow, which will be applied to the amount
payable at closing or which would be forfeited if the Winslow Acquisition is approved by FINRA but are not consummated due
to certain breaches of the Winslow Agreement by the Company.
WEC is a Boston-based, full-service investment firm established in 1991. WEC is an SEC Registered Investment Advisor and a
FINRA registered broker-dealer. More than 50 financial professionals including Certified Financial Planners, Investment
Advisor Representatives, Financial Consultants, brokers and other specialists are part of the Winslow team with over $2.5
billion in assets under management. Located in the heart of the financial district in Boston, MA, the Company believes that
WEC is a strategic location for the Company to build out its banking platform. The Company expects that the Winslow
Acquisition will be accretive to gross margin and adjusted EBITDA margin.
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Amended and Restated Employment Agreement (this “Agreement”), is effective as of December 31,
2018 (the “Effective Date”), by and between National Holdings Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”), and Michael Mullen (the “Executive”).
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, the Company desires to continue to employ the Executive as Chief Executive Officer, and the
Executive desires to continue to serve the Company in such capacity, upon the terms and subject to the conditions
contained in this Agreement;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, the
parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
1.

Employment.

a.
Services. The Executive will continue to be employed by the Company and shall serve as
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. In addition, during the Term, the Executive shall be Chairman of the Board
of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of each of the Company’s operating subsidiaries, including but not limited
to: National Securities Corporation, National Asset Management Corporation, National Insurance Corporation, and
National Tax and Financial Services Corporation. The Executive shall report exclusively to the Company’s Board of
Directors (the “Board”) and shall perform such duties as are consistent with his position and as directed by the
Board. The Executive agrees to perform his assigned duties faithfully and to devote such of his time, attention and
energies to the business of the Company as he deems necessary to carry out his role.
b.
For the avoidance of doubt, however, nothing herein shall be deemed to prohibit the
Executive from continuing to service his own clients in accordance with Section 10 of the agreement between
National Securities Corporation and Michael Mullen, dated April 22, 2008, and Section XIX of the Independent
Contractor Agreement between National Securities Corporation and Michael Mullen, dated May 15, 2008
(collectively, the “IC Agreements”), which IC Agreements shall continue in full force and effect to govern the duties
and responsibilities of the Company and the Executive as it relates to the Executive’s clients.
c.
Acceptance. The Executive hereby accepts continued employment with the Company
pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
2.
Term. The term of this Agreement, and the Executive’s employment pursuant to the
terms hereof, shall commence on the Effective Date and continue through the date that is five (5) years from the
Effective Date, unless earlier terminated pursuant to Section 8 below (such period, the “Term”).
3.

Limited Extent of Service.

a.
Business Activities. Subject to Section 5, the Executive shall not be restricted from
pursuing, or being actively engaged in, any other business activity, whether or not such business activity is pursued
for gain, profit or other pecuniary advantage, and whether or not such business activity is currently existing or is
hereafter conducted. The Executive’s service to Opus National Private Client Group and his interest in branch
offices of National Securities Corporation is expressly permitted.
b.
Location. The duties to be performed by the Executive hereunder shall be performed
primarily at the office of the Company in or around New York City, subject to reasonable travel requirements on
behalf of the Company, or such other place as the Board may reasonably designate. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the Executive’s primary place of business may not be relocated to another city without his written consent.
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4.
Compensation. As full compensation for the performance by the Executive of his duties
under this Agreement, the Executive shall receive the following:
a.
Base Salary. During the Term, the Company shall pay the Executive a salary (the “Base
Salary”) at the rate of $360,000 per year. Payment shall be made semi-monthly in accordance with the Company’s
normal payroll practices. The Board shall review the Executive’s Base Salary annually and may increase (but not
decrease) the Executive’s Base Salary from year to year. Such adjusted salary then shall become the Executive’s
Base Salary for purposes of this Agreement. The annual review of the Executive’s Base Salary by the Board will
consider, among other things, the Executive’s own performance, the Company’s performance, and market practice.
b.
Annual Bonus. During the Term, the Executive shall be eligible to receive, following the
end of each fiscal year, an annual cash and restricted stock bonus pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Company’s 2017 Fiscal Year Bonus Plan, as it may be amended or replaced from time to time in the sole discretion
of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (the “Bonus Plan”), provided that the Compensation Committee of the
Board must consent to any revisions that determine the Chief Executive Officer’s or Chief Financial Officer’s bonus.
The Executive’s target cash bonus each fiscal year shall be such amount established by the Compensation
Committee of the Board and communicated to the Executive, on or around the beginning of each fiscal year (the
“Target Bonus”), and for the fiscal year that began October 1, 2018 will be $360,000. This cash target bonus is the
baseline bonus used to establish the actual cash bonus paid based on the success of the Company’s annual goals and
objectives, as outlined in the Bonus Plan. The restricted stock component and calculation is also outlined in the
Company’s Bonus Plan.
c.
Withholding. The Company shall be entitled to withhold all applicable federal, state and
local taxes and social security and such other amounts as may be required by law from all amounts payable to the
Executive under this Section 4.
d.
Continued Equity Vesting. The Executive shall continue to vest in all equity (including
restricted stock and stock option) grants that were previously awarded to him, pursuant to the terms, conditions, and
vesting requirements set forth in the applicable equity award documents governing the grants, but subject to the
equity acceleration permitted by Section 9 below.
e.
Additional Stock-Based Awards. During the Term, the Executive may be eligible for
additional stock-based awards under the long-term incentive plan of the Company, as determined by the Board, in
addition to the stock awards under the Bonus Plan. Nothing herein requires the Board to make additional grants of
restricted stock or other awards in any year.
f.
Expenses. During the Term, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Executive in furtherance of the business and affairs of the Company, including
but not limited to travel and entertainment expenses. The Executive will timely supply the Company with
appropriate vouchers or other proof of the Executive’s expenditures and otherwise will comply with any expense
reimbursement policy as may from time to time be adopted by the Company. Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement to the contrary, if the Executive is entitled to be paid or reimbursed for any taxable expenses under this
Agreement, and such payments or reimbursements are includible in the Executive’s federal gross taxable income,
then: (i) the amount of any expense reimbursement or benefit provided during the Executive’s taxable year shall not
affect any expenses eligible for reimbursement or benefit to be provided in any other taxable year; (ii) the
reimbursement of any eligible expense shall be made no later than the last day of the Executive’s taxable year that
immediately follows the taxable year in which the expense was incurred; and (iii) the right to any such expense
reimbursement or benefit shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.
g.
Other Benefits. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to all rights and benefits
for which he shall be eligible under any benefit or other plans (including, without limitation, 401(k), dental, medical,
medical reimbursement and hospital plans, pension plans, employee stock purchase plans, profit sharing plans,
bonus plans, prescription drug reimbursement plans, short and long term disability plans, life insurance and other socalled “fringe” benefits) as the Company shall make available to its senior executives from time to time. The
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Executive shall also receive up to $1,000 per month as an automobile allowance and up to $300 per month for
reimbursement of his gym membership expenses, each payable on the last pay date of each month after, for the gym
membership, receipt of substantiation.
h.
Vacation. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to a vacation of 20 days per
annum, in addition to holidays observed by the Company. During the Term, the Executive shall not be entitled to
carry forward vacation days from one calendar year of employment to the next calendar year of employment, except
as may be required by applicable law or provided in a Company policy applicable to the Executive.
5.
Non-Disclosure of Confidential Information and Trade Secrets; Return of Property;
Invention Assignment; Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation.
a.
The Executive understands and agrees that the Confidential Information (as defined
below) and Trade Secrets (as defined below) constitute valuable assets of the Company and may not be converted to
his own use. The Executive hereby agrees that throughout the Term and at all times after his separation from
employment, for so long as the information at issue remains either Confidential Information or a Trade Secret and
except as otherwise permitted by Section 5(d) below, the Executive will not, directly or indirectly, reveal, divulge, or
disclose to any person or entity not expressly authorized by the Company any Confidential Information or Trade
Secrets and will not, directly or indirectly, use or make use of any Confidential Information or Trade Secrets in
connection with any business activity other than that of the Company.
Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the Executive shall not be restricted from
disclosing or using Confidential Information or Trade Secrets that are required to be disclosed by law, court
order or other legal process; provided, however, that in the event disclosure is required by law, and except as
otherwise permitted by Section 5(d) below, the Executive shall provide the Company with prompt written
notice of such requirement in time to permit the Company to seek an appropriate protective order or other
similar protection prior to any such disclosure by the Executive.
The parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is not intended to, and will not,
alter or diminish either the Company’s rights or the Executive’s obligations under any state or federal
statutory or common law, rule or regulation regarding confidential information, trade secrets and unfair
trade practices and all potential remedies under such laws remain available.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Confidential Information” means all data and information
relating to the business of the Company that is disclosed to the Executive or of which the Executive becomes
aware as a consequence of his employment and that has value to the Company and is not generally known to
those not employed or otherwise engaged by the Company. “Confidential Information” shall include, but is not
limited to, financial plans and data concerning Company; management planning information; Company’s
business plans or strategies (including, without limitation, any merger or acquisition plans); “know how;”
Company’s operational methods; market studies; marketing plans or strategies; product development techniques
or plans; client and prospective client lists; details of client and vendor contracts; current and anticipated client
requirements; past, current and planned research and development; business acquisition plans; employee
compensation and other personnel information; and new personnel acquisition plans. “Confidential Information”
shall not include data or information (a) which has been voluntarily disclosed to the public by the Company,
except where such public disclosure was made without authorization from the Company; (b) which has been
independently developed and disclosed by Persons other than the Company or its principals or representatives;
or (c) which has otherwise entered the public domain through lawful means. This definition shall not limit any
definition of “confidential information” or any equivalent term under applicable state or federal law.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Trade Secret” means information, without regard to form,
relating to the Company, its activities, businesses or clients, including, but not limited to, technical or
nontechnical data, a formula, a pattern, a compilation, a program, a device, a method, a technique, a drawing, a
process, financial data, financial plans, product plans, or a list of actual or potential clients which is not
commonly known by or available to the public via lawful means and which: (A) derives economic value,
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actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by proper means by,
other persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use; and (B) is the subject of efforts that
are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy. Trade Secret shall include, but not be limited
to, client lists, client billing and pricing information, technical information regarding the Company’s
intellectual property, product development information, patent information and all other information permitted
to be covered under the Uniform Trade Secrets Act. This definition shall not limit any definition of “trade
secret” or any equivalent term under applicable state or federal law.
b.
The Executive agrees that he will not retain or destroy, and will immediately return to the
Company on or prior to his last day of employment, or at any other time the Company requests such return, any and
all property of the Company that is in his possession or subject to his control, including, but not limited to, keys,
credit and identification cards, equipment, client files and information, and all Confidential Information and Trade
Secrets. The Executive will not make, distribute or retain copies of any such information or property. The Executive
agrees that he will reimburse the Company for all of its costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, of recovering the
above materials and otherwise enforcing compliance with this provision if the Executive does not return the
materials to the Company on or prior to his separation from employment or at any other time the materials are
requested by Company, or if the Executive otherwise fails to comply with this provision.
c.
The Executive agrees that he will promptly and fully disclose in writing to the Company
inventions, designs, concepts, discoveries, developments, improvements, and innovations, whether or not they merit
patent, trademark or copyright protection, conceived of, designed or reduced to practice by the Executive, either
solely or in concert with others, at any time during his employment, which (a) relate in any manner, whether at the
time of conception, design or reduction to practice, to the Company’s business or its actual or demonstrably
anticipated research or development; (b) result from any work performed by the Executive on behalf of the
Company; or (c) result from the use of the Company’s equipment, facilities, Confidential Information or Trade
Secrets (collectively referred to as “Inventions”).
The Executive acknowledges and agrees that he will keep and maintain adequate written records
of all such Inventions at all stages thereof in the form of notes, sketches, drawings, photographs, printouts, and/or
reports relating thereto. These records are and shall remain the property of, and be available to, the Company or its
designee(s) at all times. The Executive further acknowledges that all such Inventions shall be the exclusive property
of the Company. As such, the Executive hereby assigns his entire right, title, and interest in and to all such
Inventions to the Company or its designee(s). The Executive will, at the Company’s request and expense, execute
specific transfers, assignments, documents or other instruments and take such further action as may be considered
necessary by the Company at any time during or subsequent to the Executive’s employment to obtain and defend
any intellectual property rights and vest complete title and ownership to such Inventions to the Company or its
designee(s).
d.
Nothing in this Agreement or elsewhere prohibits the Executive from communicating
with government agencies about possible violations of federal, state, or local laws, rules or regulations, or otherwise
providing information to government agencies, filing a complaint with government agencies, or participating in
government agency investigations or proceedings. The Executive is not required to notify the Company of any such
communications; provided, however, that nothing herein authorizes the disclosure of information the Executive
obtained through a communication that was subject to the attorney-client privilege. Further, notwithstanding the
Executive’s confidentiality and nondisclosure obligations, the Executive is hereby advised as follows pursuant to the
Defend Trade Secrets Act: “An individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State
trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (A) is made (i) in confidence to a Federal, State, or local
government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (ii) solely for the purpose of reporting or
investigating a suspected violation of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other
proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. An individual who files a lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for
reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose the trade secret to the attorney of the individual and use the trade
secret information in the court proceeding, if the individual (A) files any document containing the trade secret under
seal; and (B) does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order.”
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e.
The Executive acknowledges and agrees that his services are special, unique and
extraordinary and that in the course of performing such services the Executive will be provided with and have access
to and knowledge of Confidential Information and Trade Secrets that would be extremely valuable to competitors of
the Company and its subsidiaries. The Executive therefore agrees that, during the Term and for a period of three (3)
months thereafter, the Executive will not, in the geographical area where the Company does business, directly or
indirectly, whether as an owner, partner, officer, director, employee, consultant, investor, lender or otherwise (except
as the passive holder of not more than 1% of the outstanding stock of a publicly-held company), engage or assist
others in engaging in any business or enterprise that is competitive with the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries.
f.
During the Term and for a period of nine (9) months thereafter, the Executive will not,
directly or indirectly, either alone or in association with others, (i) solicit, induce or attempt to induce, any employee
or independent contractor (including any financial advisor) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries to terminate his
or her employment or other engagement with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or (ii) hire or recruit, or attempt
to hire or recruit, or engage or attempt to engage as an independent contractor, any person who was employed or
otherwise engaged by the Company or any of its subsidiaries at any time during the term of the Executive’s
employment with the Company; provided, that this clause (ii) shall not apply to the recruitment or hiring or other
engagement of any individual whose employment or other engagement with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
ended at least six (6) months before the recruitment, hiring, or other engagement.
g.
6.

The provisions of this Section 5 shall survive any termination of this Agreement.
Section 5 Remedies.

a.
In the event that the Executive breaches any provisions of Section 5 or there is a
threatened breach, then, in addition to any other rights which the Company may have, the Company shall be entitled,
without the posting of a bond or other security, to seek injunctive relief to enforce the restrictions contained in such
Section. The Company and the Executive agree that any such action for injunctive relief shall be heard in any of the
courts set forth in Section 12(c) below, and each of the parties hereto agrees to accept service of process by
registered or certified mail and to otherwise consent to the jurisdiction of such courts. If the Executive violates any
of the provisions of Sections 5(e) or 5(f), the Executive shall continue to be bound by the restrictions set forth in
such provision until a period equal to the period of restriction has expired without any violation.
b.
Each of the rights and remedies enumerated in Section 6(a) shall be independent of the
others and shall be in addition to and not in lieu of any other rights and remedies available to the Company at law or
in equity. If any of the covenants contained in Section 5, or any part of any of them, is hereafter construed or
adjudicated to be invalid or unenforceable, the same shall not affect the remainder of the covenant or covenants or
rights or remedies which shall be given full effect without regard to the invalid portions. If any of the covenants
contained in Section 5 is held to be invalid or unenforceable because of the duration of such provision or the area
covered thereby, the parties agree that the court or arbitrator making such determination shall have the power to
reduce the duration and/or area of such provision and in its reduced form such provision shall then be enforceable.
c.
In the event that an actual proceeding is brought in equity to enforce the provisions of
Section 5, the Executive shall not urge as a defense that there is an adequate remedy at law nor shall the Company
be prevented from seeking any other remedies which may be available.
d.
7.
Company as follows:

The provisions of this Section 6 shall survive any termination of this Agreement.
Representations and Warranties. The Executive hereby represents and warrants to the

a.
Neither the execution or delivery of this Agreement nor the performance by the Executive
of his duties and other obligations hereunder violate or will violate any statute, law, determination or award, or
conflict with or constitute a default or breach of any covenant or obligation under (whether immediately, upon the
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giving of notice or lapse of time or both) any prior employment agreement, contract, or other instrument to which
the Executive is a party or by which he is bound.
b.
The Executive has the full right, power and legal capacity to enter and deliver this
Agreement and to perform his duties and other obligations hereunder. This Agreement constitutes the legal, valid
and binding obligation of the Executive enforceable against him in accordance with its terms. No approvals or
consents of any persons or entities are required for the Executive to execute and deliver this Agreement or perform
his duties and other obligations hereunder.
8.
Termination. This Agreement and the Executive’s employment hereunder shall be
terminated upon the Executive’s death and may be terminated as follows:
a.
The Executive’s employment hereunder may be terminated by the Board for Cause. Any
of the following actions by the Executive shall constitute “Cause”:
(i)
the Executive’s material breach of the covenants contained in Section 5 hereof, or
material breach of any other provision of this Agreement, provided that the Executive was given prior written
notice of any material breach (in which event notice must be given with sufficient details so that the Executive
could reasonably be expected to identify it as a material breach) and provided further that, in such event, the
Executive was granted not less than thirty (30) days to correct any such breach, unless the Company reasonably
expects that irreparable injury would occur if the Executive was granted a thirty (30) day cure period in which
event the Company may give the Executive any such shorter cure period as it deems reasonable under the
circumstances, but not less than ten (10) days;
(ii)
the willful and continual failure or refusal by the Executive to perform his duties under
this Agreement (other than by reason of death or Disability (as defined below)), provided such failure or refusal
continues for a period of thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice thereof from the Board in reasonable
detail of such failure or refusal;
(iii) any action by the Executive constituting willful misconduct or gross negligence in
respect of the Executive’s obligation to the Company that results in material economic damage to the Company;
and
(iv)
Executive to, a felony.

the conviction of the Executive of, or a plea of guilty or nolo contendere by the

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no action taken by the Executive in connection with his duties
hereunder shall constitute or be used to support a finding for Cause if the Executive acted in good faith and in a
manner he reasonably believed to be in, and not opposed to, the best interests of the Company.
b.
The Executive’s employment hereunder may be terminated by the Board due to the
Executive’s Disability. For purposes of this Agreement, a termination for “Disability” shall occur (i) when the
Board has provided a written termination notice to the Executive supported by a written statement from a reputable
independent physician, after an appropriate examination, to the effect that the Executive shall have become so
physically or mentally incapacitated as to be unable to resume, within the ensuing six (6) months, his employment
under this Agreement by reason of physical or mental illness or injury or (ii) upon rendering of a written termination
notice by the Board after the Executive has been unable to substantially perform his duties hereunder for ninety (90)
or more consecutive days, or more than one hundred and eighty (180) days in any consecutive twelve month period,
by reason of any physical or mental illness or injury. For purposes of this Section 8(b), the Executive agrees to make
himself available and to cooperate in a reasonable examination by a reputable independent physician retained by the
Company.
c.

The Executive’s employment hereunder may be terminated by the Executive for Good

Reason.
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(i)
For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the
following without the Executive’s express prior written consent (any of which shall constitute a “Good Reason
Condition”):
(A)

any material breach of this Agreement by the Company;

(B)

a material reduction by the Company of the Executive’s duties, responsibilities, or

(C)

a reduction of the Executive’s Base Salary;

(D)

a requirement that the Executive report to anyone other than the Board;

authority;

(E)
on or before December 31, 2021, a change in the composition of the Board that results in
the Continuing Directors (as defined below) no longer constituting at least a majority of the Board (or, if applicable,
the Board of Directors of a successor corporation to the Company), where the term “Continuing Director” means at
any date a member of the Board (i) who was a member of the Board on the Effective Date or (ii) who was
nominated or elected subsequent to such date by at least a majority of the directors who were Continuing Directors
at the time of such nomination or election or whose election to the Board was recommended or endorsed by at least
a majority of the directors who were Continuing Directors at the time of such nomination or election; provided,
however, that there shall be excluded from this clause (ii) any individual whose initial assumption of office occurred
as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other
actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents, by or on behalf of a person other than the Board; or
(F)
a material change in the geographic location at which the Executive must perform
services (which, for purposes of this Agreement, means a relocation of the Company’s principal place of business of
the Executive outside of the New York City metropolitan area).
(ii)
The Executive may terminate his employment for Good Reason for any Good Reason
Condition only if (A) the Executive has provided the Company with written notice of the asserted Good Reason
Condition within ninety (90) days after its initial existence; (B) the Company fails to cure the condition within thirty
(30) days after receiving such written notice; and (C) the Executive terminates his employment within ninety (90)
days following the Executive’s written notice to the Company of the existence of the Good Reason Condition.
d.
The Executive’s employment may be terminated by the Company without Cause or by
the Executive without Good Reason following ninety (90) days prior written notice to the other party. The Company
may terminate the Executive’s employment for Cause immediately, subject to the cure provisions set forth in the
Cause definition.
9.

Compensation upon Termination.

a.
If, during the Term, the Executive’s employment is terminated as a result of his death or
Disability, the Company (or such other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay to the Executive or to the
Executive’s estate, as applicable, (i) his Base Salary through the date of his termination, (ii) any benefits which the
Executive is entitled to receive under any Company plan, (iii) any expense reimbursement amounts owed the
Executive, and (iv) any accrued but unpaid annual bonuses earned by the Executive prior to the date of his
termination of employment ((i)-(iv) collectively, the “Accrued Obligations”). Subject to Section 9(d), any such
payments of Base Salary and accrued but unpaid annual bonus shall be made to the Executive or to the Executive’s
estate, as applicable, within sixty (60) days after his death or termination for Disability. In addition to the foregoing,
the Executive or the Executive’s estate, as applicable, shall receive a pro-rated bonus under the Bonus Plan,
calculated based on an amount equal to (A) the Target Bonus for the year in which the date of termination occurs,
multiplied by (B) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days worked by the Executive during the fiscal
year in which his date of termination occurs and the denominator of which is 365 (the “Prorated Target Bonus”). The
Prorated Target Bonus shall be paid to the Executive or his estate in a lump sum in cash within sixty (60) days after
-7-

his date of termination (or such later date as may be required pursuant to Section 9(d)). In addition, any shares of
restricted stock awards or restricted stock units outstanding on the date of the Executive’s termination shall become
fully vested and non-forfeitable as of his date of termination. The vested portion of any stock options outstanding on
the date of his termination shall remain exercisable by the Executive or his estate for a period of twenty (24) months
following the date of his termination (or, if earlier, the normal expiration date of such stock options), and any
unvested portion of outstanding stock options shall lapse and be forfeited without consideration as of the date of
termination.
b.
If, during the Term, the Executive’s employment is terminated for Cause or by the
Executive without Good Reason, then the Company (or such other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay
to the Executive the Accrued Obligations. The Executive shall have no further entitlement hereunder to any other
compensation or benefits except to the extent otherwise provided by law. Any shares of unvested restricted stock
awards or restricted stock units outstanding on the date of the Executive’s termination shall be forfeited without
consideration as of the date of termination. The vested portion of any stock options outstanding on the date of the
Executive’s termination shall remain exercisable by the Executive for a period of thirty (30) days following the date
of his termination (or, if earlier, the normal expiration date of such stock options), and any unvested portion of
outstanding stock options shall lapse and be forfeited without consideration as of the date of termination.
c.
If, during the Term, the Executive’s employment is terminated other than as a result of
the Executive’s death or Disability and other than for reasons specified in Section 9(b), or if the Executive
terminates his employment for Good Reason, then, in addition to the Accrued Obligations, and provided that within
sixty (60) days after the date of termination the Executive shall have executed the Company’s standard general
release of claims and covenant not to sue (the “Release”) and not revoked such Release, (i) the Company (or such
other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay to the Executive a severance amount equal to the product of
(A) two (2) and (B) the amount equal to the sum of (1) the Base Salary and (2) the Target Bonus in effect for the
fiscal year in which the termination occurs; (ii) if the Executive elects to continue participation in any group
medical, dental, vision and/or prescription drug plan benefits to which the Executive and/or the Executive’s eligible
dependents would be entitled under Section 4980B of the Code (COBRA), then for a period of twelve (12) months
following termination, the Company (or such other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay the entire
COBRA cost of such coverage, provided, however, that such period shall run concurrently with any period for which
the Executive is eligible to elect health coverage under COBRA and no payment shall be made if the payment would
cause taxes on the Executive in excess of the amount of the premiums or would impose taxes or penalties on the
Company or other employees; (iii) the Company (or such other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay to
the Executive an amount equal to the annual cash bonus that would have been otherwise payable to the Executive
for the fiscal year in which his termination occurs, assuming the Executive’s employment had not terminated prior to
the payment date for such bonus, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days elapsed in
the fiscal year of termination through the date of the Executive’s separation from employment, and the denominator
of which is 365, to be paid at the same time as such bonuses are paid to executives of the Company; (iv) any shares
of restricted stock awards and restricted stock units outstanding on the date of the Executive’s termination shall
become fully vested and non-forfeitable as of his date of termination; and (v) any stock options outstanding on the
date of the Executive’s termination shall become fully vested and shall remain exercisable by the Executive for a
period of twelve (12) months following the date of his termination (or, if earlier, the normal expiration date of such
stock options). Subject to Section 9(d), the payments specified in clauses (i) and (iii) of the preceding sentence shall
be paid to the Executive in a lump sum within sixty (60) days following the Executive’s date of termination.
d.
This Agreement shall be interpreted and administered in a manner so that any amount or
benefit payable hereunder shall be paid or provided in a manner that is either exempt from or compliant with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and the regulations
and other guidance thereunder and any state law of similar effect (collectively “Section 409A”). Nevertheless, the
tax treatment of the benefits provided under the Agreement is not warranted or guaranteed. Neither the Company nor
its affiliates, nor their directors, officers, employees or advisers, shall be held liable for any taxes, interest, penalties
or other monetary amounts owed by the Executive as a result of the application of Section 409A of the Code.
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(i)
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, to the extent that any amount
or benefit that would constitute non-exempt “deferred compensation” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code
(“Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation”) would otherwise be payable or distributable hereunder, or a different form
of payment of such Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation would be effected, by reason of a Change in Control or
Executive’s termination of employment, such Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation will not be payable or
distributable to Executive, and/or such different form of payment will not be effected, by reason of such
circumstance unless the circumstances giving rise to such Change in Control or termination of employment, as the
case may be, meet any description or definition of “change in control event” or “separation from service” or
“substantial risk of forfeiture” as the case may be, in Section 409A of the Code and applicable regulations (without
giving effect to any elective provisions that may be available under such definition). This provision does not affect
the dollar amount or prohibit the vesting of any Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation upon a Change in Control or
termination of employment, however defined. If this provision prevents the payment or distribution of any NonExempt Deferred Compensation, or the application of a different form of payment, then, subject to subsection (iii)
below, such payment or distribution shall be made at the time and in the form that would have applied absent the
non-409A-conforming event.
(ii)
It is intended that (A) each payment of termination benefits under this Agreement shall be
regarded as a separate “payment” for purposes of Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(i), for purposes of
Section 409A of the Code, (B) all payments of any such benefits shall satisfy, to the greatest extent possible, the
exemptions from the application of Section 409A provided under Treasury Regulations Sections 1.409A-1(b)(4) and
1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii), and (C) any such benefits consisting of premiums payable under the COBRA also shall satisfy,
to the greatest extent possible, the exemption from the application of Section 409A provided under Treasury
Regulations Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(v). Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if any amount
or benefit that would constitute Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation would otherwise be payable or distributable
under this Agreement by reason of Executive’s separation from service during a period in which the Executive is a
“specified employee” of the Company, as such term is defined in Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i), then, subject to any
permissible acceleration of payment by the Company under Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3(j)(4)(ii) (domestic
relations order), (j)(4)(iii) (conflicts of interest), or (j)(4)(vi) (payment of employment taxes), (i) the timing of such
amounts or payments shall be delayed until the earlier of (a) the date that is six (6) months and one (1) day after the
Executive’s Separation from Service and (b) the date of the Executive’s death (such applicable date, the “Delayed
Initial Payment Date”), and (ii) the Company shall (a) pay the Executive a lump sum amount equal to the sum of the
benefit payments that the Executive would otherwise have received through the Delayed Initial Payment Date (or,
with respect to death, the earliest administratively practicable date provided that payment complies with the timing
requirements of Section 409A) if the commencement of the payment of the benefits had not been delayed pursuant
to this paragraph and (b) commence paying the balance, if any, of the benefits in accordance with the applicable
payment schedule.
(iii)
Whenever in this Agreement a payment or benefit is conditioned on the Executive’s
execution of the Release, the Company shall provide such Release to the Executive promptly following the date of
termination, and such Release must be executed and all revocation periods shall have expired in accordance with
terms set forth in the release, but in no case later than sixty (60) days after the date of termination; failing which
such payment or benefit shall be forfeited. If such payment or benefit constitutes “Non-Exempt Deferred
Compensation,” then, subject to subsection (ii) above, such payment or benefit (including any installment payments)
that would have otherwise been payable during such 60-day period shall be accumulated and paid on the 60th day
after the date of termination provided such release shall have been executed and such revocation periods shall have
expired. If such payment or benefit is exempt from Section 409A of the Code, the Company may elect to make or
commence payment at any time during such 60-day period.
10.

Mandatory Reduction of Payments in Certain Events.

a.
Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, in the event it shall be
determined that any payment or distribution by the Company to or for the benefit of Executive (whether paid or
payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise) (a “Payment”) would be
subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then, prior to the making of any
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Payment to Executive, a calculation shall be made comparing (i) the net benefit to Executive of the Payment after
payment of the Excise Tax, to (ii) the net benefit to Executive if the Payment had been limited to the extent
necessary to avoid being subject to the Excise Tax. If the amount calculated under (i) above is less than the amount
calculated under (ii) above, then the Payment shall be limited to the extent necessary to avoid being subject to the
Excise Tax (the “Reduced Amount”). The reduction of the Payments due hereunder, if applicable, shall be made by
first reducing cash Payments and then, to the extent necessary, reducing those Payments having the next highest
ratio of Parachute Value to actual present value of such Payments as of the date of the change of control, as
determined by the Determination Firm (as defined in Section 10(b) below). For purposes of this Section 10, present
value shall be determined in accordance with Section 280G(d)(4) of the Code. For purposes of this Section 10, the
“Parachute Value” of a Payment means the present value as of the date of the change of control of the portion of
such Payment that constitutes a “parachute payment” under Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code, as determined by the
Determination Firm for purposes of determining whether and to what extent the Excise Tax will apply to such
Payment.
b.
The determination of whether an Excise Tax would be imposed, the amount of such
Excise Tax, and the calculation of the amounts referred to Section 10(a)(i) and (ii) above shall be made by an
independent, nationally recognized accounting firm or compensation consulting firm mutually acceptable to the
Company and Executive (the “Determination Firm”) which shall provide detailed supporting calculations. Any
determination by the Determination Firm shall be binding upon the Company and Executive. As a result of the
uncertainty in the application of Section 4999 of the Code at the time of the initial determination by the
Determination Firm hereunder, it is possible that Payments the Executive was entitled to, but did not receive
pursuant to Section 10(a), could have been made without the imposition of the Excise Tax (“Underpayment”). In
such event, the Determination Firm shall determine the amount of the Underpayment that has occurred and any such
Underpayment shall be promptly paid by the Company to or for the benefit of Executive but no later than March 15
of the year after the year in which the Underpayment is determined to exist, which is when the legally binding right
to such Underpayment arises.
c.
In the event that the provisions of Code Section 280G and 4999 or any successor
provisions are repealed without succession, this Section 10 shall be of no further force or effect.
11.
Indemnification. The Company shall defend and indemnify the Executive to the fullest
extent permitted under the Delaware General Corporate Law (the “DGCL”) notwithstanding any provision to the
contrary or any inconsistent choice of law provision contained in this Agreement, the Company’s charter or bylaws.
The rights to indemnification shall survive any termination of this Agreement. The Executive shall also have the
right to choose his own counsel under Section 11 of this Agreement, and the Company shall not object to the
Executive’s choice, provided that there is no actual conflict regarding the representation.
12.

Dispute Resolution.

a.
The Executive and the Company agree that any and all controversies or claims (whether
contract, tort or statutory) between the Executive and the Company arising out of the Executive’s employment, the
termination of that employment, and any agreements previously or hereafter entered into by the Executive and the
Company in connection with such employment relationship, that could have been filed in a court of law (or an
administrative agency) shall be settled by final and binding arbitration. The claims covered by this Agreement
include, but are not limited to, claims for wrongful termination, wages or other compensation due, breach of
contract, tort, discrimination or harassment (including race, sex, religion, national origin, age, marital status, medical
condition or disability), violation of any public policies, and claims for violation of federal, state or other
governmental law, statute, regulation or ordinance.
b.
The arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the National Rules for the
Resolution of Employment Disputes of the American Arbitration Association then in effect before a single arbitrator
mutually selected by the Executive and the Company. If the Executive and the Company cannot agree on the
selection of an arbitrator, each party shall select an arbitrator and the two arbitrators shall select a third arbitrator
who shall resolve the dispute. For the purpose of any judicial proceeding to enforce such award or incidental to such
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arbitration or to compel arbitration and for purposes of Sections 5 and 6 hereof, the parties hereby submit to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the state or federal courts, as appropriate, within the State of New York, and agree that
service of process in such arbitration or court proceedings shall be satisfactorily made upon it if sent by registered
mail addressed to it at the address referred to below in Section 13(f).
c.
The arbitrator shall be empowered to award any party any remedy at law or in equity to
which the prevailing party would otherwise have been entitled had the matter been litigated or pursued in a civil
court or administrative forum including, but not limited to, general, special, and punitive damages, and injunctive
relief. However, the arbitrator’s authority to award any remedy is subject to whatever limitations, if any, exist in the
applicable law on such remedies. Any award pursuant to arbitration hereunder shall be included in a written decision
that will state the legal and factual basis for the award and shall set forth the basis for calculating any damages
award. The arbitrator’s award, order or judgment shall be deemed final and binding upon the parties.
d.
A demand for arbitration must be submitted within the limitations period that would be
applicable in court. If either party does not submit and serve a written demand for arbitration within the applicable
statute of limitations, such failure shall constitute an absolute bar to the institution of any proceedings in any forum,
and shall constitute a waiver of any rights regarding that claim.
e.
Neither party nor the arbitrator may disclose the existence, content or results of any
arbitrations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of all parties hereto.
f.
Pending such resolution of any claim, the Executive shall be entitled to continue to
receive all payments and benefits due under this Agreement or otherwise, unless the arbitration panel determines
otherwise. Judgment on the arbitration award may be entered by any court of competent jurisdiction.
g.
Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the parties from agreeing voluntarily after a
claim or controversy has arisen to submit such claim or controversy to mediation or other informal settlement
process. However, if the dispute is not resolved through mediation or such other process, it shall be submitted to
binding arbitration pursuant to this Agreement.
13.

Miscellaneous.

a.
This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with,
the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to its principles of conflicts of laws.
b.
This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, and
their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns.
c.
This Agreement, and the Executive’s rights and obligations hereunder, may not be
assigned by the Executive. The Company may assign its rights, together with its obligations, hereunder in
connection with any sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of its business or assets.
d.
This Agreement cannot be amended orally, or by any course of conduct or dealing, but
only by a written agreement signed by the parties hereto.
e.
The failure of either party to insist upon the strict performance of any of the terms,
conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver or relinquishment of future
compliance therewith, and such terms, conditions and provisions shall remain in full force and effect. No waiver of
any term or condition of this Agreement on the part of either party shall be effective for any purpose whatsoever
unless such waiver is in writing and signed by such party.
f.
All notices, requests, consents and other communications required or permitted to be
given hereunder, shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally or by an overnight courier service or sent by
registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to the Company at its principal headquarters
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(attention Chair, Compensation Committee of the Board) and to the Executive at the address set forth in his
personnel file, and shall be deemed given when so delivered personally or by overnight courier or when actually
received if sent by registered or certified mail. Each party may designate another address, for receipt of notices
hereunder by giving notice to the other party in accordance with this paragraph (f) of this Section 13.
g.
This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement and understanding of the parties relating
to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements, arrangements and understandings, written or oral,
relating to the subject matter hereof, including the Executive’s employment agreement dated January 3, 2017, and
except for the IC Agreements that will remain in full force and effect to govern the relationship of the Company and
Executive regarding the Executive’s clients. No representation, promise or inducement has been made by either
party that is not embodied in this Agreement, and neither party shall be bound by or liable for any alleged
representation, promise or inducement not so set forth.
h.
As used in this Agreement, “affiliate” of a specified Person shall mean and include any
Person controlling, controlled by or under common control with the specified Person.
i.
The section headings contained herein are for reference purposes only and shall not in
any way affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
j.
This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall
constitute an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
k.
As used in this Agreement, the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, and the singular or
plural, shall be deemed to include the others whenever and wherever the context so requires. Additionally, unless the
context requires otherwise, “or” is not exclusive.
Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signature Page Follows
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement, which shall be deemed
effective as of the Effective Date set forth herein.
NATIONAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION
By:
/s/ Glenn C. Worman
Name: Glenn C. Worman
Title: President, CFO, National Holdings Corporation
EXECUTIVE
/s/ Michael Mullen
Michael Mullen
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Employment Agreement (this “Agreement”), is effective as of December 31, 2018 (the “Effective
Date”), by and between National Holdings Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Glenn
Worman (the “Executive”).
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, the Company desires to continue to employ the Executive as President and Chief Financial
Officer, and the Executive desires to continue to serve the Company in such capacity, upon the terms and subject to
the conditions contained in this Agreement;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, the
parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
1.

Employment.

a.
Services. The Executive will continue to be employed by the Company and shall serve as
the Company’s President and Chief Financial Officer. The Executive shall report exclusively to the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company (the “CEO”) and shall perform such duties as are consistent with his position and as
directed by the CEO. The Executive agrees to perform his assigned duties faithfully and to devote such of his time,
attention and energies to the business of the Company as he deems necessary to carry out his role.
b.
Acceptance. The Executive hereby accepts continued employment with the Company
pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
2.
Term. The term of this Agreement, and the Executive’s employment pursuant to the
terms hereof, shall commence on the Effective Date and continue through the date that is five (5) years from the
Effective Date, unless earlier terminated pursuant to Section 8 below (such period, the “Term”).
3.

Limited Extent of Service.

a.
Business Activities. Subject to Section 5, the Executive shall not be restricted from
pursuing, or being actively engaged in, any other business activity, whether or not such business activity is pursued
for gain, profit or other pecuniary advantage, and whether or not such business activity is currently existing or is
hereafter conducted.
b.
Location. The duties to be performed by the Executive hereunder shall be performed
primarily at the office of the Company in or around New York City, subject to reasonable travel requirements on
behalf of the Company, or such other place as the CEO may reasonably designate. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the Executive’s primary place of business may not be relocated to another city without his written consent.
4.
Compensation. As full compensation for the performance by the Executive of his duties
under this Agreement, the Executive shall receive the following:
a.
Base Salary. During the Term, the Company shall pay the Executive a salary (the “Base
Salary”) at the rate of $300,000 per year. Payment shall be made semi-monthly in accordance with the Company’s
normal payroll practices. The Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) shall review the Executive’s Base Salary
annually and may increase (but not decrease) the Executive’s Base Salary from year to year. Such adjusted salary
then shall become the Executive’s Base Salary for purposes of this Agreement. The annual review of the Executive’s
Base Salary by the Board will consider, among other things, the Executive’s own performance, the Company’s
performance, and market practice.
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b.
Annual Bonus. During the Term, the Executive shall be eligible to receive, following the
end of each fiscal year, an annual cash and restricted stock bonus pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Company’s 2017 Fiscal Year Bonus Plan, as it may be amended or replaced from time to time in the sole discretion
of the CEO (the “Bonus Plan”), provided that the Compensation Committee of the Board must consent to any
revisions that determine the Chief Executive Officer’s or Chief Financial Officer’s bonus. The Executive’s target
cash bonus each fiscal year shall be such amount established by the Compensation Committee of the Board, and
communicated to the Executive, on or around the beginning of each fiscal year (the “Target Bonus”) and for the
fiscal year that began October 1, 2018 will be $250,000. This cash target bonus is the baseline bonus used to
establish the actual cash bonus paid based on the success of the Company’s annual goals and objectives, as outlined
in the Bonus Plan. The restricted stock component and calculation is also outlined in the Company’s Bonus Plan.
c.
Withholding. The Company shall be entitled to withhold all applicable federal, state and
local taxes and social security and such other amounts as may be required by law from all amounts payable to the
Executive under this Section 4.
d.
Continued Equity Vesting. The Executive shall continue to vest in all equity (including
restricted stock and stock option) grants that were previously awarded to him, pursuant to the terms, conditions, and
vesting requirements set forth in the applicable equity award documents governing the grants, but subject to the
equity acceleration permitted by Section 9 below.
e.
Additional Stock-Based Awards. During the Term, the Executive may be eligible for
additional stock-based awards under the long-term incentive plan of the Company, as determined by the Board, in
addition to the stock awards under the Bonus Plan. Nothing herein requires the Board to make additional grants of
restricted stock or other awards in any year.
f.
Expenses. During the Term, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Executive in furtherance of the business and affairs of the Company, including
but not limited to travel and entertainment expenses. The Executive will timely supply the Company with
appropriate vouchers or other proof of the Executive’s expenditures and otherwise will comply with any expense
reimbursement policy as may from time to time be adopted by the Company. Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement to the contrary, if the Executive is entitled to be paid or reimbursed for any taxable expenses under this
Agreement, and such payments or reimbursements are includible in the Executive’s federal gross taxable income,
then: (i) the amount of any expense reimbursement or benefit provided during the Executive’s taxable year shall not
affect any expenses eligible for reimbursement or benefit to be provided in any other taxable year; (ii) the
reimbursement of any eligible expense shall be made no later than the last day of the Executive’s taxable year that
immediately follows the taxable year in which the expense was incurred; and (iii) the right to any such expense
reimbursement or benefit shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.
g.
Other Benefits. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to all rights and benefits
for which he shall be eligible under any benefit or other plans (including, without limitation, 401(k), dental, medical,
medical reimbursement and hospital plans, pension plans, employee stock purchase plans, profit sharing plans,
bonus plans, prescription drug reimbursement plans, short and long term disability plans, life insurance and other socalled “fringe” benefits) as the Company shall make available to its senior executives from time to time. The
Executive shall also receive up to $1,000 per month as an automobile allowance and up to $300 per month for
reimbursement of his gym membership expenses, each payable on the last pay date of each month after, for the gym
membership, receipt of substantiation.
h.
Vacation. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to a vacation of 20 days per
annum, in addition to holidays observed by the Company. During the Term, the Executive shall not be entitled to
carry forward vacation days from one calendar year of employment to the next calendar year of employment, except
as may be required by applicable law or provided in a Company policy applicable to the Executive.
5.
Non-Disclosure of Confidential Information and Trade Secrets; Return of Property;
Invention Assignment; Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation.
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a.
The Executive understands and agrees that the Confidential Information (as defined
below) and Trade Secrets (as defined below) constitute valuable assets of the Company and may not be converted to
his own use. The Executive hereby agrees that throughout the Term and at all times after his separation from
employment, for so long as the information at issue remains either Confidential Information or a Trade Secret and
except as otherwise permitted by Section 5(d) below, the Executive will not, directly or indirectly, reveal, divulge, or
disclose to any person or entity not expressly authorized by the Company any Confidential Information or Trade
Secrets and will not, directly or indirectly, use or make use of any Confidential Information or Trade Secrets in
connection with any business activity other than that of the Company.
Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the Executive shall not be restricted from
disclosing or using Confidential Information or Trade Secrets that are required to be disclosed by law, court
order or other legal process; provided, however, that in the event disclosure is required by law, and except as
otherwise permitted by Section 5(d) below, the Executive shall provide the Company with prompt written
notice of such requirement in time to permit the Company to seek an appropriate protective order or other
similar protection prior to any such disclosure by the Executive.
The parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is not intended to, and will not,
alter or diminish either the Company’s rights or the Executive’s obligations under any state or federal
statutory or common law, rule or regulation regarding confidential information, trade secrets and unfair
trade practices and all potential remedies under such laws remain available.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Confidential Information” means all data and information
relating to the business of the Company that is disclosed to the Executive or of which the Executive becomes
aware as a consequence of his employment and that has value to the Company and is not generally known to
those not employed or otherwise engaged by the Company. “Confidential Information” shall include, but is not
limited to, financial plans and data concerning Company; management planning information; Company’s
business plans or strategies (including, without limitation, any merger or acquisition plans); “know how;”
Company’s operational methods; market studies; marketing plans or strategies; product development techniques
or plans; client and prospective client lists; details of client and vendor contracts; current and anticipated client
requirements; past, current and planned research and development; business acquisition plans; employee
compensation and other personnel information; and new personnel acquisition plans. “Confidential Information”
shall not include data or information (a) which has been voluntarily disclosed to the public by the Company,
except where such public disclosure was made without authorization from the Company; (b) which has been
independently developed and disclosed by Persons other than the Company or its principals or representatives;
or (c) which has otherwise entered the public domain through lawful means. This definition shall not limit any
definition of “confidential information” or any equivalent term under applicable state or federal law.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Trade Secret” means information, without regard to form,
relating to the Company, its activities, businesses or clients, including, but not limited to, technical or
nontechnical data, a formula, a pattern, a compilation, a program, a device, a method, a technique, a drawing, a
process, financial data, financial plans, product plans, or a list of actual or potential clients which is not
commonly known by or available to the public via lawful means and which: (A) derives economic value,
actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by proper means by,
other persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use; and (B) is the subject of efforts that
are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy. Trade Secret shall include, but not be limited
to, client lists, client billing and pricing information, technical information regarding the Company’s
intellectual property, product development information, patent information and all other information permitted
to be covered under the Uniform Trade Secrets Act. This definition shall not limit any definition of “trade
secret” or any equivalent term under applicable state or federal law.
b.
The Executive agrees that he will not retain or destroy, and will immediately return to the
Company on or prior to his last day of employment, or at any other time the Company requests such return, any and
all property of the Company that is in his possession or subject to his control, including, but not limited to, keys,
credit and identification cards, equipment, client files and information, and all Confidential Information and Trade
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Secrets. The Executive will not make, distribute or retain copies of any such information or property. The Executive
agrees that he will reimburse the Company for all of its costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, of recovering the
above materials and otherwise enforcing compliance with this provision if the Executive does not return the
materials to the Company on or prior to his separation from employment or at any other time the materials are
requested by Company, or if the Executive otherwise fails to comply with this provision.
c.
The Executive agrees that he will promptly and fully disclose in writing to the Company
inventions, designs, concepts, discoveries, developments, improvements, and innovations, whether or not they merit
patent, trademark or copyright protection, conceived of, designed or reduced to practice by the Executive, either
solely or in concert with others, at any time during his employment, which (a) relate in any manner, whether at the
time of conception, design or reduction to practice, to the Company’s business or its actual or demonstrably
anticipated research or development; (b) result from any work performed by the Executive on behalf of the
Company; or (c) result from the use of the Company’s equipment, facilities, Confidential Information or Trade
Secrets (collectively referred to as “Inventions”).
The Executive acknowledges and agrees that he will keep and maintain adequate written records
of all such Inventions at all stages thereof in the form of notes, sketches, drawings, photographs, printouts, and/or
reports relating thereto. These records are and shall remain the property of, and be available to, the Company or its
designee(s) at all times. The Executive further acknowledges that all such Inventions shall be the exclusive property
of the Company. As such, the Executive hereby assigns his entire right, title, and interest in and to all such
Inventions to the Company or its designee(s). The Executive will, at the Company’s request and expense, execute
specific transfers, assignments, documents or other instruments and take such further action as may be considered
necessary by the Company at any time during or subsequent to the Executive’s employment to obtain and defend
any intellectual property rights and vest complete title and ownership to such Inventions to the Company or its
designee(s).
d.
Nothing in this Agreement or elsewhere prohibits the Executive from communicating
with government agencies about possible violations of federal, state, or local laws, rules or regulations, or otherwise
providing information to government agencies, filing a complaint with government agencies, or participating in
government agency investigations or proceedings. The Executive is not required to notify the Company of any such
communications; provided, however, that nothing herein authorizes the disclosure of information the Executive
obtained through a communication that was subject to the attorney-client privilege. Further, notwithstanding the
Executive’s confidentiality and nondisclosure obligations, the Executive is hereby advised as follows pursuant to the
Defend Trade Secrets Act: “An individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State
trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (A) is made (i) in confidence to a Federal, State, or local
government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (ii) solely for the purpose of reporting or
investigating a suspected violation of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other
proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. An individual who files a lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for
reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose the trade secret to the attorney of the individual and use the trade
secret information in the court proceeding, if the individual (A) files any document containing the trade secret under
seal; and (B) does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order.”
e.
The Executive acknowledges and agrees that his services are special, unique and
extraordinary and that in the course of performing such services the Executive will be provided with and have access
to and knowledge of Confidential Information and Trade Secrets that would be extremely valuable to competitors of
the Company and its subsidiaries. The Executive therefore agrees that, during the Term and for a period of three (3)
months thereafter, the Executive will not, in the geographical area where the Company does business, directly or
indirectly, whether as an owner, partner, officer, director, employee, consultant, investor, lender or otherwise (except
as the passive holder of not more than 1% of the outstanding stock of a publicly-held company), engage or assist
others in engaging in any business or enterprise that is competitive with the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries.
f.
During the Term and for a period of nine (9) months thereafter, the Executive will not,
directly or indirectly, either alone or in association with others, (i) solicit, induce or attempt to induce, any employee
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or independent contractor (including any financial advisor) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, to terminate
his or her employment or other engagement with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or (ii) hire or recruit, or
attempt to hire or recruit, or engage or attempt to engage as an independent contractor, any person who was
employed or otherwise engaged by the Company or any of its subsidiaries at any time during the term of the
Executive’s employment with the Company; provided, that this clause (ii) shall not apply to the recruitment or hiring
or other engagement of any individual whose employment or other engagement with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries ended at least six (6) months before the recruitment, hiring, or other engagement.
g.
6.

The provisions of this Section 5 shall survive any termination of this Agreement.
Section 5 Remedies.

a.
In the event that the Executive breaches any provisions of Section 5 or there is a
threatened breach, then, in addition to any other rights which the Company may have, the Company shall be entitled,
without the posting of a bond or other security, to seek injunctive relief to enforce the restrictions contained in such
Section. The Company and the Executive agree that any such action for injunctive relief shall be heard in any of the
courts set forth in Section 12(c) below, and each of the parties hereto agrees to accept service of process by
registered or certified mail and to otherwise consent to the jurisdiction of such courts. If the Executive violates any
of the provisions of Sections 5(e) or 5(f), the Executive shall continue to be bound by the restrictions set forth in
such provision until a period equal to the period of restriction has expired without any violation.
b.
Each of the rights and remedies enumerated in Section 6(a) shall be independent of the
others and shall be in addition to and not in lieu of any other rights and remedies available to the Company at law or
in equity. If any of the covenants contained in Section 5, or any part of any of them, is hereafter construed or
adjudicated to be invalid or unenforceable, the same shall not affect the remainder of the covenant or covenants or
rights or remedies which shall be given full effect without regard to the invalid portions. If any of the covenants
contained in Section 5 is held to be invalid or unenforceable because of the duration of such provision or the area
covered thereby, the parties agree that the court or arbitrator making such determination shall have the power to
reduce the duration and/or area of such provision and in its reduced form such provision shall then be enforceable.
c.
In the event that an actual proceeding is brought in equity to enforce the provisions of
Section 5, the Executive shall not urge as a defense that there is an adequate remedy at law nor shall the Company
be prevented from seeking any other remedies which may be available.
d.
7.
Company as follows:

The provisions of this Section 6 shall survive any termination of this Agreement.
Representations and Warranties. The Executive hereby represents and warrants to the

a.
Neither the execution or delivery of this Agreement nor the performance by the Executive
of his duties and other obligations hereunder violate or will violate any statute, law, determination or award, or
conflict with or constitute a default or breach of any covenant or obligation under (whether immediately, upon the
giving of notice or lapse of time or both) any prior employment agreement, contract, or other instrument to which
the Executive is a party or by which he is bound.
b.
The Executive has the full right, power and legal capacity to enter and deliver this
Agreement and to perform his duties and other obligations hereunder. This Agreement constitutes the legal, valid
and binding obligation of the Executive enforceable against him in accordance with its terms. No approvals or
consents of any persons or entities are required for the Executive to execute and deliver this Agreement or perform
his duties and other obligations hereunder.
8.
Termination. This Agreement and the Executive’s employment hereunder shall be
terminated upon the Executive’s death and may be terminated as follows:
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a.
The Executive’s employment hereunder may be terminated by the Board for Cause. Any
of the following actions by the Executive shall constitute “Cause”:
(i)
the Executive’s material breach of the covenants contained in Section 5 hereof, or
material breach of any other provision of this Agreement, provided that the Executive was given prior written
notice of any material breach (in which event notice must be given with sufficient details so that the Executive
could reasonably be expected to identify it as a material breach) and provided further that, in such event, the
Executive was granted not less than thirty (30) days to correct any such breach, unless the Company reasonably
expects that irreparable injury would occur if the Executive was granted a thirty (30) day cure period in which
event the Company may give the Executive any such shorter cure period as it deems reasonable under the
circumstances, but not less than ten (10) days;
(ii)
the willful and continual failure or refusal by the Executive to perform his duties under
this Agreement (other than by reason of death or Disability (as defined below)), provided such failure or refusal
continues for a period of thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice thereof from the Board in reasonable
detail of such failure or refusal;
(iii) any action by the Executive constituting willful misconduct or gross negligence in
respect of the Executive’s obligation to the Company that results in material economic damage to the Company;
and
(iv)
Executive to, a felony.

the conviction of the Executive of, or a plea of guilty or nolo contendere by the

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no action taken by the Executive in connection with his duties
hereunder shall constitute or be used to support a finding for Cause if the Executive acted in good faith and in a
manner he reasonably believed to be in, and not opposed to, the best interests of the Company.
b.
The Executive’s employment hereunder may be terminated by the Board due to the
Executive’s Disability. For purposes of this Agreement, a termination for “Disability” shall occur (i) when the
Board has provided a written termination notice to the Executive supported by a written statement from a reputable
independent physician, after an appropriate examination, to the effect that the Executive shall have become so
physically or mentally incapacitated as to be unable to resume, within the ensuing six (6) months, his employment
under this Agreement by reason of physical or mental illness or injury or (ii) upon rendering of a written termination
notice by the Board after the Executive has been unable to substantially perform his duties hereunder for ninety (90)
or more consecutive days, or more than one hundred and eighty (180) days in any consecutive twelve month period,
by reason of any physical or mental illness or injury. For purposes of this Section 8(b), the Executive agrees to make
himself available and to cooperate in a reasonable examination by a reputable independent physician retained by the
Company.
c.

The Executive’s employment hereunder may be terminated by the Executive for Good

Reason.
(i)
For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the
following without the Executive’s express prior written consent (any of which shall constitute a “Good Reason
Condition”):
(A)

any material breach of this Agreement by the Company;

(B)

a material reduction by the Company of the Executive’s duties, responsibilities, or

(C)

a reduction of the Executive’s Base Salary;

authority;
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(D)

a requirement that the Executive report to anyone other than the CEO;

(E)
on or before December 31, 2021, a change in the composition of the Board that results
in the Continuing Directors (as defined below) no longer constituting at least a majority of the Board (or, if
applicable, the Board of Directors of a successor corporation to the Company), where the term “Continuing
Director” means at any date a member of the Board (i) who was a member of the Board on the Effective Date or
(ii) who was nominated or elected subsequent to such date by at least a majority of the directors who were
Continuing Directors at the time of such nomination or election or whose election to the Board was
recommended or endorsed by at least a majority of the directors who were Continuing Directors at the time of
such nomination or election; provided, however, that there shall be excluded from this clause (ii) any individual
whose initial assumption of office occurred as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to
the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents, by or on
behalf of a person other than the Board; or
(F)
a material change in the geographic location at which the Executive must perform
services (which, for purposes of this Agreement, means a relocation of the Company’s principal place of business of
the Executive outside of the New York City metropolitan area).
(ii)
The Executive may terminate his employment for Good Reason for any Good Reason
Condition only if (A) the Executive has provided the Company with written notice of the asserted Good Reason
Condition within ninety (90) days after its initial existence; (B) the Company fails to cure the condition within thirty
(30) days after receiving such written notice; and (C) the Executive terminates his employment within ninety (90)
days following the Executive’s written notice to the Company of the existence of the Good Reason Condition.
d.
The Executive’s employment may be terminated by the Company without Cause or by
the Executive without Good Reason following ninety (90) days prior written notice to the other party. The Company
may terminate the Executive’s employment for Cause immediately, subject to the cure provisions set forth in the
Cause definition.
9.

Compensation upon Termination.

a.
If, during the Term, the Executive’s employment is terminated as a result of his death or
Disability, the Company (or such other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay to the Executive or to the
Executive’s estate, as applicable, (i) his Base Salary through the date of his termination, (ii) any benefits which the
Executive is entitled to receive under any Company plan, (iii) any expense reimbursement amounts owed the
Executive, and (iv) any accrued but unpaid annual bonuses earned by the Executive prior to the date of his
termination of employment ((i)-(iv) collectively, the “Accrued Obligations”). Subject to Section 9(d), any such
payments of Base Salary and accrued but unpaid annual bonus shall be made to the Executive or to the Executive’s
estate, as applicable, within sixty (60) days after his death or termination for Disability. In addition to the foregoing,
the Executive or the Executive’s estate, as applicable, shall receive a pro-rated bonus under the Bonus Plan,
calculated based on an amount equal to (A) the Target Bonus for the year in which the date of termination occurs,
multiplied by (B) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days worked by the Executive during the fiscal
year in which his date of termination occurs and the denominator of which is 365 (the “Prorated Target Bonus”). The
Prorated Target Bonus shall be paid to the Executive or his estate in a lump sum in cash within sixty (60) days after
his date of termination (or such later date as may be required pursuant to Section 9(d)). In addition, any shares of
restricted stock awards or restricted stock units outstanding on the date of the Executive’s termination shall become
fully vested and non-forfeitable as of his date of termination. The vested portion of any stock options outstanding on
the date of his termination shall remain exercisable by the Executive or his estate for a period of twenty (24) months
following the date of his termination (or, if earlier, the normal expiration date of such stock options), and any
unvested portion of outstanding stock options shall lapse and be forfeited without consideration as of the date of
termination.
b.
If, during the Term, the Executive’s employment is terminated for Cause or by the
Executive without Good Reason, then the Company (or such other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay
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to the Executive the Accrued Obligations. The Executive shall have no further entitlement hereunder to any other
compensation or benefits except to the extent otherwise provided by law. Any shares of unvested restricted stock
awards or restricted stock units outstanding on the date of the Executive’s termination shall be forfeited without
consideration as of the date of termination. The vested portion of any stock options outstanding on the date of the
Executive’s termination shall remain exercisable by the Executive for a period of thirty (30) days following the date
of his termination (or, if earlier, the normal expiration date of such stock options), and any unvested portion of
outstanding stock options shall lapse and be forfeited without consideration as of the date of termination.
c.
If, during the Term, the Executive’s employment is terminated other than as a result of
the Executive’s death or Disability and other than for reasons specified in Section 9(b), or if the Executive
terminates his employment for Good Reason, then, in addition to the Accrued Obligations, and provided that within
sixty (60) days after the date of termination the Executive shall have executed the Company’s standard general
release of claims and covenant not to sue (the “Release”) and not revoked such Release, (i) the Company (or such
other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay to the Executive a severance amount equal to the product of
(A) two (2) and (B) the amount equal to the sum of (1) the Base Salary and (2) the Target Bonus in effect for the
fiscal year in which the termination occurs; (ii) if the Executive elects to continue participation in any group
medical, dental, vision and/or prescription drug plan benefits to which the Executive and/or the Executive’s eligible
dependents would be entitled under Section 4980B of the Code (COBRA), then for a period of twelve (12) months
following termination, the Company (or such other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay the entire
COBRA cost of such coverage, provided, however, that such period shall run concurrently with any period for which
the Executive is eligible to elect health coverage under COBRA and no payment shall be made if the payment would
cause taxes on the Executive in excess of the amount of the premiums or would impose taxes or penalties on the
Company or other employees; (iii) the Company (or such other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay to
the Executive an amount equal to the annual cash bonus that would have been otherwise payable to the Executive
for the fiscal year in which his termination occurs, assuming the Executive’s employment had not terminated prior to
the payment date for such bonus, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days elapsed in
the fiscal year of termination through the date of the Executive’s separation from employment, and the denominator
of which is 365, to be paid at the same time as such bonuses are paid to executives of the Company; (iv) any shares
of restricted stock awards and restricted stock units outstanding on the date of the Executive’s termination shall
become fully vested and non-forfeitable as of his date of termination; and (v) any stock options outstanding on the
date of the Executive’s termination shall become fully vested and shall remain exercisable by the Executive for a
period of twelve (12) months following the date of his termination (or, if earlier, the normal expiration date of such
stock options). Subject to Section 9(d), the payments specified in clauses (i) and (iii) of the preceding sentence shall
be paid to the Executive in a lump sum within sixty (60) days following the Executive’s date of termination.
d.
This Agreement shall be interpreted and administered in a manner so that any amount or
benefit payable hereunder shall be paid or provided in a manner that is either exempt from or compliant with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and the regulations
and other guidance thereunder and any state law of similar effect (collectively “Section 409A”). Nevertheless, the
tax treatment of the benefits provided under the Agreement is not warranted or guaranteed. Neither the Company nor
its affiliates, nor their directors, officers, employees or advisers, shall be held liable for any taxes, interest, penalties
or other monetary amounts owed by the Executive as a result of the application of Section 409A of the Code.
(i)
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, to the extent that any amount
or benefit that would constitute non-exempt “deferred compensation” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code
(“Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation”) would otherwise be payable or distributable hereunder, or a different form
of payment of such Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation would be effected, by reason of a Change in Control or
Executive’s termination of employment, such Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation will not be payable or
distributable to Executive, and/or such different form of payment will not be effected, by reason of such
circumstance unless the circumstances giving rise to such Change in Control or termination of employment, as the
case may be, meet any description or definition of “change in control event” or “separation from service” or
“substantial risk of forfeiture” as the case may be, in Section 409A of the Code and applicable regulations (without
giving effect to any elective provisions that may be available under such definition). This provision does not affect
the dollar amount or prohibit the vesting of any Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation upon a Change in Control or
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termination of employment, however defined. If this provision prevents the payment or distribution of any NonExempt Deferred Compensation, or the application of a different form of payment, then, subject to subsection (iii)
below, such payment or distribution shall be made at the time and in the form that would have applied absent the
non-409A-conforming event.
(ii)
It is intended that (A) each payment of termination benefits under this Agreement shall be
regarded as a separate “payment” for purposes of Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(i), for purposes of
Section 409A of the Code, (B) all payments of any such benefits shall satisfy, to the greatest extent possible, the
exemptions from the application of Section 409A provided under Treasury Regulations Sections 1.409A-1(b)(4) and
1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii), and (C) any such benefits consisting of premiums payable under the COBRA also shall satisfy,
to the greatest extent possible, the exemption from the application of Section 409A provided under Treasury
Regulations Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(v). Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if any amount
or benefit that would constitute Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation would otherwise be payable or distributable
under this Agreement by reason of Executive’s separation from service during a period in which the Executive is a
“specified employee” of the Company, as such term is defined in Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i), then, subject to any
permissible acceleration of payment by the Company under Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3(j)(4)(ii) (domestic
relations order), (j)(4)(iii) (conflicts of interest), or (j)(4)(vi) (payment of employment taxes), (i) the timing of such
amounts or payments shall be delayed until the earlier of (a) the date that is six (6) months and one (1) day after the
Executive’s Separation from Service and (b) the date of the Executive’s death (such applicable date, the “Delayed
Initial Payment Date”), and (ii) the Company shall (a) pay the Executive a lump sum amount equal to the sum of the
benefit payments that the Executive would otherwise have received through the Delayed Initial Payment Date (or,
with respect to death, the earliest administratively practicable date provided that payment complies with the timing
requirements of Section 409A) if the commencement of the payment of the benefits had not been delayed pursuant
to this paragraph and (b) commence paying the balance, if any, of the benefits in accordance with the applicable
payment schedule.
(iii)
Whenever in this Agreement a payment or benefit is conditioned on the Executive’s
execution of the Release, the Company shall provide such Release to the Executive promptly following the date of
termination, and such Release must be executed and all revocation periods shall have expired in accordance with
terms set forth in the release, but in no case later than sixty (60) days after the date of termination; failing which
such payment or benefit shall be forfeited. If such payment or benefit constitutes “Non-Exempt Deferred
Compensation,” then, subject to subsection (ii) above, such payment or benefit (including any installment payments)
that would have otherwise been payable during such 60-day period shall be accumulated and paid on the 60th day
after the date of termination provided such release shall have been executed and such revocation periods shall have
expired. If such payment or benefit is exempt from Section 409A of the Code, the Company may elect to make or
commence payment at any time during such 60-day period.
10.

Mandatory Reduction of Payments in Certain Events.

a.
Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, in the event it shall be
determined that any payment or distribution by the Company to or for the benefit of Executive (whether paid or
payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise) (a “Payment”) would be
subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then, prior to the making of any
Payment to Executive, a calculation shall be made comparing (i) the net benefit to Executive of the Payment after
payment of the Excise Tax, to (ii) the net benefit to Executive if the Payment had been limited to the extent
necessary to avoid being subject to the Excise Tax. If the amount calculated under (i) above is less than the amount
calculated under (ii) above, then the Payment shall be limited to the extent necessary to avoid being subject to the
Excise Tax (the “Reduced Amount”). The reduction of the Payments due hereunder, if applicable, shall be made by
first reducing cash Payments and then, to the extent necessary, reducing those Payments having the next highest
ratio of Parachute Value to actual present value of such Payments as of the date of the change of control, as
determined by the Determination Firm (as defined in Section 10(b) below). For purposes of this Section 10, present
value shall be determined in accordance with Section 280G(d)(4) of the Code. For purposes of this Section 10, the
“Parachute Value” of a Payment means the present value as of the date of the change of control of the portion of
such Payment that constitutes a “parachute payment” under Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code, as determined by the
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Determination Firm for purposes of determining whether and to what extent the Excise Tax will apply to such
Payment.
b.
The determination of whether an Excise Tax would be imposed, the amount of such
Excise Tax, and the calculation of the amounts referred to Section 10(a)(i) and (ii) above shall be made by an
independent, nationally recognized accounting firm or compensation consulting firm mutually acceptable to the
Company and Executive (the “Determination Firm”) which shall provide detailed supporting calculations. Any
determination by the Determination Firm shall be binding upon the Company and Executive. As a result of the
uncertainty in the application of Section 4999 of the Code at the time of the initial determination by the
Determination Firm hereunder, it is possible that Payments the Executive was entitled to, but did not receive
pursuant to Section 10(a), could have been made without the imposition of the Excise Tax (“Underpayment”). In
such event, the Determination Firm shall determine the amount of the Underpayment that has occurred and any such
Underpayment shall be promptly paid by the Company to or for the benefit of Executive but no later than March 15
of the year after the year in which the Underpayment is determined to exist, which is when the legally binding right
to such Underpayment arises.
c.
In the event that the provisions of Code Section 280G and 4999 or any successor
provisions are repealed without succession, this Section 10 shall be of no further force or effect.
11.
Indemnification. The Company shall defend and indemnify the Executive to the fullest
extent permitted under the Delaware General Corporate Law (the “DGCL”) notwithstanding any provision to the
contrary or any inconsistent choice of law provision contained in this Agreement, the Company’s charter or bylaws.
The rights to indemnification shall survive any termination of this Agreement. The Executive shall also have the
right to choose his own counsel under Section 11 of this Agreement, and the Company shall not object to the
Executive’s choice, provided that there is no actual conflict regarding the representation.
12.

Dispute Resolution.

a.
The Executive and the Company agree that any and all controversies or claims (whether
contract, tort or statutory) between the Executive and the Company arising out of the Executive’s employment, the
termination of that employment, and any agreements previously or hereafter entered into by the Executive and the
Company in connection with such employment relationship, that could have been filed in a court of law (or an
administrative agency) shall be settled by final and binding arbitration. The claims covered by this Agreement
include, but are not limited to, claims for wrongful termination, wages or other compensation due, breach of
contract, tort, discrimination or harassment (including race, sex, religion, national origin, age, marital status, medical
condition or disability), violation of any public policies, and claims for violation of federal, state or other
governmental law, statute, regulation or ordinance.
b.
The arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the National Rules for the
Resolution of Employment Disputes of the American Arbitration Association then in effect before a single arbitrator
mutually selected by the Executive and the Company. If the Executive and the Company cannot agree on the
selection of an arbitrator, each party shall select an arbitrator and the two arbitrators shall select a third arbitrator
who shall resolve the dispute. For the purpose of any judicial proceeding to enforce such award or incidental to such
arbitration or to compel arbitration and for purposes of Sections 5 and 6 hereof, the parties hereby submit to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the state or federal courts, as appropriate, within the State of New York, and agree that
service of process in such arbitration or court proceedings shall be satisfactorily made upon it if sent by registered
mail addressed to it at the address referred to below in Section 13(f).
c.
The arbitrator shall be empowered to award any party any remedy at law or in equity to
which the prevailing party would otherwise have been entitled had the matter been litigated or pursued in a civil
court or administrative forum including, but not limited to, general, special, and punitive damages, and injunctive
relief. However, the arbitrator’s authority to award any remedy is subject to whatever limitations, if any, exist in the
applicable law on such remedies. Any award pursuant to arbitration hereunder shall be included in a written decision
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that will state the legal and factual basis for the award and shall set forth the basis for calculating any damages
award. The arbitrator’s award, order or judgment shall be deemed final and binding upon the parties.
d.
A demand for arbitration must be submitted within the limitations period that would be
applicable in court. If either party does not submit and serve a written demand for arbitration within the applicable
statute of limitations, such failure shall constitute an absolute bar to the institution of any proceedings in any forum,
and shall constitute a waiver of any rights regarding that claim.
e.
Neither party nor the arbitrator may disclose the existence, content or results of any
arbitrations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of all parties hereto.
f.
Pending such resolution of any claim, the Executive shall be entitled to continue to
receive all payments and benefits due under this Agreement or otherwise, unless the arbitration panel determines
otherwise. Judgment on the arbitration award may be entered by any court of competent jurisdiction.
g.
Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the parties from agreeing voluntarily after a
claim or controversy has arisen to submit such claim or controversy to mediation or other informal settlement
process. However, if the dispute is not resolved through mediation or such other process, it shall be submitted to
binding arbitration pursuant to this Agreement.
13.

Miscellaneous.

a.
This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with,
the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to its principles of conflicts of laws.
b.
This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, and
their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns.
c.
This Agreement, and the Executive’s rights and obligations hereunder, may not be
assigned by the Executive. The Company may assign its rights, together with its obligations, hereunder in
connection with any sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of its business or assets.
d.
This Agreement cannot be amended orally, or by any course of conduct or dealing, but
only by a written agreement signed by the parties hereto.
e.
The failure of either party to insist upon the strict performance of any of the terms,
conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver or relinquishment of future
compliance therewith, and such terms, conditions and provisions shall remain in full force and effect. No waiver of
any term or condition of this Agreement on the part of either party shall be effective for any purpose whatsoever
unless such waiver is in writing and signed by such party.
f.
All notices, requests, consents and other communications required or permitted to be
given hereunder, shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally or by an overnight courier service or sent by
registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to the Company at its principal headquarters
(attention Chief Executive Officer) and to the Executive at the address set forth in his personnel file, and shall be
deemed given when so delivered personally or by overnight courier or when actually received if sent by registered
or certified mail. Each party may designate another address, for receipt of notices hereunder by giving notice to the
other party in accordance with this paragraph (f) of this Section 13.
g.
This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement and understanding of the parties relating
to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements, arrangements and understandings, written or oral,
relating to the subject matter hereof, including the Executive’s employment agreement dated May 7, 2015. No
representation, promise or inducement has been made by either party that is not embodied in this Agreement, and
neither party shall be bound by or liable for any alleged representation, promise or inducement not so set forth.
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h.
As used in this Agreement, “affiliate” of a specified Person shall mean and include any
Person controlling, controlled by or under common control with the specified Person.
i.
The section headings contained herein are for reference purposes only and shall not in
any way affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
j.
This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall
constitute an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
k.
As used in this Agreement, the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, and the singular or
plural, shall be deemed to include the others whenever and wherever the context so requires. Additionally, unless the
context requires otherwise, “or” is not exclusive.
Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signature Page Follows
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement, which shall be deemed
effective as of the Effective Date set forth herein.
NATIONAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION

By:
/s/ Michael Mullen
Name: Michael Mullen
Title: Chairman & CEO
EXECUTIVE
/s/ Glenn Worman
Glenn Worman
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Amended and Restated Employment Agreement (this “Agreement”), is effective as of December 31,
2018 (the “Effective Date”), by and between National Holdings Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”), and John DeSena (the “Executive”).
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, the Company desires to continue to employ the Executive as Chief Operating Officer, and the
Executive desires to continue to serve the Company in such capacity, upon the terms and subject to the conditions
contained in this Agreement;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, the
parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
1.

Employment.

a.
Services. The Executive will continue to be employed by the Company and shall serve as
the Company’s Chief Operating Officer. The Executive shall report exclusively to the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company (the “CEO”) and shall perform such duties as are consistent with his position and as directed by the
CEO. The Executive agrees to perform his assigned duties faithfully and to devote such of his time, attention and
energies to the business of the Company as he deems necessary to carry out his role.
b.
Acceptance. The Executive hereby accepts continued employment with the Company
pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
2.
Term. The term of this Agreement, and the Executive’s employment pursuant to the
terms hereof, shall commence on the Effective Date and continue through the date that is five (5) years from the
Effective Date, unless earlier terminated pursuant to Section 8 below (such period, the “Term”).
3.

Limited Extent of Service.

a.
Business Activities. Subject to Section 5, the Executive shall not be restricted from
pursuing, or being actively engaged in, any other business activity, whether or not such business activity is pursued
for gain, profit or other pecuniary advantage, and whether or not such business activity is currently existing or is
hereafter conducted.
b.
Location. The duties to be performed by the Executive hereunder shall be performed
primarily at the office of the Company in or around New York City, subject to reasonable travel requirements on
behalf of the Company, or such other place as the CEO may reasonably designate. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the Executive’s primary place of business may not be relocated to another city without his written consent.
4.
Compensation. As full compensation for the performance by the Executive of his duties
under this Agreement, the Executive shall receive the following:
a.
Base Salary. During the Term, the Company shall pay the Executive a salary (the “Base
Salary”) at the rate of $250,000 per year. Payment shall be made semi-monthly in accordance with the Company’s
normal payroll practices. The CEO shall review the Executive’s Base Salary annually and may increase (but not
decrease) the Executive’s Base Salary from year to year. Such adjusted salary then shall become the Executive’s
Base Salary for purposes of this Agreement. The annual review of the Executive’s Base Salary by the CEO will
consider, among other things, the Executive’s own performance, the Company’s performance, and market practice.
b.
Annual Bonus. During the Term, the Executive shall be eligible to receive, following the
end of each fiscal year, an annual cash and restricted stock bonus pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
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Company’s 2017 Fiscal Year Bonus Plan, as it may be amended or replaced from time to time in the sole discretion
of the CEO (the “Bonus Plan”). The Executive’s target cash bonus each fiscal year shall be such amount established
by the CEO, and communicated to the Executive, on or around the beginning of each fiscal year (the “Target
Bonus”) and for the fiscal year that began October 1, 2018 will be $150,000. This cash target bonus is the baseline
bonus used to establish the actual cash bonus paid based on the success of the Company’s annual goals and
objectives, as outlined in the Bonus Plan. The restricted stock component and calculation is also outlined in the
Company’s Bonus Plan.
c.
Withholding. The Company shall be entitled to withhold all applicable federal, state and
local taxes and social security and such other amounts as may be required by law from all amounts payable to the
Executive under this Section 4.
d.
Continued Equity Vesting. The Executive shall continue to vest in all equity (including
restricted stock and stock option) grants that were previously awarded to him, pursuant to the terms, conditions, and
vesting requirements set forth in the applicable equity award documents governing the grants, but subject to the
equity acceleration permitted by Section 9 below.
e.
Additional Stock-Based Awards. During the Term, the Executive may be eligible for
additional stock-based awards under the long-term incentive plan of the Company, as determined by the Board of
Directors of the Company (the “Board”), in addition to the stock awards under the Bonus Plan. Nothing herein
requires the Board to make additional grants of restricted stock or other awards in any year.
f.
Expenses. During the Term, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Executive in furtherance of the business and affairs of the Company, including
but not limited to travel and entertainment expenses. The Executive will timely supply the Company with
appropriate vouchers or other proof of the Executive’s expenditures and otherwise will comply with any expense
reimbursement policy as may from time to time be adopted by the Company. Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement to the contrary, if the Executive is entitled to be paid or reimbursed for any taxable expenses under this
Agreement, and such payments or reimbursements are includible in the Executive’s federal gross taxable income,
then: (i) the amount of any expense reimbursement or benefit provided during the Executive’s taxable year shall not
affect any expenses eligible for reimbursement or benefit to be provided in any other taxable year; (ii) the
reimbursement of any eligible expense shall be made no later than the last day of the Executive’s taxable year that
immediately follows the taxable year in which the expense was incurred; and (iii) the right to any such expense
reimbursement or benefit shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.
g.
Other Benefits. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to all rights and benefits
for which he shall be eligible under any benefit or other plans (including, without limitation, 401(k), dental, medical,
medical reimbursement and hospital plans, pension plans, employee stock purchase plans, profit sharing plans,
bonus plans, prescription drug reimbursement plans, short and long term disability plans, life insurance and other socalled “fringe” benefits) as the Company shall make available to its senior executives from time to time. The
Executive shall also receive up to $1,000 per month as an automobile allowance and up to $300 per month for
reimbursement of his gym membership expenses, each payable on the last pay date of each month after, for the gym
membership, receipt of substantiation.
h.
Vacation. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to a vacation of 20 days per
annum, in addition to holidays observed by the Company. During the Term, the Executive shall not be entitled to
carry forward vacation days from one calendar year of employment to the next calendar year of employment, except
as may be required by applicable law or provided in a Company policy applicable to the Executive.
5.
Non-Disclosure of Confidential Information and Trade Secrets; Return of Property;
Invention Assignment; Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation.
a.
The Executive understands and agrees that the Confidential Information (as defined
below) and Trade Secrets (as defined below) constitute valuable assets of the Company and may not be converted to
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his own use. The Executive hereby agrees that throughout the Term and at all times after his separation from
employment, for so long as the information at issue remains either Confidential Information or a Trade Secret and
except as otherwise permitted by Section 5(d) below, the Executive will not, directly or indirectly, reveal, divulge, or
disclose to any person or entity not expressly authorized by the Company any Confidential Information or Trade
Secrets and will not, directly or indirectly, use or make use of any Confidential Information or Trade Secrets in
connection with any business activity other than that of the Company.
Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the Executive shall not be restricted from
disclosing or using Confidential Information or Trade Secrets that are required to be disclosed by law, court
order or other legal process; provided, however, that in the event disclosure is required by law, and except as
otherwise permitted by Section 5(d) below, the Executive shall provide the Company with prompt written
notice of such requirement in time to permit the Company to seek an appropriate protective order or other
similar protection prior to any such disclosure by the Executive.
The parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is not intended to, and will not,
alter or diminish either the Company’s rights or the Executive’s obligations under any state or federal
statutory or common law, rule or regulation regarding confidential information, trade secrets and unfair
trade practices and all potential remedies under such laws remain available.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Confidential Information” means all data and information
relating to the business of the Company that is disclosed to the Executive or of which the Executive becomes
aware as a consequence of his employment and that has value to the Company and is not generally known to
those not employed or otherwise engaged by the Company. “Confidential Information” shall include, but is not
limited to, financial plans and data concerning Company; management planning information; Company’s
business plans or strategies (including, without limitation, any merger or acquisition plans); “know how;”
Company’s operational methods; market studies; marketing plans or strategies; product development techniques
or plans; client and prospective client lists; details of client and vendor contracts; current and anticipated client
requirements; past, current and planned research and development; business acquisition plans; employee
compensation and other personnel information; and new personnel acquisition plans. “Confidential Information”
shall not include data or information (a) which has been voluntarily disclosed to the public by the Company,
except where such public disclosure was made without authorization from the Company; (b) which has been
independently developed and disclosed by Persons other than the Company or its principals or representatives;
or (c) which has otherwise entered the public domain through lawful means. This definition shall not limit any
definition of “confidential information” or any equivalent term under applicable state or federal law.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Trade Secret” means information, without regard to form,
relating to the Company, its activities, businesses or clients, including, but not limited to, technical or
nontechnical data, a formula, a pattern, a compilation, a program, a device, a method, a technique, a drawing, a
process, financial data, financial plans, product plans, or a list of actual or potential clients which is not
commonly known by or available to the public via lawful means and which: (A) derives economic value,
actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by proper means by,
other persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use; and (B) is the subject of efforts that
are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy. Trade Secret shall include, but not be limited
to, client lists, client billing and pricing information, technical information regarding the Company’s
intellectual property, product development information, patent information and all other information permitted
to be covered under the Uniform Trade Secrets Act. This definition shall not limit any definition of “trade
secret” or any equivalent term under applicable state or federal law.
b.
The Executive agrees that he will not retain or destroy, and will immediately return to the
Company on or prior to his last day of employment, or at any other time the Company requests such return, any and
all property of the Company that is in his possession or subject to his control, including, but not limited to, keys,
credit and identification cards, equipment, client files and information, and all Confidential Information and Trade
Secrets. The Executive will not make, distribute or retain copies of any such information or property. The Executive
agrees that he will reimburse the Company for all of its costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, of recovering the
-3-

above materials and otherwise enforcing compliance with this provision if the Executive does not return the
materials to the Company on or prior to his separation from employment or at any other time the materials are
requested by Company, or if the Executive otherwise fails to comply with this provision.
c.
The Executive agrees that he will promptly and fully disclose in writing to the Company
inventions, designs, concepts, discoveries, developments, improvements, and innovations, whether or not they merit
patent, trademark or copyright protection, conceived of, designed or reduced to practice by the Executive, either
solely or in concert with others, at any time during his employment, which (a) relate in any manner, whether at the
time of conception, design or reduction to practice, to the Company’s business or its actual or demonstrably
anticipated research or development; (b) result from any work performed by the Executive on behalf of the
Company; or (c) result from the use of the Company’s equipment, facilities, Confidential Information or Trade
Secrets (collectively referred to as “Inventions”).
The Executive acknowledges and agrees that he will keep and maintain adequate written records
of all such Inventions at all stages thereof in the form of notes, sketches, drawings, photographs, printouts, and/or
reports relating thereto. These records are and shall remain the property of, and be available to, the Company or its
designee(s) at all times. The Executive further acknowledges that all such Inventions shall be the exclusive property
of the Company. As such, the Executive hereby assigns his entire right, title, and interest in and to all such
Inventions to the Company or its designee(s). The Executive will, at the Company’s request and expense, execute
specific transfers, assignments, documents or other instruments and take such further action as may be considered
necessary by the Company at any time during or subsequent to the Executive’s employment to obtain and defend
any intellectual property rights and vest complete title and ownership to such Inventions to the Company or its
designee(s).
d.
Nothing in this Agreement or elsewhere prohibits the Executive from communicating
with government agencies about possible violations of federal, state, or local laws, rules or regulations, or otherwise
providing information to government agencies, filing a complaint with government agencies, or participating in
government agency investigations or proceedings. The Executive is not required to notify the Company of any such
communications; provided, however, that nothing herein authorizes the disclosure of information the Executive
obtained through a communication that was subject to the attorney-client privilege. Further, notwithstanding the
Executive’s confidentiality and nondisclosure obligations, the Executive is hereby advised as follows pursuant to the
Defend Trade Secrets Act: “An individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State
trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (A) is made (i) in confidence to a Federal, State, or local
government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (ii) solely for the purpose of reporting or
investigating a suspected violation of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other
proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. An individual who files a lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for
reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose the trade secret to the attorney of the individual and use the trade
secret information in the court proceeding, if the individual (A) files any document containing the trade secret under
seal; and (B) does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order.”
e.
The Executive acknowledges and agrees that his services are special, unique and
extraordinary and that in the course of performing such services the Executive will be provided with and have access
to and knowledge of Confidential Information and Trade Secrets that would be extremely valuable to competitors of
the Company and its subsidiaries. The Executive therefore agrees that, during the Term and for a period of three (3)
months thereafter, the Executive will not, in the geographical area where the Company does business, directly or
indirectly, whether as an owner, partner, officer, director, employee, consultant, investor, lender or otherwise (except
as the passive holder of not more than 1% of the outstanding stock of a publicly-held company), engage or assist
others in engaging in any business or enterprise that is competitive with the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries.
f.
During the Term and for a period of nine (9) months thereafter, the Executive will not,
directly or indirectly, either alone or in association with others, (i) solicit, induce or attempt to induce, any employee
or independent contractor (including any financial advisor) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries to terminate his
or her employment or other engagement with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or (ii) hire or recruit, or attempt
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to hire or recruit, or engage or attempt to engage as an independent contractor, any person who was employed or
otherwise engaged by the Company or any of its subsidiaries at any time during the term of the Executive’s
employment with the Company; provided, that this clause (ii) shall not apply to the recruitment or hiring or other
engagement of any individual whose employment or other engagement with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
ended at least six (6) months before the recruitment, hiring, or other engagement.
g.
6.

The provisions of this Section 5 shall survive any termination of this Agreement.
Section 5 Remedies.

a.
In the event that the Executive breaches any provisions of Section 5 or there is a
threatened breach, then, in addition to any other rights which the Company may have, the Company shall be entitled,
without the posting of a bond or other security, to seek injunctive relief to enforce the restrictions contained in such
Section. The Company and the Executive agree that any such action for injunctive relief shall be heard in any of the
courts set forth in Section 12(c) below, and each of the parties hereto agrees to accept service of process by
registered or certified mail and to otherwise consent to the jurisdiction of such courts. If the Executive violates any
of the provisions of Sections 5(e) or 5(f), the Executive shall continue to be bound by the restrictions set forth in
such provision until a period equal to the period of restriction has expired without any violation.
b.
Each of the rights and remedies enumerated in Section 6(a) shall be independent of the
others and shall be in addition to and not in lieu of any other rights and remedies available to the Company at law or
in equity. If any of the covenants contained in Section 5, or any part of any of them, is hereafter construed or
adjudicated to be invalid or unenforceable, the same shall not affect the remainder of the covenant or covenants or
rights or remedies which shall be given full effect without regard to the invalid portions. If any of the covenants
contained in Section 5 is held to be invalid or unenforceable because of the duration of such provision or the area
covered thereby, the parties agree that the court or arbitrator making such determination shall have the power to
reduce the duration and/or area of such provision and in its reduced form such provision shall then be enforceable.
c.
In the event that an actual proceeding is brought in equity to enforce the provisions of
Section 5, the Executive shall not urge as a defense that there is an adequate remedy at law nor shall the Company
be prevented from seeking any other remedies which may be available.
d.
7.
Company as follows:

The provisions of this Section 6 shall survive any termination of this Agreement.
Representations and Warranties. The Executive hereby represents and warrants to the

a.
Neither the execution or delivery of this Agreement nor the performance by the Executive
of his duties and other obligations hereunder violate or will violate any statute, law, determination or award, or
conflict with or constitute a default or breach of any covenant or obligation under (whether immediately, upon the
giving of notice or lapse of time or both) any prior employment agreement, contract, or other instrument to which
the Executive is a party or by which he is bound.
b.
The Executive has the full right, power and legal capacity to enter and deliver this
Agreement and to perform his duties and other obligations hereunder. This Agreement constitutes the legal, valid
and binding obligation of the Executive enforceable against him in accordance with its terms. No approvals or
consents of any persons or entities are required for the Executive to execute and deliver this Agreement or perform
his duties and other obligations hereunder.
8.
Termination. This Agreement and the Executive’s employment hereunder shall be
terminated upon the Executive’s death and may be terminated as follows:
a.
The Executive’s employment hereunder may be terminated by the Board for Cause. Any
of the following actions by the Executive shall constitute “Cause”:
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(i)
the Executive’s material breach of the covenants contained in Section 5 hereof, or
material breach of any other provision of this Agreement, provided that the Executive was given prior written
notice of any material breach (in which event notice must be given with sufficient details so that the Executive
could reasonably be expected to identify it as a material breach) and provided further that, in such event, the
Executive was granted not less than thirty (30) days to correct any such breach, unless the Company reasonably
expects that irreparable injury would occur if the Executive was granted a thirty (30) day cure period in which
event the Company may give the Executive any such shorter cure period as it deems reasonable under the
circumstances, but not less than ten (10) days;
(ii)
the willful and continual failure or refusal by the Executive to perform his duties under
this Agreement (other than by reason of death or Disability (as defined below)), provided such failure or refusal
continues for a period of thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice thereof from the Board in reasonable
detail of such failure or refusal;
(iii) any action by the Executive constituting willful misconduct or gross negligence in
respect of the Executive’s obligation to the Company that results in material economic damage to the Company;
and
(iv)
Executive to, a felony.

the conviction of the Executive of, or a plea of guilty or nolo contendere by the

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no action taken by the Executive in connection with his duties
hereunder shall constitute or be used to support a finding for Cause if the Executive acted in good faith and in a
manner he reasonably believed to be in, and not opposed to, the best interests of the Company.
b.
The Executive’s employment hereunder may be terminated by the Board due to the
Executive’s Disability. For purposes of this Agreement, a termination for “Disability” shall occur (i) when the
Board has provided a written termination notice to the Executive supported by a written statement from a reputable
independent physician, after an appropriate examination, to the effect that the Executive shall have become so
physically or mentally incapacitated as to be unable to resume, within the ensuing six (6) months, his employment
under this Agreement by reason of physical or mental illness or injury or (ii) upon rendering of a written termination
notice by the Board after the Executive has been unable to substantially perform his duties hereunder for ninety (90)
or more consecutive days, or more than one hundred and eighty (180) days in any consecutive twelve month period,
by reason of any physical or mental illness or injury. For purposes of this Section 8(b), the Executive agrees to make
himself available and to cooperate in a reasonable examination by a reputable independent physician retained by the
Company.
c.

The Executive’s employment hereunder may be terminated by the Executive for Good

Reason.
(i)
For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the
following without the Executive’s express prior written consent (any of which shall constitute a “Good Reason
Condition”):
(A)

any material breach of this Agreement by the Company;

(B)

a material reduction by the Company of the Executive’s duties, responsibilities, or

(C)

a reduction of the Executive’s Base Salary;

(D)

a requirement that the Executive report to anyone other than the CEO;

authority;
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(E)
on or before December 31, 2021, a change in the composition of the Board that results in
the Continuing Directors (as defined below) no longer constituting at least a majority of the Board (or, if applicable,
the Board of Directors of a successor corporation to the Company), where the term “Continuing Director” means at
any date a member of the Board (i) who was a member of the Board on the Effective Date or (ii) who was
nominated or elected subsequent to such date by at least a majority of the directors who were Continuing Directors
at the time of such nomination or election or whose election to the Board was recommended or endorsed by at least
a majority of the directors who were Continuing Directors at the time of such nomination or election; provided,
however, that there shall be excluded from this clause (ii) any individual whose initial assumption of office occurred
as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other
actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents, by or on behalf of a person other than the Board;
(F)
the separation from employment of either Michael Mullen or Glenn Worman from the
Company and its affiliates prior to December 31, 2019, due to their termination without Cause or resignation for
Good Reason as defined in their respective employment agreements; or
(G)
a material change in the geographic location at which the Executive must perform
services (which, for purposes of this Agreement, means a relocation of the Company’s principal place of business of
the Executive outside of the New York City metropolitan area).
(ii)
The Executive may terminate his employment for Good Reason for any Good Reason
Condition only if (A) the Executive has provided the Company with written notice of the asserted Good Reason
Condition within ninety (90) days after its initial existence; (B) the Company fails to cure the condition within thirty
(30) days after receiving such written notice; and (C) the Executive terminates his employment within ninety (90)
days following the Executive’s written notice to the Company of the existence of the Good Reason Condition.
d.
The Executive’s employment may be terminated by the Company without Cause or by
the Executive without Good Reason following ninety (90) days prior written notice to the other party. The Company
may terminate the Executive’s employment for Cause immediately, subject to the cure provisions set forth in the
Cause definition.
9.

Compensation upon Termination.

a.
If, during the Term, the Executive’s employment is terminated as a result of his death or
Disability, the Company (or such other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay to the Executive or to the
Executive’s estate, as applicable, (i) his Base Salary through the date of his termination, (ii) any benefits which the
Executive is entitled to receive under any Company plan, (iii) any expense reimbursement amounts owed the
Executive, and (iv) any accrued but unpaid annual bonuses earned by the Executive prior to the date of his
termination of employment ((i)-(iv) collectively, the “Accrued Obligations”). Subject to Section 9(d), any such
payments of Base Salary and accrued but unpaid annual bonus shall be made to the Executive or to the Executive’s
estate, as applicable, within sixty (60) days after his death or termination for Disability. In addition to the foregoing,
the Executive or the Executive’s estate, as applicable, shall receive a pro-rated bonus under the Bonus Plan,
calculated based on an amount equal to (A) the Target Bonus for the year in which the date of termination occurs,
multiplied by (B) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days worked by the Executive during the fiscal
year in which his date of termination occurs and the denominator of which is 365 (the “Prorated Target Bonus”). The
Prorated Target Bonus shall be paid to the Executive or his estate in a lump sum in cash within sixty (60) days after
his date of termination (or such later date as may be required pursuant to Section 9(d)). In addition, any shares of
restricted stock awards or restricted stock units outstanding on the date of the Executive’s termination shall become
fully vested and non-forfeitable as of his date of termination. The vested portion of any stock options outstanding on
the date of his termination shall remain exercisable by the Executive or his estate for a period of twenty (24) months
following the date of his termination (or, if earlier, the normal expiration date of such stock options), and any
unvested portion of outstanding stock options shall lapse and be forfeited without consideration as of the date of
termination.
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b.
If, during the Term, the Executive’s employment is terminated for Cause or by the
Executive without Good Reason, then the Company (or such other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay
to the Executive the Accrued Obligations. The Executive shall have no further entitlement hereunder to any other
compensation or benefits except to the extent otherwise provided by law. Any shares of unvested restricted stock
awards or restricted stock units outstanding on the date of the Executive’s termination shall be forfeited without
consideration as of the date of termination. The vested portion of any stock options outstanding on the date of the
Executive’s termination shall remain exercisable by the Executive for a period of thirty (30) days following the date
of his termination (or, if earlier, the normal expiration date of such stock options), and any unvested portion of
outstanding stock options shall lapse and be forfeited without consideration as of the date of termination.
c.
If, during the Term, the Executive’s employment is terminated other than as a result of
the Executive’s death or Disability and other than for reasons specified in Section 9(b), or if the Executive
terminates his employment for Good Reason, then, in addition to the Accrued Obligations, and provided that within
sixty (60) days after the date of termination the Executive shall have executed the Company’s standard general
release of claims and covenant not to sue (the “Release”) and not revoked such Release, (i) the Company (or such
other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay to the Executive a severance amount equal to the product of
(A) two (2) and (B) the amount equal to the sum of (1) the Base Salary and (2) the Target Bonus in effect for the
fiscal year in which the termination occurs; (ii) if the Executive elects to continue participation in any group
medical, dental, vision and/or prescription drug plan benefits to which the Executive and/or the Executive’s eligible
dependents would be entitled under Section 4980B of the Code (COBRA), then for a period of twelve (12) months
following termination, the Company (or such other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay the entire
COBRA cost of such coverage, provided, however, that such period shall run concurrently with any period for which
the Executive is eligible to elect health coverage under COBRA and no payment shall be made if the payment would
cause taxes on the Executive in excess of the amount of the premiums or would impose taxes or penalties on the
Company or other employees; (iii) the Company (or such other entity as the Company shall designate) shall pay to
the Executive an amount equal to the annual cash bonus that would have been otherwise payable to the Executive
for the fiscal year in which his termination occurs, assuming the Executive’s employment had not terminated prior to
the payment date for such bonus, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days elapsed in
the fiscal year of termination through the date of the Executive’s separation from employment, and the denominator
of which is 365, to be paid at the same time as such bonuses are paid to executives of the Company; (iv) any shares
of restricted stock awards and restricted stock units outstanding on the date of the Executive’s termination shall
become fully vested and non-forfeitable as of his date of termination; and (v) any stock options outstanding on the
date of the Executive’s termination shall become fully vested and shall remain exercisable by the Executive for a
period of twelve (12) months following the date of his termination (or, if earlier, the normal expiration date of such
stock options). Subject to Section 9(d) the payments specified in clauses (i) and (iii) of the preceding sentence shall
be paid to the Executive in a lump sum within sixty (60) days following the Executive’s date of termination.
d.
This Agreement shall be interpreted and administered in a manner so that any amount or
benefit payable hereunder shall be paid or provided in a manner that is either exempt from or compliant with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and the regulations
and other guidance thereunder and any state law of similar effect (collectively “Section 409A”). Nevertheless, the
tax treatment of the benefits provided under the Agreement is not warranted or guaranteed. Neither the Company nor
its affiliates, nor their directors, officers, employees or advisers, shall be held liable for any taxes, interest, penalties
or other monetary amounts owed by the Executive as a result of the application of Section 409A of the Code.
(i)
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, to the extent that any amount
or benefit that would constitute non-exempt “deferred compensation” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code
(“Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation”) would otherwise be payable or distributable hereunder, or a different form
of payment of such Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation would be effected, by reason of a Change in Control or
Executive’s termination of employment, such Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation will not be payable or
distributable to Executive, and/or such different form of payment will not be effected, by reason of such
circumstance unless the circumstances giving rise to such Change in Control or termination of employment, as the
case may be, meet any description or definition of “change in control event” or “separation from service” or
“substantial risk of forfeiture” as the case may be, in Section 409A of the Code and applicable regulations (without
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giving effect to any elective provisions that may be available under such definition). This provision does not affect
the dollar amount or prohibit the vesting of any Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation upon a Change in Control or
termination of employment, however defined. If this provision prevents the payment or distribution of any NonExempt Deferred Compensation, or the application of a different form of payment, then, subject to subsection (iii)
below, such payment or distribution shall be made at the time and in the form that would have applied absent the
non-409A-conforming event.
(ii)
It is intended that (A) each payment of termination benefits under this Agreement shall be
regarded as a separate “payment” for purposes of Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(i), for purposes of
Section 409A of the Code, (B) all payments of any such benefits shall satisfy, to the greatest extent possible, the
exemptions from the application of Section 409A provided under Treasury Regulations Sections 1.409A-1(b)(4) and
1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii), and (C) any such benefits consisting of premiums payable under the COBRA also shall satisfy,
to the greatest extent possible, the exemption from the application of Section 409A provided under Treasury
Regulations Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(v). Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if any amount
or benefit that would constitute Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation would otherwise be payable or distributable
under this Agreement by reason of Executive’s separation from service during a period in which the Executive is a
“specified employee” of the Company, as such term is defined in Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i), then, subject to any
permissible acceleration of payment by the Company under Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3(j)(4)(ii) (domestic
relations order), (j)(4)(iii) (conflicts of interest), or (j)(4)(vi) (payment of employment taxes), (i) the timing of such
amounts or payments shall be delayed until the earlier of (a) the date that is six (6) months and one (1) day after the
Executive’s Separation from Service and (b) the date of the Executive’s death (such applicable date, the “Delayed
Initial Payment Date”), and (ii) the Company shall (a) pay the Executive a lump sum amount equal to the sum of the
benefit payments that the Executive would otherwise have received through the Delayed Initial Payment Date (or,
with respect to death, the earliest administratively practicable date provided that payment complies with the timing
requirements of Section 409A) if the commencement of the payment of the benefits had not been delayed pursuant
to this paragraph and (b) commence paying the balance, if any, of the benefits in accordance with the applicable
payment schedule.
(iii)
Whenever in this Agreement a payment or benefit is conditioned on the Executive’s
execution of the Release, the Company shall provide such Release to the Executive promptly following the date of
termination, and such Release must be executed and all revocation periods shall have expired in accordance with
terms set forth in the release, but in no case later than sixty (60) days after the date of termination; failing which
such payment or benefit shall be forfeited. If such payment or benefit constitutes “Non-Exempt Deferred
Compensation,” then, subject to subsection (ii) above, such payment or benefit (including any installment payments)
that would have otherwise been payable during such 60-day period shall be accumulated and paid on the 60th day
after the date of termination provided such release shall have been executed and such revocation periods shall have
expired. If such payment or benefit is exempt from Section 409A of the Code, the Company may elect to make or
commence payment at any time during such 60-day period.
10.

Mandatory Reduction of Payments in Certain Events.

a.
Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, in the event it shall be
determined that any payment or distribution by the Company to or for the benefit of Executive (whether paid or
payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise) (a “Payment”) would be
subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then, prior to the making of any
Payment to Executive, a calculation shall be made comparing (i) the net benefit to Executive of the Payment after
payment of the Excise Tax, to (ii) the net benefit to Executive if the Payment had been limited to the extent
necessary to avoid being subject to the Excise Tax. If the amount calculated under (i) above is less than the amount
calculated under (ii) above, then the Payment shall be limited to the extent necessary to avoid being subject to the
Excise Tax (the “Reduced Amount”). The reduction of the Payments due hereunder, if applicable, shall be made by
first reducing cash Payments and then, to the extent necessary, reducing those Payments having the next highest
ratio of Parachute Value to actual present value of such Payments as of the date of the change of control, as
determined by the Determination Firm (as defined in Section 10(b) below). For purposes of this Section 10, present
value shall be determined in accordance with Section 280G(d)(4) of the Code. For purposes of this Section 10, the
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“Parachute Value” of a Payment means the present value as of the date of the change of control of the portion of
such Payment that constitutes a “parachute payment” under Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code, as determined by the
Determination Firm for purposes of determining whether and to what extent the Excise Tax will apply to such
Payment.
b.
The determination of whether an Excise Tax would be imposed, the amount of such
Excise Tax, and the calculation of the amounts referred to Section 10(a)(i) and (ii) above shall be made by an
independent, nationally recognized accounting firm or compensation consulting firm mutually acceptable to the
Company and Executive (the “Determination Firm”) which shall provide detailed supporting calculations. Any
determination by the Determination Firm shall be binding upon the Company and Executive. As a result of the
uncertainty in the application of Section 4999 of the Code at the time of the initial determination by the
Determination Firm hereunder, it is possible that Payments the Executive was entitled to, but did not receive
pursuant to Section 10(a), could have been made without the imposition of the Excise Tax (“Underpayment”). In
such event, the Determination Firm shall determine the amount of the Underpayment that has occurred and any such
Underpayment shall be promptly paid by the Company to or for the benefit of Executive but no later than March 15
of the year after the year in which the Underpayment is determined to exist, which is when the legally binding right
to such Underpayment arises.
c.
In the event that the provisions of Code Section 280G and 4999 or any successor
provisions are repealed without succession, this Section 10 shall be of no further force or effect.
11.
Indemnification. The Company shall defend and indemnify the Executive to the fullest
extent permitted under the Delaware General Corporate Law (the “DGCL”) notwithstanding any provision to the
contrary or any inconsistent choice of law provision contained in this Agreement, the Company’s charter or bylaws.
The rights to indemnification shall survive any termination of this Agreement. The Executive shall also have the
right to choose his own counsel under Section 11 of this Agreement, and the Company shall not object to the
Executive’s choice, provided that there is no actual conflict regarding the representation.
12.

Dispute Resolution.

a.
The Executive and the Company agree that any and all controversies or claims (whether
contract, tort or statutory) between the Executive and the Company arising out of the Executive’s employment, the
termination of that employment, and any agreements previously or hereafter entered into by the Executive and the
Company in connection with such employment relationship, that could have been filed in a court of law (or an
administrative agency) shall be settled by final and binding arbitration. The claims covered by this Agreement
include, but are not limited to, claims for wrongful termination, wages or other compensation due, breach of
contract, tort, discrimination or harassment (including race, sex, religion, national origin, age, marital status, medical
condition or disability), violation of any public policies, and claims for violation of federal, state or other
governmental law, statute, regulation or ordinance.
b.
The arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the National Rules for the
Resolution of Employment Disputes of the American Arbitration Association then in effect before a single arbitrator
mutually selected by the Executive and the Company. If the Executive and the Company cannot agree on the
selection of an arbitrator, each party shall select an arbitrator and the two arbitrators shall select a third arbitrator
who shall resolve the dispute. For the purpose of any judicial proceeding to enforce such award or incidental to such
arbitration or to compel arbitration and for purposes of Sections 5 and 6 hereof, the parties hereby submit to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the state or federal courts, as appropriate, within the State of New York, and agree that
service of process in such arbitration or court proceedings shall be satisfactorily made upon it if sent by registered
mail addressed to it at the address referred to below in Section 13(f).
c.
The arbitrator shall be empowered to award any party any remedy at law or in equity to
which the prevailing party would otherwise have been entitled had the matter been litigated or pursued in a civil
court or administrative forum including, but not limited to, general, special, and punitive damages, and injunctive
relief. However, the arbitrator’s authority to award any remedy is subject to whatever limitations, if any, exist in the
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applicable law on such remedies. Any award pursuant to arbitration hereunder shall be included in a written decision
that will state the legal and factual basis for the award and shall set forth the basis for calculating any damages
award. The arbitrator’s award, order or judgment shall be deemed final and binding upon the parties.
d.
A demand for arbitration must be submitted within the limitations period that would be
applicable in court. If either party does not submit and serve a written demand for arbitration within the applicable
statute of limitations, such failure shall constitute an absolute bar to the institution of any proceedings in any forum,
and shall constitute a waiver of any rights regarding that claim.
e.
Neither party nor the arbitrator may disclose the existence, content or results of any
arbitrations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of all parties hereto.
f.
Pending such resolution of any claim, the Executive shall be entitled to continue to
receive all payments and benefits due under this Agreement or otherwise, unless the arbitration panel determines
otherwise. Judgment on the arbitration award may be entered by any court of competent jurisdiction.
g.
Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the parties from agreeing voluntarily after a
claim or controversy has arisen to submit such claim or controversy to mediation or other informal settlement
process. However, if the dispute is not resolved through mediation or such other process, it shall be submitted to
binding arbitration pursuant to this Agreement.
13.

Miscellaneous.

a.
This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with,
the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to its principles of conflicts of laws.
b.
This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, and
their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns.
c.
This Agreement, and the Executive’s rights and obligations hereunder, may not be
assigned by the Executive. The Company may assign its rights, together with its obligations, hereunder in
connection with any sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of its business or assets.
d.
This Agreement cannot be amended orally, or by any course of conduct or dealing, but
only by a written agreement signed by the parties hereto.
e.
The failure of either party to insist upon the strict performance of any of the terms,
conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver or relinquishment of future
compliance therewith, and such terms, conditions and provisions shall remain in full force and effect. No waiver of
any term or condition of this Agreement on the part of either party shall be effective for any purpose whatsoever
unless such waiver is in writing and signed by such party.
f.
All notices, requests, consents and other communications required or permitted to be
given hereunder, shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally or by an overnight courier service or sent by
registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to the Company at its principal headquarters
(attention Chief Executive Officer) and to the Executive at the address set forth in his personnel file, and shall be
deemed given when so delivered personally or by overnight courier or when actually received if sent by registered
or certified mail. Each party may designate another address, for receipt of notices hereunder by giving notice to the
other party in accordance with this paragraph (f) of this Section 13.
g.
This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement and understanding of the parties relating
to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements, arrangements and understandings, written or oral,
relating to the subject matter hereof, including the Executive’s employment agreement dated October 28, 2015. No
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representation, promise or inducement has been made by either party that is not embodied in this Agreement, and
neither party shall be bound by or liable for any alleged representation, promise or inducement not so set forth.
h.
As used in this Agreement, “affiliate” of a specified Person shall mean and include any
Person controlling, controlled by or under common control with the specified Person.
i.
The section headings contained herein are for reference purposes only and shall not in
any way affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
j.
This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall
constitute an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
k.
As used in this Agreement, the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, and the singular or
plural, shall be deemed to include the others whenever and wherever the context so requires. Additionally, unless the
context requires otherwise, “or” is not exclusive.
Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signature Page Follows
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement, which shall be deemed
effective as of the Effective Date set forth herein.
NATIONAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION
By:
/s/ Michael Mullen
Name: Michael Mullen
Title: Chairman & CEO
EXECUTIVE
/s/ John DeSena
John DeSena
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Exhibit 21
NATIONAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION
September 30, 2019
The following is a list of subsidiaries of the company as of September 30, 2019, omitting subsidiaries which,
considered in the aggregate, would not constitute a significant subsidiary.

Subsidiary Name
National Securities Corporation
National Asset Management, Inc.
National Insurance Corporation
National Tax and Financial Services, Inc.
GC Capital Corporation
Prime Financial Services, Inc.

State of
Incorporation
Washington
Washington
Washington
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

Percentage
of Voting
Securities
Owned
100%
100%
100%
100%
(1)
(1)(2)

(1) Indirectly wholly owned by our company, 100% owned by National Tax and Financial Services, Inc.
(2) Operations consist solely of collecting trails on historic insurance business. All new business written under
National Insurance Corporation

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3(No. 333-226853) and Form S-8(No.
333-231832) of our report dated December 30, 2019, with respect to the consolidated statement of financial condition of National
Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries as of September 30, 2019 and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and our report dated December 22, 2017, with respect to the consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows of National Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries for the year
ended September 30, 2017, which reports are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
EISNERAMPER LLP
New York, New York
December 30, 2019

Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of National Holdings Corporation (the
“Company”) on Form S-3, File No. 333-226853 and Form S-8, File No. 333-231832 of our report dated December 21, 2018,
on our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of September 30, 2018, and for the year then ended,
which report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
/s/ BDO USA LLP
BDO USA LLP
New York, New York
December 30, 2019

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Michael A. Mullen, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of National Holdings Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Michael A. Mullen
Michael A. Mullen
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
December 30, 2019

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Glenn C. Worman, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of National Holdings Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Glenn C. Worman
Glenn C. Worman
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
December 30, 2019

Exhibit 32.1
STATEMENT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF
NATIONAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of National Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael
A. Mullen, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Michael A. Mullen
Michael A. Mullen
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
December 30, 2019

Exhibit 32.2
STATEMENT OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF
NATIONAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of National Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended
September 30, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Glenn C.
Worman, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Glenn C. Worman
Glenn C. Worman
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
December 30, 2019

